

Dissertation Thesis

Analysis of the Effects of Climate Change on Forest Ecosystem Services: Effects on Socio-Economic Benefits in the North-Central Region of Namibia

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Department of Forestry Technologies and Construction of the Czech University of Life Sciences, Prague

SUPERVISOR: doc. Ing. Miroslav Hájek, Ph.D. Czech University of Life Sciences, Prague

Prague 2023

Andreas Nikodemus

CZECH UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES PRAGUE

Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences

Ph.D. THESIS ASSIGNMENT

Ing. Andreas Nikodemus

Global Change Forestry

Thesis title

Analysis of the impacts of climate change on forest ecosystem services: effects on socio-economic benefits in the North-Central Region of Namibia

Objectives of thesis

The aim is this study aims to investigate the socio-economic benefits of forest ecosystems in a changing climate in rural communities and the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in northern Namibia. The study will focus on the following specific objectives:

- To analyse the socio-economic benefits of forest ecosystems in a changing climate at the local community level in northern Namibia;

- To assess trends in temperature and precipitation in forest ecosystems in northern Namibia;

- To investigate the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia.

Methodology

The study will focus on forest products of forest ecosystems in two regions in northern Namibia – Omusati and Kunene regions in northern Namibia. The study duration will be delimited to 11 years (2011-2021) due to the lack of historical data for forest products and climate change variables. The second part of the study will focus on the existing policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in forest ecosystems in northern Namibia and on the national level. A mixed approach combining both quantitative and qualitative will be used. The quantitative approach will be used to quantify the use of forest products in a changing climate in mopane woodlands, specifically, for socio-economic benefits. The qualitative approach will focus on perceptions from multiple stakeholders such as forestry experts, local communities, traditional authorities, and local farmers concerning climate change policy instruments to improve forest ecosystem services regarding rural community livelihoods. A descriptive design will give an overview of the changes in effects of climate variables and their potential impacts on forest ecosystem services with a special focus on socioeconomic benefits and demands through the yield model. Quantitative data will be entered, organized, and analysed in Statistical Package for the Social Science (SPSS) software (IBM SPSS version 26, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) with a p-value less than 0.05 (p < 0.05). ATLAS.ti version 22.2 and Thematic Content Analysis (TCA). The results will be presented in form of tables, charts, graphs, and texts (themes).

The proposed extent of the thesis

At least 80 standard pages.

Keywords

Socio-economic benefits; local rural communities; livelihoods; forest products; forest ecosystems; northern Namibia, precipitation; temperature

Recommended information sources

- BAUHUS, J. MEER, P V D. KANNINEN, M. *Ecosystem goods and services from plantation forests*. London: Earthscan, 2010. ISBN 9781849711685.
- BRUENIG, E F. C.A.B. INTERNATIONAL, ISSUING BODY. Conservation and management of tropical rainforests : an integrated approach to sustainability. Wallingford, Oxfordshire, UK: CABI, 2017. ISBN 9781780641409.
- European Commission. A sustainable bioeconomy for Europe: strengthening the connection between economy, society and the environment. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2018. ISBN 978-92-79-94145-0.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Climate change for forest policy-makers: An approach for integrating climate change into national forest policy in support of sustainable forest management Version 2.0. Food & Agriculture Org., 2019. ISBN 9251310947, 9789251310946.
- GUPTA, H S. Science and Business of Forestry Carbon Projects. The Energy and Resources Institute (TERI), 2014. ISBN 8179934624, 9788179934623.
- JACOBS, S. DENDONCKER, N. KEUNE, H. *Ecosystem services : global issues, local practices.* New York: Elsevier, 2014. ISBN 978-0124199644.
- KANT, S. BERRY, R A. Economics, sustainability, and natural resources : economics of sustainable forest management ; edited by Shashi Kant, R. Albert Berry. Dordrecht: SPRINGER, 2005. ISBN 1-4020-3465-2.
- MEISSIER, CH. Managing Forests as Complex Adaptive Systems: Building Resilience to the Challenge of Global Change. The Earthscan Forest Library, Routledge, 2013. ISBN 1136335218, 9781136335211.
- VOGT, K A. VOGT, D J. EDMONDS, R L. HONEA, J M. PATEL-WEYNAND, T. SIGURDARDOTTIR, R. ANDREU, M G. – C.A.B. INTERNATIONAL, ISSUING BODY. Forests and society : sustainability and life cycles of forests in human landscapes. Wallingford, Oxfordshire, UK: CABI, 2007. ISBN 1845930983.
- VOSE, J m. KLEPZIG, K D. Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation Management Options: A Guide for Natural Resource Managers in Southern Forest Ecosystems. CRC Press LLC, 2016. ISBN 113803391X, 9781138033917.

Expected date 2022/23 SS – FFWS – Doctoral Thesis Defense -* ~~i< Supervisor Department of Forest Technologies and Constructions

Electronic approval: 17. 1. 2021 doc. Ing. Miroslav Hájek, Ph.D. Head of department

Electronic approval: 3. 2. 2021 doc. Ing. Vítězslava Pešková, Ph.D. Chairperson of the field of study board

Electronic approval: 1. 3. 2023 prof. Ing. Róbert Marušák, PhD. Dean

Prague on 01. 03. 2023

DECLARATION

I, ANDREAS NIKODEMUS, hereby declare that this project is my own work and is a true reflection of my research and that this work or any part thereof has not been submitted for a degree at any other institution. No part of this dissertation may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system, or transmitted in any form, or by means (e.g., electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise) without the prior permission of the author, or the Czech University of Life Sciences, Prague in that behalf. I grant the Czech University of Life Sciences, Prague the right to reproduce this dissertation in whole or in part, in any manner or format, that the university may deem fit.

Signature:	
Signature	

Date: _____

ABSTRACT

Forest resources continue to play an important role in rural communities in developing countries by providing services, products, and incomes. This study aims to investigate the effects of climate change on the provisioning services of Colophospermum mopane (C. mopane) woodlands in northern Namibia's Kunene and Omusati regions from 2011-2021. A hybrid approach was used to collect data from forestry, climate change, other relevant experts, and local rural communities through semi-structured questionnaires. All statistical analyses (quantitative) were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (IBM SPSS version 26, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) with a p-value less than 0.05 (p < 0.05), whereas qualitative analyses were performed in ATLAS.ti version 22.2. The study identified that local communities primarily use firewood, poles, droppers, rafters, and roots for subsistence use. Total changes in annual mean temperature affected the annual mean precipitation over the study period. The most effective policy instruments were Communal Land Reform Act, Forest Act, Namibia National Forest Policy, and Forestry Strategic Plan. Forest ecosystem services such as biodiversity, carbon sequestration, soil conservation, and socio-economic benefits showed statistically significantly effective after the introduction of the National Climate Change for Namibia (NPCC). Biodiversity showed the most significant adaptation actions after the introduction of the NPCC (p < 0.001). Challenges such as the dry conditions of Namibia, and the lack of funds for adaptation measures hamper the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation. Emphasis on alternatives for rural communities' reliance on forest resources for their livelihood by improving their awareness of the impacts of climate change should be prioritized. More research is needed to investigate extreme weather events and their effects on goods and services provided by forest ecosystems in the northern regions. Finally, there is also a need for a strengths, weaknesses, threats, and opportunities (SWOT) analysis of the NPCC to appropriately guide the formulation of a framework for forest ecosystem servicesbased adaptation actions.

Keywords: Socio-economic benefits, local rural communities, livelihoods, forest products, forest ecosystems, northern Namibia, precipitation, and temperature

DEDICATION

This dissertation and my entire Ph.D. accomplishment are a special dedication to my biological parents, Ms. Veronika Nghikufwasha, and Mr. Ananias Nikodemus. Long live mom and dad.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I want to give all the glory to my Lord and Saviour, Jesus Christ, for giving me the grace, strength, protection, and good health to pursue my passion and achieve my biggest dream of becoming a Ph.D.

I am grateful to the Czech University of Life Sciences, Prague, for the opportunity to pursue my studies. I would also like to sincerely thank my supervisor, Professor Miroslav Hájek, for his invaluable supervision, unwavering guidance, patience, and encouragement throughout this journey. I would not have completed this work without his support. Long live and God bless you, Professor.

I am also grateful to the Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism (MEFT), particularly the Directorate of Forestry (DoF), for the opportunity to pursue my studies on a special study leave with full remuneration.

I also want to greatly appreciate the professional discussions about forest ecosystems, forest products, and climate change with various colleagues at MEFT that were invaluable for this dissertation.

I also wish to thank my family for believing in me and for their endless love and emotional and spiritual support during my studies.

Last but not least, I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my colleagues at the Faculty of Forestry and Wood Science, especially Diana Carolina Huertas Bernal, Ratna Chrismiari Purwestri, and Alpo Kapuka, for their assistance in various aspects of research.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONi			
ABSTRACTii			
DEDICATION			
ACKNC	WLEDGMENTSiv		
LIST OF	FIGURESvii		
LIST OF	FACRONYMSviii		
CHAPT	ER ONE1		
BACKG	ROUND AND LITERARY ANALYSIS1		
1.1	Introduction1		
1.2	Overview of the Problem		
1.3	Aim and Objectives		
1.4	Hypothesis of the Study		
1.5	Significance/Contributions of the Study		
1.6	Literature Review		
1.6.	1 Forest Ecosystems in a Changing Climate		
1.6.	2 Socio-economic Benefits of Forests in a Changing Climate7		
1.6.	Policy Instruments for Climate Change in Forestry		
CHAPT	ER TWO9		
SUMMA	ARY OF RESEARCH METHODOLOGY		
2.1	Study Area		
2.2	Research Approach		
2.3	Respondents and Key Variables		
2.4	Sampling		
2.5	Data Collection Tools and Procedures		
2.5.	1 Primary Data		
2.5.	2 Secondary Data		
2.6	Data Analysis		
2.6.	1 Statistical Analysis		
2.6.	2 Qualitative Analyses		
2.7	Limitations of the Study		
2.8	Ethical Considerations		
CHAPTER THREE			
RESULTS SYNTHESIS			
Publications			

CHAPTER FOUR		
DISCUSSION OF THE FINDINGS		
4.1	Socio-economic Benefits Provided by Forest Ecosystems in Northern Namibia	. 79
4.2	Policy Instruments for Climate Change Adaptation in Forestry	. 83
CHAPT	ER FIVE	. 86
CONCL	USIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	. 86
5.1	Conclusions	. 86
5.2	Recommendations for Practical Applications of the Findings	. 88
5.3	Recommendation for Future Research	. 89
REFERENCES		
APPENDICES		
Appendix A: Harvesting Permit Sample		
Appendix B: Research Permit (NCRST)		
Appendix C: Research Authorization Letter (DoF)		
Appendix D: Scientific Conferences and Workshops		
Appendix E: Foreign Internship Confirmation Letters		
Appendix F: Future Research Plan		

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Study area and the distribution of <i>C. mopane</i>	9
Figure 2.2: The location of the Omusati and the Kunene regions on the Namibian map	10
Figure 2.3: Stages of designing a questionnaire	15
Figure 2.4: The SASSCAL weather stations surrounding and within the study area	16
Figure 2.5: The procedure flow of the TCA according to (Kiger and Varpio, 2020)	18

LIST OF ACRONYMS

FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
DoF	Directorate of Forestry
GDP	Gross Domestic Products
MEFT	Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism
MEFT	Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism
MWARL	Ministry of Agriculture, Water, and Land Reform
NCRST	National Commission on Research Science, and Technology
NPCC	National Policy on Climate Change
NTFPs	Non-timber forest products
ORC	Omusati Region Council
SADC	Southern African Development Community
SASSCAL	Southern African Science Service Centre for Climate Change, and Adaptive
	Land Management
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
SWOT	Strengths, Weaknesses, Threats, and Opportunities
TCA	Thematic Content Analysis

CHAPTER ONE

BACKGROUND AND LITERARY ANALYSIS

This chapter discusses the background of the study of the effects of climate change on socioeconomic benefits of forest ecosystems and policy instruments for adaptation actions in northern Namibia. The chapter further discusses the study's aim, objectives, and significance and a brief literature review.

1.1 Introduction

Forest ecosystems provide multiple services to all life forms, including humans (Kornatowska and Sienkiewicz, 2018). There are seven forest ecosystem services: biodiversity, carbon sequestration, watershed services, soil conservation, recreational and cultural values, social and economic benefits for communities, and high conservation values (Jenkins and Schaap, 2018). Forest ecosystem services can be further classified as supporting, regulating, provisioning, and cultural services (Liagre et al., 2013; Mengist and Soromessa, 2019).

From the perspective of the socio-economic benefits, forests are important for economic development and livelihood security locally and globally (Kumar et al., 2019). However, the dependency on forest resources is higher among local communities in developing countries (Langat et al., 2016). Local communities, particularly in rural areas, consume direct services and products from forests, such as water, food, medicine, wood, and other raw materials (Kornatowska and Sienkiewicz, 2018). Local communities can use forest provisioning services for subsistence and cash income purposes (Ahammad et al., 2019).

The southern African region is part of the developing world, where millions of local rural communities depend on forest resources for their livelihoods (Ryan et al., 2016; Vrabcová et al., 2019). Local communities benefit from forests in various forms in the region, ranging from timber and non-timber forest products (NTFPs) (De Cauwer et al., 2016). The most common forest products in local communities in southern Africa use firewood, construction materials, medicine, and food for marketing and subsistence uses (Langat et al., 2016; Nikodemus et al., 2023).

Although forest ecosystems play an important role in sustaining human communities' livelihoods, the effects of climate change on forest ecosystems and their services around the world are unequivocal (Baciu et al., 2021). In addition, research has proven that the impacts of climate change and climate variability on forest ecosystems are unavoidable, at least in short to

medium term (Gebeyehu, 2019). These effects are manifested by altering the structure and functionality of forest ecosystems, which consequently affects forest ecosystems' output (Xiao-Ying et al., 2013).

The southern Africa region is one of the parts of the world that are extremely vulnerable to the impacts of climate change (Thompson et al., 2010; Tucker et al., 2015). Hence, forest ecosystems in the region are threatened by climate change (Kapuka and Hlásny, 2021). Some of the identified climate risks to forest ecosystems in the region include, for example, altering the growth rates of woodland flora and impacting species composition and productivity (Rohde et al., 2019). As a result, the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) highlights that most countries (98%) in southern Africa prioritize climate change adaptation (FAO, 2021).

Namibia is one of the southern African countries that are recognised as most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change (Mupambwa et al., 2019; Shikangalah, 2020). Its vulnerability to climate change is attributed to the fact that it is identified as one of the driest countries in the Sub-Sahara Region of Africa (Crawford and Terton, 2016; Heita, 2018). The average daily temperature ranges between, and the average annual rainfall ranges from about 600 mm in the extreme north-east to less than 50 mm in the extreme south and along the entire coast (World Bank Group, 2021). Namibia's temperature trends have risen by 0.58°C to 1.2°C on average over the past 50 years, with more significant increases in the country's northern parts (Ministry of Environment and Tourism, 2011).

Rainfall trends are less evident than temperature trends over the past 50 years, and there are substantial variations in the direction and magnitude of the changes observed across the region (Daron, 2014). The precipitation trends of Namibia are challenging to discern, given the country's typically erratic rainfall (Lu et al., 2016). In the same view, there is a lack of information concerning long-term rainfall trends and variability across the country (Awala et al., 2019).

In response to the increasing impacts of climate change on life in natural environments and forest ecosystems in particular, policy instruments for climate change mitigation and adaptation have been formulated to govern climate change mitigation and adaptation on the global, regional, and local levels (Yazykova and Bruch, 2018). Policy instruments for climate change are directed by the Paris Agreement (United Nations, 2015).

In the case of Namibia, all policy instruments, including cross-sectoral climate change policies, are governed by the constitution (Ruppel and Ruppel-Schlichting, 2022). The NPCC

is a central force for climate change adaptation and mitigation in Namibia (Ministry of Environment and Tourism, 2010). However, there are multiple policy instruments for climate change adaptation in addition to the NPCC (Nikodemus and Hájek, 2022).

Despite the evidence from research about the severity of the impacts of climate change on forest ecosystems, little is known about its effects on forest products for socio-economic benefits at the local community level in Namibia.

1.2 Overview of the Problem

The socio-economic benefits of forest ecosystems to sustain the livelihoods of the local rural communities in a changing climate, particularly in developing countries that depend on forest products and services for their livelihoods, has attracted research attention over the years (Nunes et al., 2021; Ramsfield et al., 2016). This subject is particularly relevant in southern Africa, a region with the vast majority of the local rural communities depending on forest resources (Gugushe et al., 2008; Nikodemus and Hájek, 2015; Wale et al., 2022a). At the same time, scientific work proves that southern Africa is vulnerable to climate change's effects. However, the impacts of climate change on the socio-economic benefits of the forests have not been fully addressed from a research perspective to date in southern Africa and Namibia in particular.

Namibia is one of the southern African countries with the majority of local rural communities depending on forests to sustain their livelihoods (Nikodemus and Hájek, 2015; Vrabcová et al., 2019). At the same time, it is one of the countries in the region considered vulnerable to the effects of climate change (Mupambwa et al., 2019; Shalumbu-Shivute, 2022). These effects are extended to forest ecosystems and the local communities that depend on forest resources (Vrabcová et al., 2019).

The study focused on *Colophospermum mopane* (*C. mopane* - Kirk ex Benth) because of its good wood quality and adaptability to harsh conditions (Bainbridge, 2012). *C. mopane* is part of the Fabaceae family and can grow into a big tree with a height ranging from 4 m to 18 m (Krug, 2017; Makhado et al., 2014). The species often forms pure stands of two distinct types (Krug, 2017). On favorable sites, the stands are made up of tall trees, 'cathedral mopane,' but when the soil conditions are less favorable, the vegetation is referred to as 'mopane shrub' (Palgrave, 2002).

C. mopane is considered a natural resource and source of income on a small scale in the daily lives of local people (Teshirogi et al., 2017). Due to its durability and availability, it is a

primary source of products such as poles, firewood, droppers, rafters, and bark ropes for subsistence and commercial uses by local farmers in most northern parts of Namibia (Krug, 2017). Although the species is valuable for the livelihoods of local rural communities, little is known about its socio-economic benefits in a changing climate in southern Africa, especially in northern Namibia.

In addition, policy instruments play a critical role in conserving forest resources while contributing to adaptation actions against climate change. There is a rich literature about the impacts of climate change on various environmental features, mitigation actions, and vulnerability of Namibia (Kapuka and Hlásny, 2020; Mupambwa et al., 2019; Shalumbu-Shivute, 2022). Unfortunately, research focusing on the forest ecosystem services-based adaptation actions supported by the policy instruments on climate change for Namibia is still limited.

1.3 Aim and Objectives

This study aims to investigate the socio-economic benefits of forest ecosystems in a changing climate in rural communities and the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in forest ecosystems in northern Namibia. The study focused on the following specific objectives:

- To analyse the socio-economic benefits of forest ecosystems in a changing climate at the local community level in northern Namibia;
- To assess trends in temperature and precipitation in forest ecosystems in northern Namibia;
- To investigate the implementation of legislation and policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia.

1.4 Hypothesis of the Study

The study tested the following hypotheses to determine whether there is enough statistical evidence about the subject matter:

H1: It is assumed that forest ecosystems continue to provide socio-economic benefits to sustain local community livelihoods in northern Namibia despite a changing climate.

H2: Temperature and precipitation changes could potentially affect the socio-economic benefits of forest ecosystems in northern Namibia.

4

H3: The implementation of various local legislation and policy instruments for climate change are effective in promoting adaptation actions in mopane woodlands.

1.5 Significance/Contributions of the Study

The justification of the study is that it contributes to the growing literature of similar studies carried out in Namibia and southern Africa about socio-economic benefits of forests in a changing climate. It, therefore, is a twofold approach intended to make contributions to establish an understanding from the research point of view about the socio-economic benefits of forests in a changing climate and the implementation of various forest instruments for climate change adaptation in local rural communities in Namibia. Therefore, it is hoped that findings from this work will contribute to understanding the use of forest products in a changing climate and the effectiveness of adaptation options. Furthermore, the results of the study can be used as a basis for making recommendations for enhancing sustainable management and utilization of forest-related products under the required climate change interventions.

Therefore, the findings of the study are helpful, especially for forestry managers, local rural communities, traditional authorities, cross-sectoral policymakers, researchers, and relevant stakeholders in making decisions regarding the use of forest products in a changing climate. The findings of the study can also be extrapolated in future local studies and other southern African countries with similar conditions. Finally, the research is also helpful for students, scholars, and researchers in the field of forest ecosystem services in a changing climate across Namibia, the southern African region, and other regions with similar climatic and socio-economic conditions.

1.6 Literature Review

There is no doubt about the effects of climate change on forest ecosystems and the services they provide. Arid and semi-arid systems are susceptible to precipitation changes because soil moisture determines ecosystem processes and plant diversity. Climate change is one of the world's most significant challenges and affects forest ecosystems (Gebeyehu, 2019).

Climate change strongly influences ecological functions, such as water use and plant productivity, that critically impact forests (Rustad et al., 2012). For example, warmer winters and a longer growing season will increase forest evaporation and water use. Another critical aspect that is influenced by the changing climates is rainfall. Additionally, climate change will impact rainfall patterns which affect forests (Kirilenko and Sedjo, 2007) and, consequently, the livelihoods of local communities that depend on forests.

1.6.1 Forest Ecosystems in a Changing Climate

The concept of forest ecosystem services refers to the services provided by forest ecosystems, namely, biodiversity, carbon sequestration, watershed services, soil conservation, recreational and cultural values, social and economic benefits for communities, and high conservation values (Jenkins and Schaap, 2018). Forest ecosystems play a multifunctional role in which attempts are made to balance human commodity needs with the production of other goods and services, including the habitat needs of forest-dependent organisms (Martínez Pastur et al., 2018).

In addition, forest ecosystem services can be consumed as direct products: water, food, wood, and other raw materials, or indirectly, as services related to water purification, climate regulation and air quality and a variety of generally intangible assets in the category of cultural services including recreational, scientific, cultural, and religious – all the heritage passed on to next generations (Kornatowska and Sienkiewicz, 2018).

It has been identified that forests provide a wide array of services, ranging from timber production, climate stabilization, water quantity and quality provision, and cultural benefits, such as recreation (Brauman and Daily, 2014). Forests are among the most important providers of ecosystem services for the whole world (Aznar-Sánchez et al., 2018).

The world's forest ecosystems provide critical and diverse services and values to human society (Jenkins and Schaap, 2018). Additionally, the world's forests are one of our greatest natural assets, providing innumerable ecological, social, and economic services (Toochi, 2017). Concurrently, it has been noticed that the importance of forest ecosystem services has been increasingly recognized across the globe (Morin et al., 2018).

Climate change is changing, and the changes in the climate are likely to strongly affect forest ecosystems by altering the growth, mortality, and reproduction of trees (Gebeyehu, 2019). The impact of climate change on forests will result in the influence on forest ecosystem services. However, there are few studies conducted about climate change and forests from this angle.

The unique climate conditions of Namibia and its high vulnerability to climate change call for robust policies to guide climate change adaptation actions at the national level (Keja-Kaereho et al., 2019). Effectively implementing climate change adaptation actions can be a remedy against the degrading utilization of mopane woodlands (Reid et al., 2007). In other words, sustainable utilization, and management of mopane woodlands through various policy instruments would significantly contribute to climate change adaptation actions.

1.6.2 Socio-economic Benefits of Forests in a Changing Climate

Natural forest resources are the primary source of multiple services and products while offering income generation opportunities for many local rural communities (Wale et al., 2022a). On the global level, it is estimated that between 1.095 billion and 1.745 billion people depend to varying degrees on forests for their livelihoods, and about 200 million indigenous communities are almost wholly dependent on forests (Chao, 2012).

In addition to services such as carbon sequestration and the protection of watersheds and biodiversity (Ryan et al., 2016), forest ecosystems provide goods and services to local communities in various forms in the region, ranging from timber and non-timber forest products (NTFPs) (De Cauwer et al., 2016). Local communities utilize forest products, such as fuel wood, construction materials, medicine, and food, for marketing and household consumption (Langat et al., 2016). Forest ecosystems play an essential role in the livelihood of rural communities where forests are the vital elements of livelihood (Vrabcová et al., 2019).

In southern Africa, for example, forests are critical to the sustainable livelihoods of local communities and ecosystems (Naidoo et al., 2013). Although multiple products are harvested from forests, fuelwood is identified as one of the main forest products utilized by rural communities in the developing world, including Namibia (Nikodemus and Hájek, 2015; Vrabcová et al., 2019). Nearly 2.9 billion people in low and middle-income countries cook and heat their homes by burning solid fuels such as fuelwood (Lindgren, 2021).

However, various previous studies have acknowledged that forest ecosystems in southern Africa are highly vulnerable to climate change (Egoh et al., 2012; Naidoo et al., 2013; Scholes and Engelbrecht, 2021). Some of the identified climate risks to forest ecosystems in the region include, for example, altering the growth rates of woodland flora and impacting species composition and productivity (Rohde et al., 2019; Ryan et al., 2016).

1.6.3 Policy Instruments for Climate Change in Forestry

Forests are naturally capacitated to protect lives and livelihoods and create a base for the earth's sustainable economic and social development from the effects of climate change by protecting people. However, human activities often impede this natural process (Nghogekeh et al., 2020). Therefore, policy instruments are critical in climate change adaptation and the management of forest ecosystems.

Policy instruments are very crucial in guiding adaptation actions against climate change. Several policy instruments are available for governments, companies, and civil society organizations to encourage adaptation (Ulibarri et al., 2022). In addition to the Paris Agreement (United Nations, 2015), different countries implement different policy instruments for climate change at the national level (Yazykova and Bruch, 2018).

However, it is worth pointing out that the success of implementing climate-related policies is linked to how they are integrated with sectorial policies and policies of other government levels (de Oliveira and Antonio, 2009). However, local governments have been busy drawing up policies on climate change and global warming without enlightening the nation about the risk and their influence on the economy or other factors that can change their lives (Keja-Kaereho et al., 2019).

In the context of forest ecosystem services and their value, it is vital to implement effective national development policies (Jenkins and Schaap, 2018). This implies that appropriately addressing the challenges of climate change will require improvements to forest policies and forest management plans and practices.

Considering the climate conditions and their effects on the forest, it is safe to suggest that forest managers and policy developers should consider four main factors when developing forest policies considering climate change: policy, economic, social, and biophysical factors. However, the research gap in this aspect is still huge, especially in the adaptation capacity of the existing actions (Singh et al., 2021). Research on implementing climate change policies in forest ecosystems is crucial to advise forest managers and policy developers to formulate the appropriate strategies.

CHAPTER TWO

SUMMARY OF RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter summarizes research methods, materials, and procedures used in collecting and analysing data. The chapter is divided into the study area, research approach, population, sampling, instruments and materials, procedures, data analysis, ethical considerations, and limitations.

2.1 Study Area

The study focused on the Kunene and Omusati regions. The two regions form a zone of the northern part of Namibia with the highest distribution of *C. mopane* woodlands. The target regions also fall into the Baikiaea-mopane woodlands zone of southern Africa (Olson et al., 2001). The Kunene and Omusati regions make up 17% of the total area and constitute 13% of the population of Namibia (Nikodemus et al., 2023). However, the Omusati region has the highest species distribution among the two regions (Vrabcová et al., 2019) (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Study area and the distribution of C. mopane

On the demographic sphere, the northern part of Namibia is primarily rural and is one of the hotspots for climate change-related impacts (Kapuka and Hlásny, 2020; Spear and Chappel, 2018). Rural communities in the two regions mainly rely on subsistence agricultural practices and other forest-related ecosystem services, particularly from the mopane woodlands to sustain their livelihoods (Nikodemus and Hájek, 2022, 2015; Vrabcová et al., 2019). Agricultural practices contribute between 22 and 32% to the livelihoods of local rural communities in Kunene and Omusati regions, respectively (Haukongo, 2017; Kunene Regional Council, 2015; ORC, 2010). Due to demands for agricultural land and other land uses, the area experienced a combined tree cover loss of 302 hectares between 2001 and 2018 (Hansen et al., 2013).

The Kunene region occupies the northwest corner of Namibia and shares borders with Angola to the north, the Omusati region to the east, the Otjozondjupa region to the south-east, the Erongo region to the south, and the Atlantic Ocean to the west (Inman et al., 2020) (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2: The location of the Omusati and the Kunene regions on the Namibian map

The average daily temperatures range from 5°C to 35°C depending on the season (Kunene Regional Council, 2015). Summer day temperatures are often sweltering, reaching up to 35°C with minimum temperatures of 14°C on average. During the winter, the temperatures can range

from an average of 5°C to 26°C (Kunene Regional Council, 2015). The region receives irregular annual rainfall, which increases from the west to the east and ranges from less than 50 mm to 415 mm (Inman et al., 2020).

The Omusati Region is situated in the far north-western part of Namibia, bordered by Angola to the north, the Kunene Region to the west and south, and the Oshana and the Ohangwena Regions to the east. The word *'omusati'* is an Oshiwambo dialect word that is translated into the C. mopane tree species. The yearly rainfall of the Omusati region ranges from 400-500 mm (Haukongo, 2017). The region has high average daily temperatures varying between 6-35°C. However, temperatures vary with the year's four seasons (spring, summer, autumn, and winter). For example, summers are very hot, with a maximum temperature between 30°C and 35°C during the hottest months, according to the Omusati Region Council (ORC, 2010).

Overall, the Kunene and Omusati regions share the same climatic conditions. Furthermore, the two regions are semi-arid and characterized by high temperatures from 5-37°C. The annual average rainfall ranges from 350-500 mm mainly between November and April (World Bank Group, 2021). However, slight differences in weather and climatic conditions are noticeable from season to season.

The main vegetation types of the Kunene and the Omusati regions can be classified as woodlands and savannas (grass cover, trees, and shrubs). More specifically, the woodlands and savannas in the area are characterized by mopane woodlands, mopane sparse shrublands, and grasslands (Giess, 1986; Nikodemus et al., 2022).

2.2 Research Approach

A hybrid approach combining qualitative and quantitative approaches was employed. Although the hybrid (generally referred to as mixed design) requires extensive time, resources, and effort (Molina-Azorin et al., 2018), it has an overall advantage in that it provides directions for the collection and analysis of data from multiple sources in a single study (Dawadi et al., 2021). Therefore, a hybrid approach was employed since the study involved primary data directly from humans and secondary data for climate variables, forest products, and policy instruments.

Furthermore, a descriptive research design was used to describe the phenomenon and its characteristics (identified variables) (Nassaji, 2015). The descriptive design is applied in case

studies, surveys, and naturalistic observations. It allows the researcher to vividly present the problem statement to enable others to understand a study's objectives and significance better. Also, this method ascertains prevailing conditions of facts in a group under study that gives either qualitative or quantitative, or both, descriptions of the general characteristics of the group as results (Rillo and Alieto, 2018).

Quantitative data consisted of climate variables (temperature and precipitation), forest products, uses, permit costs, and the effectiveness of various policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in forest ecosystems. On the other hand, the qualitative aspect focused on the views expressed about the improvements of the implementation policy instruments.

2.3 Respondents and Key Variables

Key informants involved the local rural communities in the two regions, DoF officials at five forestry offices (Okahao, Onesi, Outapi, Opuwo, and Tsandi) in the two regions, climate change experts, researchers from local academic institutions, and cross-sectoral stakeholders. The study used various variables classified into three sub-categories, socio-economic benefits from *C. mopane*, climate change variables, and the implementation of various legislation and policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in the context of forest ecosystem services.

Socio-economic benefits data include different types of forest products from *C. mopane* and their uses (commercial and subsistence). Since climate change is generally measured by changes in temperature, precipitation, and windspeed (Barry and Hoyne, 2021), the study used temperature and precipitation to assess climate variability in the area. Wind variables were excluded due to the lack of data.

Data for various forest products were extracted from harvesting permit record books at the five DoF offices, representing 239 villages across the study area. Data included all harvesting permits for products from *C. mopane*, such as firewood, poles, droppers, rafters, and roots. Data also comprised the uses, quantities, permit costs, and harvesting years. Due to limited long-term historical climate change data, data for all variables were confined to 11 years (2011-2021).

The second component of the research was the implementation of various policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions. Data for this component was obtained from cross-sectional experts. The study targeted at least 150 respondents, including local

communities, forestry, climate change, and other relevant environmental experts. However, the study could only collect results from 128 responses, translating into an 85.3% response rate.

Finally, the last component was a follow-up survey which was aimed at investigating the effectiveness of adaptation actions within the framework of the NPCC for Namibia in the context of forest ecosystem services. The research deemed it necessary to investigate adaptation actions supported by the NPCC, specifically in forest ecosystems. The NPCC is the central force for climate change actions at the national level. It provides an institutional framework and overarching national strategy for developing, implementing, monitoring, and evaluating climate change mitigation and adaptation activities in Namibia (Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism, 2021).

The target population for this component was 40 cross-sectional experts. However, the study could only obtain 36 responses, translating to 90%. The small target population in this aspect was because Namibia has a small population. Based on the national census of 2011, Namibia's population was estimated at 2.5 (Destatis, 2022; Kapuka and Hlásny, 2020). The forestry sector is one of the smallest sectors in the country. On the other hand, climate change is still a new and least emphasized subject at the local level. Hence, there was a small population for the last component of the study was relatively small.

2.4 Sampling

Since this study used a mixed method, two sampling techniques were combined—a purposive mixed-probability sampling continuum combined with a simple random method.

In the case of the local communities, respondents were chosen through simple random sampling. Each member of the study population was given an equal chance to be selected (probability). Simple random sampling allows for the selection of the members of the sample by equal chance (Bhardwaj, 2019). As a result, the quality of the sample is not affected.

In the case of the experts, a purposive-mixed-probability sampling continuum method was used. This method involves choosing multiple sampling strategies and comparing the results emerging from both samples (Onwuegbuzie and Collins, 2015). A mixed purposive-probability sampling, also referred to as judgment sampling, was chosen because it is the deliberate choice of an informant due to the qualities the informant possesses.

The study covered 239 villages where local communities harvest forest products for socioeconomic benefits in the study area (manuscript 3). For policy instruments (manuscripts 1 and 2), the study reached involved local communities, forestry, climate change, and other relevant environmental experts through an online semi-structured questionnaire. That is 128 respondents (local communities, forestry, climate change, and other relevant environmental experts {manuscript 2}) and 36 experts (manuscript 3).

2.5 Data Collection Tools and Procedures

The study used primary and secondary data. As a result, the study used different methods and tools to collect primary and secondary data.

2.5.1 Primary Data

In this study, primary data was used to address the third objective on the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia. Primary data was collected using a semi-structured online questionnaire (Survio 2022 version).

Online questionnaires are commonly used nowadays because they collect substantial quantitative and qualitative data (Dewaele, 2018). Furthermore, online questionnaires require minimal input from the researcher. Once they are distributed, they keep count of the number of responses until sufficient data have been collected and the analysis can start (Dewaele, 2018). In this study, an online questionnaire was used due to its attributes, such that it is less costly, less time-consuming, flexible, and convenient to complete. Additionally, online questionnaires were used because they reach many respondents, and data entry and analysis are easy (Evans and Mathur, 2005).

Structured questionnaires and semi-structured interviews are generally used in mixedmethod studies to generate confirmatory results despite differences in data collection, analysis, and interpretation methods (Harris and Brown, 2010). Therefore, a semi-structured questionnaire was employed for collecting the required quantitative data because it consists of open and closed-ended questions.

Structured questions consisted of multiple options and Likert scales (e.g., extremely ineffective, very ineffective, ineffective not sure, effective, very effective, extremely effective). This approach gave respondents categories from which they could choose to indicate their opinions, attitudes, or feelings about a particular issue (Nemoto and Beglar, 2014).

Furthermore, a questionnaire was used because of its several advantages. For example, it is generally used for limited resources because it can be inexpensive to design and administer

(Roopa and Rani, 2012). Additional advantages of using a questionnaire include protecting the privacy of the respondents and using less time. Finally, a questionnaire can be a helpful confirmation tool when combined with other data collection strategies (Roopa and Rani, 2012).

Careful consideration was given to the design of the questionnaire to ensure valuable and relevant data. Therefore, the following stages adopted from (Roopa and Rani, 2012) were followed in the design of the questionnaire (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3: Stages of designing a questionnaire

The questionnaire was distributed to the respondents (experts and local communities) from 27 August 2022 to 30 September 2022. The survey took 35 days, including weekends and public holidays. The link to the questionnaire was shared with target respondents via email, WhatsApp, and LinkedIn. The study used these platforms because they are user-friendly, cheap, and commonly used by most professionals daily.

2.5.2 Secondary Data

The first research objective focused on the evidence of the utilization of forest products in the Kunene and Omusati regions. Data from the harvesting permit books at forestry offices were entered, organized, and analysed using statistical tools to achieve this objective.

Data for forest products were extracted directly from harvesting permits record books at forestry offices in the two regions. For convenient data processing, copies were made from permit record books (Appendix A). Permit books provided data such as the types of products

(firewood, poles, droppers, rafters, and roots), uses, quantities, permit costs, and harvesting years.

The second objective was about trends in annual mean temperature and annual mean precipitation. It was addressed by obtaining data from the Southern African Science Service Centre for Climate Change and Adaptive Land Management (SASSCAL) weather stations surrounding and within the study area. Annual mean temperature and annual mean precipitation data were derived from various the SASSCAL weather stations (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4: The SASSCAL weather stations surrounding and within the study area

For converting the point layer containing the climatic data to countifies maps, the geostatistical analyst toolbar in ArcGIS Pro V2.7.2 was used.

2.6 Data Analysis

Since this study is descriptive, a descriptive statistics method was employed to generate frequencies, mean, percentage, and p-values of statistical variables.

According to the permit system of the DoF, forest products are recorded in different units. For example, poles, droppers, and rafters are measured in pieces, whereas firewood and roots are in tons. Therefore, units were ultimately standardized to tons. The authors developed estimates of the local weights of different wood products harvested by the local communities (Ngheendekwa, 2019). On average, a bundle of firewood/root is 0.013 tons, whereas poles are approximately 0.0094 tons, droppers are 0.001 tons, and rafters are 0.001 tons per piece.

To determine the distribution of climate variabilities and forest products utilization across the study area, the corresponding coordinates was linked to the 239 villages. Then, information was extracted from the continuous maps in Python Spyder 3.9 using the following packages; i) geopandas, ii) os, iii) scipy.sparse, iv) rasterio, v) pandas, vi) numpy. After the extraction, the correlation between mean annual temperature and precipitation was analyzed in the area.

2.6.1 Statistical Analysis

Quantitative analyses focused on the data for the forest products, climate change variables, and effectiveness of policy instruments. All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS version 28 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). A p-value of less than 0.05 (p < 0.05) was deemed statistically significant in all analyses in this study.

The independent t-test for non-categorical data for the statistical analysis was used to compare mean scores of the implementation of various climate change adaptation actions in forest ecosystems. The independent samples t-test can be represented using the functions below:

$$t = \frac{\overline{x_1 - \overline{x_2}}}{s_p \sqrt{\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}}}$$

With:

$$s_p = \sqrt{\frac{(n_1 - 1)s_1^2 + (n_2 - 1)s_2^2}{n_1 + n_2 - 2}}$$

Where:

 \bar{x}_1 = Mean of first sample

 \bar{x}_2 = Mean of second sample

 n_1 = Sample size (i.e., number of observations) of first sample

 n_2 = Sample size (i.e., number of observations) of second sample

 s_1 = Standard deviation of first sample

 s_2 = Standard deviation of second sample

 s_p = Pooled standard deviation

2.6.2 Qualitative Analyses

Qualitative analyses focused on the data for the implementation of policy instruments. All qualitative analyses were performed using ATLAS.ti Scientific Software Development GmbH version 22.2.4 (Berlin, Germany) combined with the Thematic Content Analysis (TCA) approach. TCA is a method of presenting qualitative data descriptively (Anderson, 2014). This approach is used to categorize and exhibit the data's narrator themes or data patterns.

Since ATLAS.ti software does not perform automated data analysis, all the relationships created during the analysis process were based on the researcher's decision (Soratto et al., 2020). The procedure flow of the TCA was performed, which is depicted in Figure 2.5.

Step 1: Familiarizing with the DataRepeated and active reading through the qualitative data

Step 4: Reviewing themes -Looking at coded data placed within each theme to ensure proper fit

Step 5: Defining and naming themes - Creating a definition and narrative description of each theme, including why it is important to the broader study question

Step 2: Generating initial codes
Organizing data at a granular, specific level, taking notes on potential data items of interest, questions, connections between data items, and other preliminary ideas

Step 3: Searching for themes - This step involves an examination of the coded and co-related data extracts to look for potential themes of broader significance.

Step 6: Producing the report/manuscript - This final step involves writing up the final analysis and description of the findings.

Figure 2.5: The procedure flow of the TCA according to (Kiger and Varpio, 2020)

During the data analysis process, qualitative data were coded according to relevant themes (codes), mainly derived from the proposed improvements for the existing policy instruments, i.e., the effectiveness of the NPCC in forest ecosystem services.

2.7 Limitations of the Study

This is the pioneering research on the effects of climate change on forest ecosystem benefits in Namibia. Therefore, there were several limitations regarding the limited literature and longterm historical data. Secondly, climate change is not fully emphasized in forest ecosystems in Namibia. Several aspects, such as correlational analysis between forestry productivity, forest status (growth rates, mortality rates, and stand structure), and climate change variables, would be helpful to this study. However, this approach requires long-term data from permanent sample plots, which is currently unavailable.

Regarding the limited data, the study focused on the available data combined with surveys to achieve its aim. Ultimately, this study is critical because it serves as a baseline for formulating strategies for the necessary actions, including awareness creation for local communities, forestry managers, and policymakers about the effects of changing climatic conditions on forest ecosystems and livelihoods of local communities in northern Namibia.

2.8 Ethical Considerations

The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical conduct of the National Commission on Research Science and Technology (NCRST), issued on 13 December 2022 (Appendix B), and the ethical clearance by MEFT of Namibia, and approved by DoF, dated 18 August 2022 (Appendix C). The study ensured complete privacy by giving assurance of confidentiality of the information to be obtained. Furthermore, the researcher strictly used the collected data for this academic research and not for other ambitions. The researcher also ensured that no part of the information obtained during the study was released to outside individuals where it would cause any damaging consequences. All the data used in this study will be stored in the researchers' office's safe locker and destroyed after five years.

CHAPTER THREE

RESULTS SYNTHESIS

This chapter presents the findings of the study. The findings were arranged according to three publications. The publications focus on socio-economic benefits of forest ecosystems, various legislation, and policy instruments, and the NPCC.

Publications

Manuscript 1

Authors: Nikodemus, A., Hájek, M.

Title: Implementing Local Climate Change Adaptation Actions: The Role of Various Policy Instruments in Mopane (*Colophospermum mopane*) Woodlands, Northern Namibia

Journal: Forests, (2022), 13, 1682. https://doi.org/10.3390/f13101682

Personal Contributions: Conceptualization (98%), study design (100%), dataset compilation (100%), data processing and analysis (100%), manuscript writing and artwork (100%), corresponding author.



Publication certificate for article 1





Article Implementing Local Climate Change Adaptation Actions: The Role of Various Policy Instruments in Mopane (Colophospermum mopane) Woodlands, Northern Namibia

Andreas Nikodemus * D and Miroslav Hájek

Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamýcká 129, 165 00 Prague, Czech Republic

* Correspondence: nikodemus@fld.czu.cz

Abstract: The impacts of climate change are severe in rural communities because of their proximity to forest ecosystems. *Colophospermum mopane* woodlands are vital in supporting the livelihood of the rural communities in the mopane woodlands while contributing to biodiversity conservation. There is limited research regarding implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation in rural areas of the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia. This study aims to investigate this subject from the mopane woodlands' point of view to understand the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation in the mopane woodlands. We conducted an online survey focusing on multiple stakeholders, experts in different sectors, and local communities. Major challenges such as a limited general understanding of climate change, its impacts, dry conditions of Namibia, and lack of funds for adaptation measures hamper the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands. Policymakers and relevant stakeholders should emphasize altering rural communities' reliance on forest resources for their livelihood by improving their awareness of the impacts of climate change. Future research should evaluate climate change policy instruments' framework and strategies in the context of forest ecosystems at the rural area level of Namibia.

Keywords: adaptation; climate change; forest ecosystem services; mopane woodlands; northern Namibia; policy instruments; rural communities

1. Introduction

Climate change affects natural environments, including forest ecosystems and local communities. Rural communities are typically vulnerable to the impacts of climate change due to their dependency on forest ecosystems for their livelihoods [1–3]. Implementing policy instruments minimizes the effects of climate change on rural communities.

With so much emphasis on climate change policy and regulatory framework development to enhance adaptation measures, it is still unclear how efficient the existing instruments are in rural communities [3]. The ambiguity of the effectiveness of existing policy instruments is prevalent, specifically in the context of forest ecosystems in rural communities. Although forest ecosystems play a crucial role in the livelihood of rural communities [4,5], most local communities in rural areas have a limited understanding of the impacts of climate change and adaptation measures [6,7]. Therefore, emphasis on implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation measures in rural communities requires special attention [8].

On a global level, the efforts to minimize the impacts of climate change have moved from understanding vulnerabilities to climate change adaptation [9]. In addition to the Paris Agreement [10], different countries implement different policy instruments for climate change at the national level [11]. The same need to build such policy activities upon cross-sector dialogue and actions has also been recognized in southern Africa [12]. In



Citation: Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M. Implementing Local Climate Change Adaptation Actions: The Role of Various Policy Instruments in Mopane (*Colophospermum mopane*) Woodlands, Northern Namibia. *Forests* **2022**, *13*, 1682. https:// doi.org/10.3390/f13101682

Academic Editor: Juan Fernández-Manjarrés

Received: 15 August 2022 Accepted: 5 October 2022 Published: 13 October 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). South Africa, for example, the local government has been developing the municipal climate protection program since 2004 [13].

The constitution of Namibia lays the foundation for all policies and legislation in Namibia and contains three vital environmental clauses relevant to the sustainable use of natural resources [14]. Therefore, climate change adaptation policy instruments are mainstreamed across multiple sectors and in concurrence with other related policy instruments [12]. Thus, Namibia's National Climate Change Policy [15] is consistent with different policy instruments. There are various policy instruments for climate change adaptation in Namibia. The most significant ones include the National Climate Change Policy for Namibia, Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan, Namibia National Forest Policy, Forestry Strategic Plan, the Forest Act, National Environmental Education and Education for Sustainable Development Policy, and the Communal Land Reform Act contribute to climate change adaptation [14].

Studying the use of different policy tools to adapt and mitigate climate change is a critical research gap [16]. Therefore, the phenomena of climate change and forest ecosystem services have attracted the attention of researchers and scholars all around the world [3,16] to southern Africa [17] and Namibia [18,19]. However, significant research gaps still exist regarding the implementation of policy instruments and their impacts on adaptation in the context of forest ecosystem services in rural communities in the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia.

While a considerable amount of literature focuses on climate change adaptation [18,20], the implementation policy instruments for adaptation to climate change, their effectiveness, and the challenges faced implementing them in rural communities of the mopane wood-lands remain under-researched and misunderstood. Implementing policy instruments in rural communities, especially in the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia, are highly vulnerable to the impacts of climate change [21]. Furthermore, forest ecosystems in this area have become degraded due to the dense population, poor vegetation cover [22], and low and erratic rainfall patterns [23,24]. In addition, forest ecosystems in the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia, where tree species of high socio-economic value, such as *Colophospermum mopane* (Kirk ex Benth.) Kirk ex J.Léonard, commonly known as mopane, are threatened by the demands from local communities and by the ever-changing harsh climatic conditions, are no exception [25].

Mopane woodlands, which provide multiple forest services, including socio-economic benefits, are essential to the livelihoods of rural communities in northern Namibia [26]. Effectively implementing climate change adaptation actions can be a remedy against the degrading utilization of mopane woodlands [27]. There is little scientific work about the impacts of climate change and policy instruments in the context of forest ecosystems in Namibia. Hence, although mopane woodlands are valuable in terms of socio-economic values and biodiversity, there is little emphasis on implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia. Consequently, there is no clear evidence about the extent of the implementation of policy instruments in mopane woodlands. This situation might affect the adequacy of management strategies and the adequacy of the existing policy instruments for climate change adaptation in the mopane woodlands. Bridging this gap would contribute to formulating a practical framework and approach for effectively implementing adaptation policy instruments in the highly vulnerable yet socio-economically valuable mopane woodlands.

The paper aims to investigate the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in mopane woodlands. Our study focuses on the knowledge, effectiveness, and challenges of implementing various policy instruments for climate change adaptation and, finally, possible improvement proposals for policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Area

Namibia consists of fourteen (14) political regions [28]. We focused on the Omusati and Kunene regions (Figure 1). These regions also form part of the *Baikiaea-mopane* woodlands of southern Africa and represent areas with the highest distribution of *C. mopane* species in Namibia, with the Omusati region having the highest concentration of the species among the two [29]. The species is a valuable natural resource and an income source for the local inhabitants [30]. It is mainly used for poles, fuelwood, droppers, rafters, and bark rope by local communities in the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia [31].



Figure 1. The location of the Omusati and Kunene regions on the map of Namibia and the distribution of mopane woodlands in northern Namibia.

Due to the quality wood of *C. mopane*, mopane woodlands are disappearing despite their role in providing forest ecosystem services such as being crucial to livelihoods, carbon sequestration, and biodiversity [26]. Increases in local populations have increased tree harvesting in the area over the years.

Eight countries in southern Africa are reported to have *C. mopane* vegetation [31]. *C. mopane* is predominately found in areas with little to moderate rainfall, hot temperatures, low altitudes, and various soil types [31]. As a result, the *C. mopane* savanna extends over a large area, reaching as far south as Brandberg mountain, Namibia's highest point, between southwestern Angola and Namibia [5,32]. Fine-grained sand and clay-loam sites made of basalt, alluvial material, and lime are ideal for *C. mopane* [31]. Hence, *C. mopane* has mitigative and adaptation values to the impacts of climate change.

Covering about 17% of the total area and constituting 13% of the total population of Namibia, these two regions are situated in the north-central geographical zones of Namibia [33]. The study area is semi-arid and characterized by high temperatures ranging from 5–37 °C, whereas the annual average rainfall is about 350–500 mm between November and April [34]. Due to its dry climatic conditions, the area is considered prone to severe effects of climate. Communities in the northern and northeastern parts of the country have experienced more severe flooding, which has caused significant hardship to local communities [35].

Most of Namibia's population, approximately 70%, lives in rural areas that depend heavily on forest ecosystems [35]. These rural areas, which are frequently underdeveloped and marginalized, are more severely affected by the effects of climate change [36]. Most of the Omusati and Kunene residents live in rural areas. As a result, forest ecosystems play a crucial role in supporting the livelihood of the local communities in these two regions [4,37]. Agricultural activities at a subsistence level are customary in these regions [37,38].

2.2. Survey

We collected data using a semi-structured online questionnaire (Survio 2022 version, see Appendix A). Given the fact that Namibia is vulnerable to the impacts of climate change, especially in the rural communities [23], all Namibians, especially senior managers, policy-makers, and decision-makers across all sectors, are commissioned to assume responsibility for adaptation given the forecast that weather conditions will worsen over the coming decades [39].

Therefore, we focused on eight of the main cross-sectoral policy instruments that are directly integrated into the protection and conservation of forest ecosystems in Namibia, namely the National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia, Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan, National Environmental Education and Education for Sustainable Development Policy, Nature Conservation Ordinance No. 4 of 1975, the Communal Land Reform Act, Namibia National Forest Policy, Forestry Strategic Plan, and the Forest Act. These policy instruments systematically complement climate adaptation activities within Namibia's National Policy on Climate Change framework and the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) [40].

Given that the existing policy instruments are executed at the national level, we administered the semi-structured questionnaire to experts at different ranks representing professions with varying experience levels in the environmental sciences and natural resources management, including forestry and climate change. This included experts from public, private, and academic institutions. The cross-sectoral experts were involved based on their expertise and experiences in policy instruments, rural community development programs, research, and forest resources management.

Since we delimited our study to rural communities within mopane woodlands, particularly the Omusati and Kunene regions, we also tried to involve local communities from these two regions. Local communities depend on mopane woodlands for their livelihoods [4,5]. Local communities are also involved in implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation, both directly and indirectly. The implementation of policy instruments also affects their livelihoods to some extent. Hence, we involved them in our study to give their views and experience concerning implementing various policy instruments in mopane woodlands.

Due to the limited understanding of climate change [20], we targeted 150 respondents representing private, public, academia, research, and local community members in the Omusati and Kunene Regions. We achieved a response rate of 128, which translates to 85.3%. The most significantly represented institution was public (n = 50, 39.2%), followed by the private (n = 31, 24.5%) and academia and research (n = 26, 20.3%). There were few local community members (n = 15, 11.9%) due to their low literacy level and poor internet access. In addition, other institutions, such as students and Non-governmental Organizations (NGOs), comprised (n = 5) 4.1% of the respondents.
For the local communities, we limited the survey to the literate members of the community. Another reason for selecting the literate local community members was that most illiterate local community members do not comprehensively understand the subject of climate change, policy instruments, and forest ecosystem services.

For public institutions, we focused on the top, middle, and lower management staff of the Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism (MEFT) and the Ministry of Agriculture, Water, and Land Reform (MAWRL). Regional and global public institutions operating in Namibia, such as the Southern African Science Service Centre for Climate Change and Adaptive Land Management (SASSCAL), Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit/the German Agency for International Cooperation (GIZ), and the Environmental Investment Fund (EIF) were also involved.

In the case of private institutions, we focused on the Namibia Nature Foundation (NNF), the Desert Research Foundation of Namibia (DRFN), the Namibian Association of Community Based Natural Resource Management (NACSO), Namibia Scientific Society, and the Integrated Rural Development and Nature Conservation (IRDNC). Such private institutions are actively involved in managing and conserving natural environments, including forest ecosystems in Namibia. For academic institutions, we focused on the teaching and research staff representing fields such as natural resources management, forestry, and environmental sciences at the Namibia University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), the University of Namibia (UNAM), and the International University of Management (IUM).

Collected data were entered, coded, cleaned, and analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social sciences (IBM SPSS, version 28; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) [41] (Appendix B). Qualitative data were coded according to relevant themes using the Thematic Content Analysis (TCA) approach. TCA is a method of presenting qualitative data descriptively [42]. This tool is used to categorize and exhibit the data's narrator themes or data patterns. The approach is less suitable for investigating unique meanings or experiences from a particular person or data item because it is programmed to look for shared or common meanings [43].

Figure 2 shows our procedure flow of the TCA according to [43].

Step 1: Familiarizing with the Data

- Repeated and active reading through the qualitative data

Step 4: Reviewing themes

-Looking at coded data placed within each theme to ensure proper fit

Step 5: Defining and naming themes - Creating a definition and narrative description of each theme, including why it is important to the broader study question

Step 2: Generating initial codes

- Organizing data at a granular, specific level, taking notes on potential data items of interest, questions, connections between data items, and other preliminary ideas

> Step 3: Searching for themes - This step involves an examination of the coded and co-related data extracts to look for potential themes of broader significance.

Step 6: Producing the report/manuscript - This final step involves writing up the final analysis and description of the findings.

Figure 2. The procedure flow of the TCA that was performed for qualitative data.

6 of 21

3. Results

3.1. Level of Education

The level of education plays a vital role in the knowledge and implementation of adaptation actions for climate change [44]. Most of the respondents across different sectors were educated (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Level of education ranging from a grade 12 to a doctoral degree among the respondents from various sectors.

Most of the respondents were in possession of bachelor's degrees (51.6%). In addition to the bachelor's degree, there were many respondents with diplomas (16.4%) compared to master's degrees which constituted 14.8% of all the respondents. Although the level of education assessed was not limited to the field of climate and forestry, it is believed that general education can be a powerful tool in enabling effective adaptation to climate change [44].

The implementation of policy instruments is expected to be more effective where communities are educated. Educated communities can easily understand the concept of policy instruments and their implementation and spearhead adaptation actions among uneducated local communities.

3.2. Knowledge of Policy Instruments for Climate Change

The level of general and scientific knowledge about various policy instruments for climate change adaptation among climate change experts, stakeholders, and local communities plays an essential role in implementing its policy and associated policy instruments [45]. In this context, the level of knowledge about the various policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands is essential in determining their effectiveness. Our results revealed the level of understanding of the respondents about implementing multiple policy instruments as interventions made in mopane woodlands to promote adaptation (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Knowledge of implementing various policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands.

Although most of the respondents in our study were experts, the results show that the level of knowledge about climate change and policy instruments ranged from good knowledge (n = 48, 37%) to no knowledge at all (n = 19, 15%). In addition to the category of respondents who indicated that they had good knowledge about climate change and associated policy instruments, another group of respondents in the same measure showed that they had limited knowledge (n = 48, 37%). About 9% (n = 11) of the respondents had excellent knowledge. Only relatively few respondents had an experience in climate change and implementing policy instruments (n = 3, 2%).

It is clear from the results that the implementation of climate change actions in the mopane woodlands is not fully understood among different stakeholders. The results coincide with [20], who highlighted that limited knowledge of climate change adaptation is one of the main limiting factors in the effectiveness of adaptation actions—in Namibia. Limited knowledge of policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands could be attributed to many factors that need to be identified and addressed appropriately. The issue of limited knowledge about climate change and associated policy instruments is worse in rural areas where most residents are illiterate or do not have access to media [6]. Thus, this situation could hamper the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation [7,8].

3.3. The Implementation of Policy Instruments

Our survey results on implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation in the mopane woodlands provide a good picture of the various policy instruments associated with climate change adaptation (Table 1).

Our survey results show that most of the policy instruments were on a scale ranging from active to very active. This implies that multiple policy instruments for climate change adaptation are active within the Namibia National Forest Policy, rated the most active instrument (n = 51, 40%), followed by the Communal Land Reform Act (n = 47, 37%).

Although the National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia is the central catalyst for adaptation measures, it was rated among the least active instruments (n = 32, 25%) alongside Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan (n = 27, 21%). This situation could be attributed to various factors, including a lack of communication [17], a lack of understanding of climate, and the exclusion of rural communities [7].

Policy Instruments	Extremely Inactive	Very Inactive	Inactive	Not Sure	Active	Very Active	Extremely Active	Total
Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan	4 (3%)	11 (9%)	29 (23%)	50 (39%)	27 (21%)	6 (5%)	1 (1%)	128 (100)
National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia	5 (4%)	7 (6%)	20 (16%)	51 (38%)	32 (25%)	10 (8%)	3 (2%)	128 (100)
National Environmental Education and Education for Sustainable Development Policy	5 (4%)	9 (7%)	22 (17%)	38 (30%)	45 (35%)	8 (6%)	1 (1%)	128 (100)
The Nature Conservation Ordinance No. 4 of 1975	4 (3%)	7 (6%)	8 (6%)	46 (36%)	44 (34%)	15 (12%)	4 (3%)	128 (100)
The Communal Land Reform Act	3 (2%)	7 (6%)	14 (11%)	36 (28%)	47 (37%)	18 (14%)	3 (2%)	128 (100)
Namibia National Forest Policy	2 (2%)	8 (6%)	10 (8%)	36 (28%)	51 (40%)	17 (13%)	4 (3%)	128 (100)
Forestry Strategic Plan	4 (3%)	5 (4%)	15 (12%)	57 (45%)	36 (28%)	7 (6%)	4 (3%)	128 (100)
The Forest Act	2 (2%)	5 (4%)	9 (7%)	43 (34%)	45 (35%)	21 (16%)	3 (2%)	128 (100)

Table 1. The rating of how active the implementation of various policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia.

3.4. Effectiveness of the Policy Instruments

Our results further revealed the effectiveness of different policy instruments for climate change adaptation (Table 2). The results indicate that all the listed policy instruments rated effective to very effective. We discovered that the Communal Land Reform Act was the most effective policy instrument (n = 54, 42%), followed by the Forest Act (n = 51, 40%).

The Communal Land Reform Act is crucial for determining land use in rural areas. Forestry and agricultural activities in rural communities of Namibia must comply with the Communal Land Reform Act. The Communal Land Reform Act determines rural forestry ownership (private, communal, and state). Therefore, it plays a significant role in climate change adaptation in the mopane woodlands.

Furthermore, Namibia National Forest Policy (n = 35, 27%) and Forestry Strategic Plan (n = 35, 27%) were identified among the least effective policy instruments. Mopane woodlands consist of sparsely distributed vegetation mixed with mopane shrublands (Figure 1). Local communities predominantly practice agriculture for subsistence purposes, which has led to desertification in the area. These and possibly more factors have influenced the effectiveness of forestry legislative activities in the mopane woodlands.

Policy Instruments	Extremely Ineffective	Very Ineffective	Ineffective	Not sure	Effective	Very Effective	Extremely Effective	Total
Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan	4 (3%)	5 (4%)	23 (18%)	51 (40%)	37 (29%)	5 (4%)	3 (2%)	128 (100)
National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia	4 (3%)	4 (3%)	20 (16%)	49 (38%)	41 (32%)	9 (7%)	1 (1%)	128 (100)
National Environmental Education and Education for Sustainable Development Policy	4 (3.1%)	3 (2%)	24 (19%)	39 (31%)	43 (34%)	10 (8%)	5 (4%)	128 (100)
The Nature Conservation Ordinance No. 4 of 1975	4 (3%)	5 (4%)	14 (11%)	41 (32%)	44 (34%)	16 (13%)	4 (3%)	128 (100)
The Communal Land Reform Act	3 (2%)	2 (2%)	17 (13%)	36 (28%)	54 (42%)	14 (11%)	2 (2%)	128 (100)
Namibia National Forest Policy	3 (2.3%)	2 (2%)	14 (11%)	53 (41%)	35 (27%)	18 (14%)	3 (2%)	128 (100)
Forestry Strategic Plan	4 (3%)	4 (3%)	14 (11%)	58 (45%)	36 (28%)	10 (8%)	2 (2%)	128 (100)
The Forest Act	4 (3%)	2 (2%)	11 (9%)	45 (35%)	51 (40%)	13 (10%)	2 (2%)	128 (100)

Table 2. The effectiveness of the policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia.

3.5. Implementation Strategies

Strategies are essential for implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in mopane woodlands. Our results show the main implementation strategies for adaptation policy instruments (Table 3).

Table 3. Implementation strategies for policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia.

Extremely Ineffective	Extremely Ineffective	Very Ineffective	Ineffective	Not Sure	Effective	Very Effective	Extremely Effective	Total
Minimizing deforestation	5 (4%)	8 (6%)	38 (28%)	35 (27%)	31 (24%)	8 (6%)	3 (2%)	128 (100)
Promoting tree planting	4 (3%)	8 (6%)	31 (24%)	33 (26%)	29 (23%)	17 (13%)	6 (5%)	128 (100)
Promoting agroforestry	4 (3%)	5 (4%)	36 (28%)	36 (28%)	35 (27%)	8 (6%)	4 (3%)	128 (100)
Reducing reliance on firewood for energy	10 (8%)	11 (9%)	53 (41%)	23 (18%)	21 (16%)	7 (6%)	3 (2%)	128 (100)
Promoting the use of alternative building materials	8 (6%)	3 (2%)	30 (23%)	32 (25%)	36 (28%)	16 (13%)	3 (2%)	128 (100)
Awareness creation in climate change and forest ecosystem services	6 (5%)	7 (6%)	22 (17%)	32 (25%)	45 (35%)	12 (9%)	4 (3%)	128 (100)
Research, development, and innovation	5 (4%)	2 (2%)	36 (28%)	35 (27%)	39 (31%)	8 (6%)	3 (2%)	128 (100)

Since climate change is a cross-cutting phenomenon, the implementation strategies that our survey discovered cover various sectors but predominantly stem from the forestry and agriculture sectors. Our results reveal that awareness creation was the most effective strategy (n = 45, 35%), followed by research, development, and innovation (n = 39, 31%) and promoting the use of alternative building materials (n = 36, 28%). Promoting tree planting (n = 29, 23%) and reducing reliance on firewood as a source of energy (n = 21, 16%) were listed among the least effective strategy for policy instruments for climate change adaptation. The most ineffective strategies included reducing reliance on firewood for energy (n = 53, 41%) and minimizing deforestation (n = 38, 28%).

3.6. Challenges

Implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation in the mopane woodlands is faced with several challenges. Our results show some of our main challenges (Table 4).

Table 4. Challenges facing the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodland in northern Namibia.

Challenges	Extremely Insignificant	Very Insignificant	Insignificant	Not Sure	Significant	Very Significant	Extremely Significant	Total
Dry climatic conditions	4 (3%)	5 (4%)	10 (8%)	36 (28%)	37 (29%)	28 (22%)	8 (6%)	128 (100)
High unemployment rates and poverty exert pressure on forest ecosystems	5 (4%)	8 (6%)	12 (10%)	18 (14%)	28 (22%)	34 (27%)	23 (18%)	128 (100)
High demands for land for agricultural practices	4 (3%)	4 (3%)	5 (4%)	19 (15%)	41 (32%)	29 (23%)	26 (20%)	128 (100)
Inadequate awareness creation in rural communities	5 (4%)	5 (4%)	15 (12%)	31 (24%)	34 (27%)	26 (20%)	12 (10%)	128 (100)
Limited research and poor information dissemination	5 (4%)	6 (5%)	9 (7%)	26 (20%)	30 (23%)	38 (30%)	14 (11%)	128 (100)
Lack of funds for climate change adaptation measures	9 (7%)	6 (5%)	4 (3%)	22 (17%)	30 (23%)	40 (31%)	17 (13%)	128 (100)
Inadequate law enforcement officials due to low government budget	6 (5%)	3 (2%)	15 (12%)	22 (17%)	23 (18%)	38 (30%)	21 (16%)	128 (100)

Our results showed that the most significant challenges included high demands for land for agricultural practices (n = 41, 32%) and a lack of funds for climate change adaptation measures (n = 40, 31%). We further discovered limited research, poor information dissemination (n = 38, 30%), and inadequate law enforcement officials due to the low government budget (n = 38, 30%) among the main challenges. In addition, insufficient awareness creation in rural communities (n = 34, 27%) and dry climatic conditions (n = 37, 29%) were listed among the significant challenges in implementing climate change adaptation measures in the mopane woodlands.

We noted that most of the challenges in this study are associated with administrative aspects of climate change policy instruments and forest ecosystems. Only dry conditions can be classified as a natural challenge that can be difficult to control. Therefore, there are plenty of opportunities to improve the implementation and effectiveness of various policy instruments to maximize their potential.

3.7. Possible Improvements

Regarding the status of policy instruments for climate change adaptation in the context of forest ecosystems, opportunities, and challenges faced, our results offer possible improvements to enhance the framework for such various instruments (Figure 5).

The most significant recommended improvement for climate change policy instruments was awareness creation (n = 55, 43%), followed by funds for adaptation and mitigation measures (n = 17, 14%), rural community participatory approach (n = 9, 7%), and research and development (n = 9, 7%). The least recommended strategies included minimized land clearing for agricultural practices (n = 3, 2%), improved implementation (n = 3, 2%), and monitoring and evaluation of the policy instruments (n = 1, 1%).



Figure 5. Possible improvements for policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands according to stakeholders from various sectors.

From the recommendations by our respondents, we can conclude that there are plenty of opportunities for integrated policy instruments to effectively contribute to climate change adaptation in rural communities of the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia. However, more emphasis should be on awareness creation about climate change, its impacts, and existing policy instruments. It is worth highlighting that awareness creation and information dissemination are enormous challenges (Table 4) that require funding. Thus, our respondents recommended that funding for climate change policy instruments needs improvement. In view of this, it was suggested that research and development need improvement.

The issue of climate change is cross-cutting. Therefore, improving policy instruments will benefit all affected sectors. We discovered that the status of the implementation of policy instruments, their collective effectiveness, challenges, and recommended improvements are interlinked.

4. Discussion

Although our results were based on the perception of multiple experts representing various sectors in addition to the local communities, it is concerning that most of them revealed a lack of knowledge about climate change (Figure 4) and its existing integrated policy instruments at the rural and national levels. Most of the respondents were educated with a bachelor's degree taking dominance in terms of the level of education. Even though not all the experts, stakeholders, and local communities have qualifications in forestry and climate change, their education level can be a powerful tool to implement climate change actions in mopane woodlands effectively.

Although rural communities in the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia depend on forest resources for their livelihood, escalating desertification has led to the dominance of agricultural practices, mainly subsistence. As a result, the Communal Land Reform Act, which administers land tenure, was rated the most effective policy instrument for climate change adaptation (Table 2) in Northern Namibia's mopane woodlands. In addition, *C. mopane* is the most valuable in terms of utilization by local communities in the mopane woodlands [5]. Therefore, the Forest Act is important in governing the management and utilization of forest resources. In this case, the Forest Act, in alignment with principles for climate change adaptation, regulates access to forest resources, management of forest ecosystems, and utilization of forest resources in the mopane woodlands. As a result, it was identified among the most effective instruments in promoting climate change adaptation in *C. mopane* woodlands.

The Namibia National Forest Policy was rated the most active instrument along with the Communal Land Reform Act. Rural communities in the mopane woodlands depend on forest ecosystems and agriculture. Thus, these two policy instruments are critical in climate change adaptation in this area. However, Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan was the only policy instrument rated inactive. Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan is an implementation strategy for the National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia that was active between 2013–2020 [46].

Due to its natural ability to adapt to dry conditions, *C. mopane* is a tree species with high values for both socio-economic and biodiversity [30,31]. Therefore, the mopane woodlands play a critical role in carbon sequestration, supporting livelihood for rural communities, biodiversity, soil conservation, and forest ecosystem services in general [47]. However, mopane woodlands are constantly threatened by high demands for land for agriculture by local communities. Therefore, policy instruments for climate change adaptation in this area are essential. However, for the policy instruments to be effective in the mopane woodlands, various challenges, including a lack of communication [17], a lack of understanding/awareness of climate change, and exclusion of the rural communities from policy instrument formulation [7], need to be addressed.

Implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation faces various challenges, ranging from natural conditions to legislation and human activities. Natural conditions, arid and erratic conditions, particularly in the mopane woodlands [34,48,49], influence vegetation cover and, consequently, forest ecosystems in the area. Thus, this situation has influenced the effectiveness of policy instruments in the area.

Although there are various policy instruments for adaptation to climate change, policymakers, implementation institutions, and stakeholders do not appear to feel the urgency to prioritize policy instruments in the less forested mopane woodlands. However, it is essential to point out that this attitude is the critical driver of the lack of awareness of climate change and its policy instruments for adaptation in rural areas. Our results agree with previous research that local communities have a limited understanding of the phenomenon in rural areas [6,7]. This situation is concerning because local communities in rural areas are the most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change and will continue to degrade forest ecosystems for their livelihood.

5. Conclusions

A general understanding of the impacts of climate change is that they are severe in rural communities [45] because local communities live close to forest ecosystems [4,5]. In other words, they depend on forest resources for their livelihood. At the same time, rural communities tend to exert enormous pressure on forest ecosystems, which eventually affects forest ecosystem services and their role in climate change mitigation and adaptation, for example, carbon sequestration. Thus, ensuring the effectiveness of policy instruments for climate change in rural communities is essential in building resilience and adaptation to the impacts of climate change in these vulnerable communities. However, this subject did not receive sufficient attention from research in various regions, including southern Africa, especially in the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia.

In the present study, we conclude that the limited understanding of climate change, its impacts, dry conditions, and lack of funds for adaptation measures are significant challenges hampering policy instruments for adaptation. As highlighted earlier, *C. mopane*

ecosystems support livelihood for the rural communities in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia while contributing to biodiversity conservation. However, there is a concern that implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation will be challenging for local communities in the mopane woodlands due to the lack of general knowledge about climate change. Therefore, an emphasis on altering their reliance on forest resources for their livelihood by improving their awareness of the impacts of climate change is essential.

Finally, our study discovered that there are many opportunities to strengthen policy instruments for climate change adaptation in the rural communities of Namibia. However, there is a need for awareness creation for local communities and multiple stakeholders in implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in mopane wood-lands. It is also essential to incorporate climate change topics in primary education to equip future generations with the necessary knowledge of climate change adaptation actions.

Further research could explore adaptation activities at the local level that are not visible through national policies and how they can be improved. Finally, our study identifies a need for future research, including physiological characteristics of the *C. mopane* in terms of adaptation and mitigation to climate change, as well as the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation in promoting specific forest ecosystem services in mopane woodlands.

Limitations and Prospects for Future Research

One of the main obstacles in researching policy instruments for climate change adaptation in forest ecosystems in rural communities is the lack of data. As a result, our study employed an online survey involving multiple players and stakeholders. However, challenges such as the limited understanding of climate change among local communities in the study area and their limited access to the internet influenced their involvement in the survey. In other words, only local community members who have access to the internet were able to participate in this study. Although implementing policy instruments is a national approach, we limited our study to the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia, emphasizing the Omusati and Kunene regions due to the higher concentration of *C. mopane* in this area than elsewhere in the country.

Additionally, most of our respondents revealed a limited understanding of implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation. This situation has influenced their subsequent answers in the survey. Therefore, we recommend future research to evaluate the framework, strategies, effectiveness, and challenges faced in implementing the National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia, which is the catalyst for climate change adaptation and mitigation on the national level in the context of forest ecosystems.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization A.N. and M.H.; methodology, A.N.; software, A.N.; validation, M.H.; formal analysis, A.N.; investigation, A.N. and M.H.; resources, A.N. and M.H.; data curation, A.N.; writing—original draft preparation, A.N.; writing—review and editing, A.N.; visualization, A.N.; supervision, M.H.; project administration, M.H.; funding acquisition, M.H. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the Operational Program Research, Development, and Education, the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic, grant no. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16_019/0000803.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical conduct of the Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism, Namibia, and approved by the Directorate of Forestry of the Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism dated 18 August 2022.

Informed Consent Statement: Written informed consent has been obtained from the Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism of Namibia to publish this paper.

Data Availability Statement: All data relevant to the study are included in the article.

Acknowledgments: We would like to acknowledge the approval of the Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism (MEFT) of Namibiato conduct this research. We also want to thank individual

experts in climate change, policy instruments, and environmental sciences representing public, private, academic institutions, NGOs, and local communities from the Omusati and Kunene regions who participated in this study. Finally, we are grateful to the anonymous reviewers for their constructive reviews.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Appendix A

SURVEY ITEMS

SECTION A: DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

INSTRUCTION: Please put a cross (x) against the appropriate box to specify your choice.

1. Institution represented

2. Length in service at the institution/length of stay in the area

Less than 1 year	
1-5 years	
6-10 years	
10+ years	

3. Educational qualifications

None	
Grade 12	
Diploma	
Bachelor's degree	
Master's degree	
Doctorate Degree	

4. Position in the institution (for institutions only)

Top management	
Middle management	
Lower management	
Teaching staff/researcher	

SECTION B: POLICY INSTRUMENTS FOR CLIMATE CHANGE

1. Do you have any knowledge or experience in implementing policy instruments for climate change mitigation and adaptation in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia?

Very experienced	
Good knowledge	
Limited knowledge	
No knowledge at all	

2. How do you rate the implementation of the following policy instruments for climate change mitigation and adaptation measures in mopane woodlands in north-central Namibia?

Policy instruments	Extremely	Very	Inactive	Active	Very	Extremely
	inactive	inactive			active	active
Namibia's Climate Change Strategy						
and Action Plan						
National Policy on						
Climate Change for Namibia						
National Environmental Education						
and Education for Sustainable						
Development Policy						
The Nature Conservation Ordinance						
No. 4 of 1975						
The Communal Land Reform Act						
Namibia National Forest Policy						
Forestry Strategic Plan						
The Forest Act						

3. How do you rate the strategies used in the implementation of policy instruments to promote climate change adaptation and mitigation measures in mopane woodlands?

Policy instruments	Extremely	Very	Ineffective	Effective	Very	Extremely
	ineffective	ineffective			effective	effective
Minimizing deforestation						
Promoting tree planting						
Promoting agroforestry						
Reducing reliance on firewood as						
a source of energy						
Promoting alternative building						
materials						
Awareness creation in climate						
change and forest ecosystem						
services						
Research, development, and						
innovation						

4. How do you rate the effectiveness of the following policy instruments for climate change mitigation and adaptation measures in mopane woodlands?

Policy instruments	Extremely ineffective	Very ineffective	Ineffective	Effective	Very effective	Extremely effective
Namibia's Climate Change						
Strategy and Action Plan						
National Policy on						
Climate Change for Namibia						
National Environmental Education						
and Education for Sustainable						
Development Policy						
The Nature Conservation						
Ordinance No. 4 of 1975						
The Communal Land Reform Act						
Namibia National Forest Policy						
Forestry Strategic Plan						
The Forest Act						

5. How do you rate the impacts of the challenges below on the implementation of policy instruments for climate change mitigation and adaptation measures in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia?

Policy instruments	Extremely insignificant	Very insignificant	insignificant	Significant	Very significant	Extremely significant
Harsh and dry climatic conditions						
High unemployment rates and						
poverty exert pressure on forest						
ecosystems						
High population growth rates/high						
demands for land for crop						
cultivation						
High demands for grazing land						
Low awareness about the impacts						
of climate change among local communities						
Limited research and poor						
information dissemination						
Lack of funds for climate change						
mitigation and adaptation						
measures						
Limited law enforcement officials						
due to low government budget						
Other (specify)						

6. What recommendations would you make to improve the implementation of policy instruments for climate change mitigation and adaptation measures in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia?

.....

THANK YOU FOR YOUR TIME.

Appendix B

DATA

Educational Level	Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)	Valid Percentage (%)	Cumulative Percent (%)
Grade 12	14	9.2	10.9	10.9
Certificate	2	1.3	1.6	12.5
Diploma	21	13.8	16.4	28.9
Bachelor's degree	66	43.4	51.6	80.5
Master's degree	19	12.5	14.8	95.3
Doctoral degree	6	3.9	4.7	100
Total	128	84.2	100	

 Table A2. Knowledge about climate change policy instruments.

Knowledge about Climate Change Policy Instruments	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Experienced	3	2
Excellent knowledge	11	9
Good knowledge	48	38
Limited knowledge	47	37
No knowledge	19	15
TOTAL	128	100

 Table A3. The implementation of policy instruments.

Policy Instruments	Extremely Inactive	Very Inactive	Inactive	Not Sure	Active	Very Active	Extremely Active	Total
Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan	4 (3.1%)	11 (8.6%)	29 (22.7%)	50 (39.1%)	27 (21.1%)	6 (4.7%)	1 (0.8%)	128 (100)
National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia	5 (3.9%)	7 (5.5%)	20 (15.6%)	51 (39.8%)	32 (25.0%)	10 (7.8%)	3 (2.3%)	128 (100)
National Environmental Education and Education for Sustainable Development Policy	5 (3.9%)	9 (7.0%)	22 (17.2%)	38 (29.7%)	45 (35.2%)	8 (6.3%)	1 (0.8%)	128 (100)
The Nature Conservation Ordinance No. 4 of 1975	4 (3.1%)	7 (5.5%)	8 (6.3%)	46 (35.9%)	44 (34.4%)	15 (11.7%)	4 (3.1%)	128 (100)
The Communal Land Reform Act	3 (2.3%)	7 (5.5%)	14 (10.9%)	36 (28.1%)	47 (36.7%)	18 (14.1%)	3 (2.3%)	128 (100)
Namibia National Forest Policy	2 (1.6%)	8 (6.3%)	10 (7.8%)	36 (28.1%)	51 (39.8%)	17 (13.3%)	4 (3.1%)	128 (100)
Forestry Strategic Plan	4 (3.1%)	5 (3.9%)	15 (11.7%)	57 (44.5%)	36 (28.1%)	7 (5.5%)	4 (3.1%)	128 (100)
The Forest Act	2 (1.6%)	5 (3.9%)	9 (7.0%)	43 (33.6%)	45 (35.2%)	21 (16.4%)	3 (2.3%)	128 (100)

Policy Instruments	Extremely Ineffective	Very Ineffective	Ineffective	Not Sure	Effective	Very Effective	Extremely Effective	Total
Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan	4 (3.1%)	5 (3.9%)	23 (18.0%)	51 (39.8%)	37 (28.9%)	5 (3.9%)	3 (2.3%)	128 (100)
National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia	4 (3.1%)	4 (3.1%)	20 (15.6%)	49 (38.3%)	41 (32.0%)	9 (7.0%)	1 (0.8%)	128 (100)
National Environmental Education and Education for Sustainable Development Policy	4 (3.1%)	3 (2.3%)	24 (18.8%)	39 (30.5%)	43 (33.6%)	10 (7.8%)	5 (3.9%)	128 (100)
The Nature Conservation Ordinance No. 4 of 1975	4 (3.1%)	5 (3.9%)	14 (10.9%)	41 (32.0%)	44 (34.4%)	16 (12.5%)	4 (3.1%)	128 (100)
The Communal Land Reform Act	3 (2.3%)	2 (1.6%)	17 (13.3%)	36 (28.1%)	54 (42.2%)	14 (10.9%)	2 (1.6%)	128 (100)
Namibia National Forest Policy	3 (2.3%)	2 (1.6%)	14 (10.9%)	53 (41.4%)	35 (27.3%)	18 (14.1%)	3 (2.3%)	128 (100)
Forestry Strategic Plan	4 (3.1%)	4 (3.1%)	14 (10.9%)	58 (45.3%)	36 (28.1%)	10 (7.8%)	2 (1.6%)	128 (100)
The Forest Act	4 (3.1%)	2 (1.6%)	11 (8.6%)	45 (35.2%)	51 (39.8%)	13 (10.2%)	2 (1.6%)	128 (100)

 Table A4. Effectiveness of the policy instruments.

Table A5. Implementation strategies.

Strategies	Extremely Ineffective	Very Ineffective	Ineffective	Not Sure	Effective	Very Effective	Extremely Effective	Total
Minimizing deforestation	5 (3.9%)	8 (6.3%)	38 (29.7%)	35 (27.3%)	31 (24.2%)	8 (6.3%)	3 (2.3%)	128 (100)
Promoting tree planting	4 (3.1%)	8 (6.3%)	31 (24.2%)	33 (25.8%)	29 (22.7%)	17 (13.3%	6 (4.7%)	128 (100)
Promoting agroforestry	4 (3.1%)	5 (3.9%)	36 (28.1%)	36 (28.1%)	35 (27.3%)	8 (6.3%)	4 (3.1%)	128 (100)
Reducing reliance on firewood as a source of energy	10 (7.8%)	11 (8.6%)	53 (41.4%)	23 (18.0%)	21 (16.4%)	7 (5.5%)	3 (2.3%)	128 (100)
Promoting alternative building materials	8 (6.3%)	3 (2.3%)	30 (23.4%)	32 (25.0%)	36 (28.1%)	16 (12.5%)	3 (2.3%)	128 (100)
Awareness creation in climate change and forest ecosystem services	6 (4.7%)	7 (5.5%)	22 (17.2%)	32 (25.0%)	45 (35.2%)	12 (9.4%)	4 (3.1%)	128 (100)
Research, development, and innovation	5 (3.9%)	2 (1.6%)	36 (28.1%)	35 (27.3%)	39 (30.5%)	8 (6.3%)	3 (2.3%)	128 (100)

Table A6. Challenges.

Challenges	Extremely Insignificant	Very Insignificant	Insignificant	Not Sure	Significant	Very Sig- nificant	Extremely Significant	Total
Harsh and dry climatic conditions	4 (3.1%)	5 (3.9%)	10 (7.8%)	36 (28.1%)	37 (28.9%)	28 (21.9%)	8 (6.3%)	128 (100)
High unemployment rates and poverty exert pressure on forest ecosystems	5 (3.9%)	8 (6.3%)	12 (9.4%)	18 (14.1%)	28 (21.9%)	34 (26.6%)	23 (18.0%)	128 (100)
High demands for grazing land	4 (3.1%)	4 (3.1%)	5 (3.9%)	19 (14.8%)	41 (32.0%)	29 (22.7%)	26 (20.3%)	128 (100)
Low awareness about the impacts of climate change among local communities	5 (3.9%)	5 (3.9%)	15 (11.7%)	31 (24.2%)	34 (26.6%)	26 (20.3%)	12 (9.4%)	128 (100)

Challenges	Extremely Insignificant	Very Insignificant	Insignifican	t Not Sure	Significant	Very Sig- nificant	Extremely Significant	Total
Limited research and poor information dissemination	5 (3.9%)	6 (4.7%)	9 (7.0%)	26 (20.3%)	30 (23.4%)	38 (29.7%)	14 (10.9%)	128 (100)
Lack of funds for climate change mitigation and adaptation measures	9 (7.0%)	6 (4.7%)	4 (3.1%)	22 (17.2%)	30 (23.4%)	40 (31.3%)	17 (13.3%)	128 (100)
Limited law enforcement officials due to low government budget	6 (4.7%)	3 (2.3%)	15 (11.7%)	22 (17.2%)	23 (18.0%)	38 (29.7%)	21 (16.4%)	128 (100)

Table A6. Cont.

Table A7. Possible improvements.

Recommendations	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Awareness creation & public education	80	43%
Fund for adaptation & mitigation	26	14%
Rural communities' participatory approach	13	7%
Research & development	13	7%
Active stakeholders' participation	11	6%
Review of policy instruments	8	4%
Alternative building materials	8	4%
Law enforcement	7	4%
Afforestation & reforestation	6	3%
Climate change in basic education	5	3%
Minimize land clearing for agriculture	3	2%
Improve implementation	3	2%
Monitoring & evaluation	2	1%
Total	185	100%

References

- 1. ORC. Profile of Omusati Region. Outapi: Omusati Regional Council; Omusati Regional Council: Outapi, Namibia, 2010.
- Haukongo, C. An Assessment of Determinants of Adaptive Capacity of Livestock Farmers to Climate Change in Omusati Region, a Case of Onesi Constituency. In Proceedings of the 5th International Climate Change Adaptation Conference, Cape Town, South Africa, 18–21 June 2018.
- 3. Keskitalo, E.; Juhola, S.; Baron, N.; Fyhn, H.; Klein, J. Implementing Local Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation Actions: The Role of Various Policy Instruments in a Multi-Level Governance Context. *Climate* **2016**, *4*, 7. [CrossRef]
- Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M. Namibia's National Forest Policy on Rural Development—A Case Study of Uukolonkadhi Community Forest. Agric. Trop. Subtrop. 2015, 48, 11–17. [CrossRef]
- 5. Vrabcová, P.; Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M. Utilization of Forest Resources and Socio-Economic Development in Uukolonkadhi Community Forest of Namibia. *Acta Univ. Agric. Silvic. Mendel. Brun.* **2019**, *67*, 197–206. [CrossRef]
- Korir, J.C. Level of Awareness about Climate Change among the Pastoral Community. *Environ. Ecol. Res.* 2019, 7, 197–207. [CrossRef]
- Sibiya, N.; Sithole, M.; Mudau, L.; Simatele, M.D. Empowering the Voiceless: Securing the Participation of Marginalised Groups in Climate Change Governance in South Africa. *Sustainability* 2022, 14, 7111. [CrossRef]
- Froehlich, P.; Al-Saidi, M. Local Community Perception of Climate Change Adaptation in Egypt. *IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci.* 2018, 191, 012003. [CrossRef]
- 9. Singh, C.; Iyer, S.; New, M.G.; Few, R.; Kuchimanchi, B.; Segnon, A.C.; Morchain, D. Interrogating 'Effectiveness' in Climate Change Adaptation: 11 Guiding Principles for Adaptation Research and Practice. *Clim. Dev.* **2021**, *14*, 650–664. [CrossRef]
- 10. United Nations. Paris Agreement; United Nations: New York, NY, USA, 2015.
- 11. Yazykova, S.; Bruch, C. Incorporating Climate Change Adaptation Into Framework Environmental Laws. *Environ. Law Inst.* 2018, 48, 10334.
- England, M.I.; Dougill, A.J.; Stringer, L.C.; Vincent, K.E.; Pardoe, J.; Kalaba, F.K.; Mkwambisi, D.D.; Namaganda, E.; Afionis, S. Climate Change Adaptation and Cross-Sectoral Policy Coherence in Southern Africa. *Reg. Environ. Chang.* 2018, 18, 2059–2071. [CrossRef]
- Roberts, D. Prioritizing Climate Change Adaptation and Local Level Resilience in Durban, South Africa. *Environ. Urban.* 2010, 22, 397–413. [CrossRef]
- 14. Environmental Law and Policy in Namibia: Towards Making Africa the Tree of Life, 3rd ed.; Fully Revised and Updated; Ruppel, O.C., Ruppel-Schlichting, K., Eds.; Hanns Seidel Foundation: Klein-Windhoek, Namibia, 2016.

- 15. Ministry of Environment and Tourism. *National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia;* Ministry of Environment and Tourism: Windhoek, Namibia, 2010.
- Ulibarri, N.; Ajibade, I.; Galappaththi, E.K.; Joe, E.T.; Lesnikowski, A.; Mach, K.J.; Musah-Surugu, J.I.; Nagle Alverio, G.; Segnon, A.C.; Siders, A.R.; et al. A Global Assessment of Policy Tools to Support Climate Adaptation. *Clim. Policy* 2022, 22, 77–96. [CrossRef]
- 17. Chersich, M.F.; Wright, C.Y. Climate Change Adaptation in South Africa: A Case Study on the Role of the Health Sector. *Glob. Health* **2019**, *15*, 22. [CrossRef]
- Newsham, A.J.; Thomas, D.S.G. Knowing, Farming and Climate Change Adaptation in North-Central Namibia. *Glob. Environ. Chang.* 2011, 21, 761–770. [CrossRef]
- Amesho, K.T.T.; Edoun, E.I.; Iikela, S.; Kadhila, T.; Nangombe, L.R. Absorbed Power Density Approach for Optimal Design of Heaving Point Absorber Wave Energy Converter: A Case Study of Durban Sea Characteristics. J. Energy S. Afr. 2022, 33, 86–102. [CrossRef]
- Keja-Kaereho, C.; Faculty of Economics and Management Sciences, University of Namibia, Windhoek, Namibia; Tjizu, B.R.; Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences, University of Namibia, Windhoek, Namibia. Climate Change and Global Warming in Namibia: Environmental Disasters vs. Human Life and the Economy. *Manag. Econ. Res. J.* 2019, *5*, 1. [CrossRef]
- Kapuka, A.; Hlásny, T. Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards in Namibia: A District-Based Analysis. Sustainability 2020, 12, 4910. [CrossRef]
- Wingate, V.R.; Kuhn, N.J.; Phinn, S.R.; van der Waal, C. Mapping Trends in Woody Cover throughout Namibian Savanna with MODIS Seasonal Phenological Metrics and Field Inventory Data; Preprint; Biodiversity and Ecosystem Function: Basel, Switzerland, 2019. [CrossRef]
- Lendelvo, S.N.; Angula, M.; Mogotsi, I.; Aribeb, K. Towards the Reduction of Vulnerabilities and Risks of Climate Change in the Community-Based Tourism, Namibia. In *Natural Hazards—Risk Assessment and Vulnerability Reduction*; Simão Antunes do Carmo, J., Ed.; IntechOpen: London, UK, 2018. [CrossRef]
- 24. Spear, D.; Chappel, A. Livelihoods on the Edge without a Safety Net: The Case of Smallholder Crop Farming in North-Central Namibia. *Land* **2018**, *7*, 79. [CrossRef]
- 25. Naidoo, S.; Davis, C.; Archer van Garderen, E. *Forests, Rangelands and Climate Change in Southern Africa*; Forests and Climate Change Working Paper, No. 12; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 2013.
- Musvoto, C.; Mapaure, I.; Gondo, T.; Ndeinoma, A.; Mujawo, T. Reality and Preferences in Community Mopane (Colophospermum Mopane) Woodland Management in Zimbabwe and Namibia. *Int. J. Soc. Sci.* 2007, 1, 173–177.
- 27. Reid, H.; Sahlén, L.; Stage, J.; MacGregor, J. *The Economic Impact of Climate Change in Namibia: How Climate Change will Affect the Contribution of Namibia's Natural Resources to its Economy;* Environmental Economics Programme Discussion Paper 07-02; International Institute for Environment and Development: London, UK, 2007.
- Simataa, A.; Simataa, E. Namibian Multilingualism and Sustainable Development. JULACE J. Univ. Namib. Lang. Cent. 2017, 2, 26–37.
- 29. World Bank Group. Climate Risk Country Profile: Namibia; World Bank Group: Washington, DC, USA, 2021; p. 20433.
- Krug, J.H.A. Adaptation of Colophospermum mopane to Extra-Seasonal Drought Conditions: Site-Vegetation Relations in Dry-Deciduous Forests of Zambezi Region (Namibia). For. Ecosyst. 2017, 4, 25. [CrossRef]
- Makhado, R.A.; Mapaure, I.; Potgieter, M.J.; Luus-Powell, W.J.; Saidi, A.T. Factors Influencing the Adaptation and Distribution of Colophospermum Mopane in Southern Africa's Mopane Savannas—A Review. *Bothalia* 2014, 44, 9. [CrossRef]
- Olson, D.M.; Dinerstein, E.; Wikramanayake, E.D.; Burgess, N.D.; Powell, G.V.N.; Underwood, E.C.; D'amico, J.A.; Itoua, I.; Strand, H.E.; Morrison, J.C.; et al. Terrestrial Ecoregions of the World: A New Map of Life on Earth. *BioScience* 2001, *51*, 933. [CrossRef]
- Krug, J.; Eriksson, H.; Heidecke, C.; Kellomäki, S.; Köhl, M.; Lindner, M.; Saikkonen, K. Socio-Economic Impacts—Forestry and Agriculture. In Second Assessment of Climate Change for the Baltic Sea Basin; The BACC II Author Team, Ed.; Regional Climate Studies; Springer International Publishing: Cham, Switzerland, 2015; pp. 399–409. [CrossRef]
- 34. Teshirogi, K.; Yamashina, C.; Fujioka, Y. Variations in Mopane Vegetation and Its Use by Local People: Comparison of Four Sites in Northern Namibia. *Afr. Study Monogr.* **2017**, *38*, 5–25. [CrossRef]
- 35. Ruppel, O.C.; Ruppel-Schlichting, K. (Eds.) *Environmental Law and Policy in Namibia: Towards Making Africa the Tree of Life;* Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft Mbh & Co.: KG Baden-Baden, Germany, 2022. [CrossRef]
- Leichenko, R.; Silva, J.A. Climate Change and Poverty: Vulnerability, Impacts, and Alleviation Strategies. WIREs Clim. Chang. 2014, 5, 539–556. [CrossRef]
- Lal, P.; Alavalapati, J.R.R.; Mercer, E.D. Socio-Economic Impacts of Climate Change on Rural United States. *Mitig. Adapt. Strateg. Glob. Chang.* 2011, 16, 819–844. [CrossRef]
- 38. Kunene Regional Council. Kunene Regional Development Profile 2015; The Ultimate Frontier: Windhoek, Namibia, 2015.
- Lubinda, M. Factsheet: Climate Change The Definition, Causes, Effects, and Responses in Namibia. *Desert Res. Found. Namib.* 2015. Available online: www.enviro-awareness.org.na (accessed on 14 August 2022).
- Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism. Republic of Namibia: First Adaptation Communication: Namibia's Climate Change Adaptation Communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC); Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism: Windhoek, Namibia, 2021.

- 41. Rahman, A.; Muktadir, M.G. SPSS: An Imperative Quantitative Data Analysis Tool for Social Science Research. *Int. J. Res. Innov. Soc. Sci.* 2021, *5*, 300–302. [CrossRef]
- 42. Anderson, R. Thematic Content Analysis (TCA): Descriptive Presentation of Qualitative Data. *Inst. Transpers. Psychol.* 2004, 32, 307–341.
- Kiger, M.E.; Varpio, L. Thematic Analysis of Qualitative Data: AMEE Guide No 131. Med. Teach. 2020, 42, 846–854. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Feinstein, N.W.; Mach, K.J. Three Roles for Education in Climate Change Adaptation. Clim. Policy 2020, 20, 317–322. [CrossRef]
- 45. Inman, E.N.; Hobbs, R.J.; Tsvuura, Z. No Safety Net in the Face of Climate Change: The Case of Pastoralists in Kunene Region, Namibia. *PLoS ONE* **2020**, *15*, e0238982. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 46. Ministry of Environment and Tourism. *National Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan;* Ministry of Environment and Tourism: Windhoek, Namibia, 2013.
- 47. Jenkins, M.; Schaap, B. Background Analytical Study 1: Forest Ecosystem Services. For. Ecosyst. Serv. 2018, 5, 5.
- Mupambwa, H.A.; Hausiku, M.K.; Nciizah, A.D.; Dube, E. The Unique Namib Desert-Coastal Region and Its Opportunities for Climate Smart Agriculture: A Review. Cogent Food Agric. 2019, 5, 1645258. [CrossRef]
- 49. Shikangalah, R.N. The 2019 Drought in Namibia: An Overview. J. Namib. Stud. 2020, 27, 37–58.

Manuscript 2

Authors: Nikodemus, A., Hájek, M., Ndeinoma, A., Purwestri, R.C.

Tittle: Forest Ecosystem Services-Based Adaptation Actions Supported by the National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia: Effectiveness, Indicators, and Challenges

Journal: Forests, (2022), 13, 1965. https://doi.org/10.3390/f13111965

Personal Contributions: Conceptualization (100%), study design (100%), dataset compilation (100%), data processing and analysis (98%), manuscript writing and artwork (98%), corresponding author.



Publication certificate for article 2





Article Forest Ecosystem Services-Based Adaptation Actions Supported by the National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia: Effectiveness, Indicators, and Challenges

Andreas Nikodemus *🗅, Miroslav Hájek, Albertina Ndeinoma and Ratna Chrismiari Purwestri 🕩

Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamýcká 129, 165 00 Prague, Czech Republic

* Correspondence: nikodemus@fld.czu.cz

Abstract: Forest ecosystem services are crucial in adaptation, mitigation, and increasing climate change resilience. Although most climate change policies promote adaptation actions in forest ecosystem services, there are limited studies focusing on the forest ecosystem services-based adaptation actions supported by the National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia (NPCC). This paper aims to assess the effectiveness of forestry adaptation actions of the NPCC. An independent *t*-test for non-categorical data was used for the statistical analysis to compare mean scores of the implementation effectiveness of adaptation actions and challenges before and after the NPCC implementation, according to the perceptions of forestry and climate change cross-sectoral experts. A *p*-value less than 0.05 (p < 0.05) was designated as the statistical significance. Adaptation actions in forest ecosystem services were significantly effective after the introduction of the NPCC. Biodiversity and carbon sequestration were significantly effective after the introduction of the NPCC. The most significant challenges identified were the lack of awareness, which affected adaptation actions before and after the policy. Afforestation, reforestation, awareness, and forestry research need strengthening to improve the effectiveness of the NPCC. Although our results showed that adaptation actions supported by the NPCC were generally effective after the introduction of the policy, we identified some implementation areas that require strengthening, mainly through research, to help in sound decision-making. We, therefore, recommend future research to analyze the strengths, weaknesses, threats, and opportunities (SWOT) of the NPCC and consequently design/propose a framework for forest ecosystem services-based adaptation actions in the policy to improve adaptation actions.

Keywords: biodiversity; carbon sequestration; soil conservation; socio-economic benefits; Southern Africa; local communities; vulnerability

1. Introduction

All actions toward climate change adaptation at all levels comply with the Paris Agreement, which aims to reach an international goal of adaptation to climate change [1,2]. This goal seeks to ensure an adequate adaptation response to the global temperature goal, enhancing adaptive capacity, strengthening resilience, and reducing vulnerability to climate change, ultimately contributing to sustainable development [2]. Hence, achieving an adequate adaptation response to the impacts of climate change will require continuous efforts from integrated policy instruments at global, regional, and national levels [3].

On the national level, most countries formulated cross-sectoral policy instruments and strategic national-level actions to promote climate-friendly forestry activities while discouraging climate-adverse ones [4]. For example, China adopted a low-carbon city pilot policy, which was evaluated to effectively reduce carbon emissions while negatively affecting urban land use efficiency [5]. One of the main actions is restoring the vulnerable forests to regain vitality and vigor while safeguarding the local livelihood options [6].



Citation: Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M.; Ndeinoma, A.; Purwestri, R.C. Forest Ecosystem Services-Based Adaptation Actions Supported by the National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia: Effectiveness, Indicators, and Challenges. *Forests* 2022, 13, 1965. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/f13111965

Academic Editor: Francisca C. Aguiar

Received: 1 November 2022 Accepted: 18 November 2022 Published: 21 November 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). Carbon sequestration, watershed services, soil conservation, biodiversity, and recreational and cultural values [6,7] are part of the primary forest ecosystem services that play a critical role in climate change adaptation and mitigation [8,9]. Climate change affects these forest ecosystem services differently [10]. For example, climate change has a direct and indirect influence on forest biodiversity across the globe [11]. As a result, political support is essential for the systematic integration of ecosystem management into climate change adaptation and policy frameworks and practices [12]. In addition, ecosystembased climate change adaptation is now recognized by international agreements and policy instruments [13].

The implementation of climate change adaptation policies can be nature-based or technical. However, in the context of European forest ecosystems, nature-based policies, including biodiversity, ecosystem services, and human well-being, were more cost-effective and better at coping with the ethical and inequality issues associated with the distributional impacts of the policy actions [14]. Although ecosystem-based policies might differ in terms of the ecosystem services they focus on, they must be coherent [15].

Namibia is the driest country in sub-Saharan Africa [16]. The country is characterized by high climatic variability in the form of persistent droughts, unpredictable and variable rainfall patterns, variability in temperatures, and scarcity of water [17,18]. The climate in Namibia is typically hot and dry, with an average annual temperature of $18-22 \,^{\circ}C$ [19]. As a result, the country is significantly vulnerable to the impacts of climate change [20,21]. In addition to its highly variable climate, Namibia's acute vulnerability to climate change is also influenced by the high reliance of local livelihoods and important economic sectors on climate-related natural resources such as forest ecosystem services [22–26].

The unique climate conditions of Namibia and its high vulnerability to climate change call for robust policies to guide action on climate change in Namibia at the national level [18]. Hence, the NPCC was adopted in 2011 [27]. The National Climate Change Committee (NCCC) oversees the implementation of the NPCC and comprises representatives of various ministries and other stakeholders, such as the private sector and NGOs [27,28]. The NCCC is chaired by the Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism (MEFT). The NPCC provides an institutional framework and overarching national strategy for developing, implementing, monitoring, and evaluating climate change mitigation and adaptation activities in Namibia [28]. The NPCC aims to lower Namibia's vulnerability to climate change to contribute to sustainable development in line with Namibia's Vision 2030 [29].

Since climate change is a complex global problem [30], the NPCC was designed to manage climate change responses in a way that recognizes national developmental goals and promotes the integration and coordination of programs of various sector organizations [16]. While climate change issues have been mainstreamed across the country's key sectors, such as agriculture, water resources, tourism, and health, these policies do not include concrete actions to mitigate climate change risks [27]. Hence, Namibia is currently developing its first Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Action (NAMA) and is working on its National Adaptation Plan (NAP) to better guide the country on its way to mitigating and adapting to climate change [27].

Forest ecosystem services play a crucial role in adaptation, mitigation, and increasing resilience to climate change [31]. Forest ecosystem services such as carbon sequestration and biodiversity all contribute to climate change adaptation [13]. Due to its dry conditions, temperature variability, and erratic rainfalls [17,18], Namibia's forests are characterized by savannah woodlands with a combination of trees and shrubs [32]. Despite the status of the forests of Namibia, the question that remains not answered is whether adaptation actions supported by the NPCC were framed in such a way that they promote resilience, adaptation, and mitigation in the context of forest ecosystem services at the national level.

In the context of forest ecosystem services, the focus area of the NPCC encompasses afforestation, reforestation, agroforestry, commercial forestry, community-based forest management, and woodland management [16]. Although continued efforts to increase the country's resilience capabilities and strengthen the country's social and economic structures against vulnerability take forestry into account as one of the country's most vulnerable sectors [27], there is limited scientific knowledge about specific adaptation actions focusing on Namibia's unique forest ecosystem services within the framework of the NPCC. Secondly, there is no clear scientific evidence of the effectiveness and challenges facing the existing adaptation actions supported by the NPCC in forest ecosystem services. Furthermore, the factors influencing the implementation of the NPCC adaptation actions in forestry have not yet been investigated.

Therefore, it is unclear whether the existing NPCC's measures for climate change adaptation in forest ecosystem services at the national level are adequate. Hence, it is difficult for policymakers to formulate policy actions that address climate change adaptation adequately through forest ecosystem services. Thus, it is crucial to establish a sound understanding in this area because when forest ecosystem managers and policymakers are well-informed, they can benefit from policy actions to support climate change mitigation and adaptation actions [33].

This paper aims to assess the effectiveness of forest ecosystem services-based adaptation actions supported by the NPCC. To achieve the paper's goal, we compare the current adaptation actions with the measures that were implemented before the policy's introduction. Finally, we propose improvements to effectively implement the NPCC and strengthen the adaptive capacity of all types of forest ecosystem services in Namibia.

2. Methods

2.1. Study Area

The study focused on Namibia, a developing country situated in south-western Africa, between latitude 17° S and 29° S and longitude 11° E and 26° E. It shares borders with Angola to the north, South Africa to the south, Botswana to the east, and Zambia to the northeast [19,27]. Namibia is a sparsely populated country with a population of 2.5 million and covers a total surface area of 824,292 km² [34].

In addition, its dry conditions significantly influence forest cover [26,35]. It is estimated that forests and woodlands in Namibia cover approximately 20% (about 53 million ha) of the total surface area [36]. Various factors, such as land use, including crop cultivation, affect forest cover in Namibia. In addition, vegetation types are distributed across the country according to climate variability (Figure 1).



Figure 1. A map of the study area (Namibia) and key descriptions, (**a**) vegetation types, (**b**) precipitation variability, (**c**) the location of Namibia on the map of Africa, and (**d**) temperature variability.

Namibia is between two deserts; the Namib Desert stretches along its west coast, and the Kalahari Desert borders its eastern and southern neighbors, Botswana and South Africa [26]. Due to its geographical location, Namibia's three main vegetation types can be classified as woodlands, savannas (grass cover, trees, and shrubs), and deserts (Namib grassland) [37,38]. Therefore, it is worth noting that climate variability and the nature of vegetation types are the main attributes influencing the level of adaptation actions in forest ecosystems in Namibia.

2.2. Survey

To achieve the aim of the study, we purposively collected data from forestry and climate change experts representing different institutions, including public, private, and government projects, academics, and researchers. We selected specific institutions based on their involvement in climate change adaptation and related activities, mainly research and forest ecosystems management. Since we focused on the practical implementation of the policy, which required a deeper understanding of the policy, we excluded ordinary citizens. Ordinary citizens lack practical understanding of the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions [39].

From public institutions, we focused on senior employees, for example, in the Directorate of Forestry (DoF), which is the custodian of forest ecosystem services. We also involved senior employees from the Ministry of Agriculture, Water and Land Reform (MAWLR). Agriculture and forestry have various integrated management approaches that influence forest management practices in Namibia. We also included multiple projects under the Climate Unit of MEFT, such as the Namibia Integrated Landscape Approach for Enhancing Livelihoods and Environmental Governance to Eradicate Poverty (NILALEG), Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), the National Communications, Biannual update reports, and Greenhouse gas inventory, Capacity-building Initiative for Transparency Stakeholder engagement (CBIT) and Climate Promise and the Southern African Science Service Centre for Climate Change and Adaptive Land Management (SASSCAL).

For academic institutions, we focused on the lecturers and researchers from the two prominent local universities, namely the departments of environmental sciences at the University of Namibia (UNAM) and the department of agriculture and natural resource sciences at the Namibia University of Science and Technology (NUST).

Since we assessed the effectiveness of adaptation actions before (2001–2010) and after the policy's launch (2011–2021), there were few experts with relevant experience in implementing climate change adaptation approaches in forestry. As mentioned earlier, Namibia is a sparsely populated country with sparsely forested land. As a result, we purposively shared the survey link with 40 cross-sectional experts. However, we could only collect results from 36 cross-sectoral experts, translating into a 90% response rate.

2.3. Data Collection

We administered the questionnaire (Appendix A) to the experts from 27 August 2022 to 30 September 2022, which accounts for 35 days of data collection, including weekends and public holidays. We shared the link for an online semi-structured questionnaire (Survio 2022 version) with target respondents via email, WhatsApp, and LinkedIn. We used these platforms because they are user-friendly, cheap, and commonly used by most professionals daily. We employed an online questionnaire due to its attributes, such that it is less costly, less time-consuming, flexible, and convenient to complete, especially for senior experts occupying busy offices.

Since most of the experts hold higher positions with busy schedules, we made several follow-ups to remind them to participate in the survey. We strategically sent reminder alerts every Monday and every Friday of the week during the survey period. A pre-test survey was conducted with two respondents to ensure the relevancy and accuracy of the questions before the actual data collection.

2.4. Statistical Analysis

We used the independent *t*-test for non-categorical data for the statistical analysis to compare mean scores of the implementation effectiveness, actions, and challenges before and after the NPCC implementation, according to the expert's perceptions (Appendix B). We designated a *p*-value less than 0.05 (p < 0.05) as the statistical significance. We performed all the analysis using IBM SPSS version 28 (IBM Corp. Armonk, NY, USA).

The independent samples *t*-test can be represented using the functions below:

$$t = \frac{\overline{x}_1 - \overline{x}_2}{s_p \sqrt{\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}}}$$

with

$$s_p = \sqrt{\frac{(n_1 - 1)s_1^2 + (n_2 - 1)s_2^2}{n_1 + n_2 - 2}}$$

where

 \overline{x}_1 = Mean of first sample

 \overline{x}_2 = Mean of second sample

 n_1 = Sample size (i.e., number of observations) of first sample

 n_2 = Sample size (i.e., number of observations) of second sample

 s_1 = Standard deviation of first sample

 s_2 = Standard deviation of second sample

 s_p = Pooled standard deviation

As mentioned earlier, our analysis focused on 10 time series before and after the introduction of the NPCC. That is, 10 years (2001–2010) before the policy's launch and 10 years after (2012–2021). We excluded the year 2011 because the policy's effects were most likely not evident in the first year of its implementation. Second, to establish the impact of the temporal implementation status of the policy on the adaptive capacity of forest ecosystem services, we computed an independent *t*-test to compare the overall adaptation levels.

2.5. Qualitative Analysis

For qualitative analysis, we used ATLAS.ti Scientific Software Development GmbH version 22.2.4 (Berlin, Germany) to code and organize qualitative data. Qualitative data were used to explore the experts' perceptions about possible improvements for the implementation actions of the NPCC. Qualitative data were coded according to relevant themes (codes) derived from the proposed revisions for the NPCC.

3. Results

3.1. Effectiveness

Forest ecosystem services manifest primarily in seven services (Table 1). Since climate change affects each type of forest ecosystem in different ways [10], our assessments for the effectiveness of adaptation actions were based on the main forest ecosystems, namely biodiversity, carbon sequestration, soil conservation, socio-economic benefits, recreational and cultural values, watershed services, and high conservation values.

Our results showed that adaptation actions in forest ecosystem services, namely biodiversity (4.36 ± 1.52), carbon sequestration (3.06 ± 1.35), soil conservation (3.39 ± 1.29), and socio-economic benefits (3.44 ± 1.34), were more effective after the NPC. Notably, adaptation actions were significantly higher in biodiversity than in the rest of the forest ecosystem services. In other words, biodiversity's mean effectiveness score after NPCC (4.36 ± 1.52) was significantly higher than before (3.11 ± 0.92) (p < 0.001). Similarly, the mean effectiveness score in carbon sequestration was also higher after NPCC (3.06 ± 1.35) than before (2.75 ± 1.34). Although the rest of the forest ecosystem services are not

statistically significantly different, it can be said that adaptation actions after NPCC were more effective than before.

Table 1. Effectiveness scores of the implemented adaptation actions by forest ecosystem services before and after NPCC ¹.

Forest Ecosystem Services	Before NPCC (N = 36)	After NPCC (N = 36)	<i>p</i> -Value ²
Biodiversity	3.11 ± 0.92	4.36 ± 1.52	< 0.001
Carbon sequestration	2.75 ± 1.34	3.06 ± 1.35	0.338
Soil conservation	3.08 ± 1.32	3.39 ± 1.29	0.324
Socio-economic benefits	3.25 ± 1.20	3.44 ± 1.34	0.519
Recreational and cultural values	3.72 ± 1.09	3.39 ± 1.34	0.249
Watershed services	3.31 ± 0.89	3.17 ± 1.23	0.585
High conservation values	3.56 ± 1.40	3.14 ± 1.25	0.187

¹ Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (sd); independent *t*-test was applied to compare mean scores before and after NPCC implementation. ² Significantly different at *p* < 0.05.

3.2. Adaptation Actions Indicators

We established indicators for adaptation actions to assess the effectiveness of forest ecosystems before and after the NPCC (Table 2). Our assessments focused on the main adaptation action indicators supported by the policy.

Table 2. Indicators of actions scores of the implemented policy before and after NPCC¹.

Adaptation Action Indicators	Before NPCC (N = 36)	After NPCC (N = 36)	<i>p</i> -Value ²
Afforestation and reforestation	3.17 ± 1.56	3.33 ± 1.69	0.665
Law enforcement	3.33 ± 1.51	3.61 ± 1.63	0.455
Altering local communities' reliance on forest resources	3.42 ± 1.44	3.56 ± 1.59	0.699
Funding adaptation activities	3.11 ± 1.58	3.53 ± 1.42	0.244
Forestry research	3.17 ± 1.63	3.28 ± 1.60	0.771
Conservation of ecosystem services critically threatened by climate change	30.6 ± 1.41	3.53 ± 1.42	0.162
Stakeholders' collaboration	2.94 ± 1.64	3.53 ± 1.40	0.109

¹ Data are presented as mean \pm sd; independent *t*-test was applied to compare mean scores before and after NPCC implementation. ² Significantly different at *p* < 0.05.

There was no statistically significant difference among the indicators of adaptation actions before and after the NPCC. However, all the adaptation actions showed higher mean effectiveness scores after the NPCC. Law enforcement (3.61 ± 1.63) and altering local communities' reliance on forest resources (3.56 ± 1.59) were the most effective adaptation action indicators after the introduction of the NPCC. Conversely, afforestation and reforestation (3.33 ± 1.69) and forestry research (3.28 ± 1.60) were also effective after the NPCC's launch. However, these two adaptation actions showed the lowest effectiveness scores after the NPCC.

3.3. Challenges

There are several challenges facing implementing the adaptation actions to climate change supported by the NPCC in forest ecosystem services. In this regard, our assessments focused on the main challenges, such as lack of awareness, high demands for agricultural land, limited research, adverse weather conditions, poverty in rural areas, lack of funding options, and poor stakeholders' collaboration (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Challenges in the implementation of adaptation actions before and after the NPCC. Challenges' ratings are presented as %.

The most significant challenges were the lack of awareness (27.8% before the NPCC; 22.2% after the NPCC). The lack of awareness in this context refers to the limited information and general understanding of climate change and its impacts in the context of forest ecosystem services. This is one of the obstacles; it affects forest ecosystems and the implementation of adaptation actions [39]. Another severe challenge was limited research (in forestry), rated 19.4% before the NPCC and 13.9% after the NPCC.

The most significant challenges were highly significant before the NPCC. However, challenges such as high demand for agricultural land (16.7%), the lack of funding options (13.9%), and adverse weather conditions (11.1%) were significant after the NPCC.

Overall, it can be said that most challenges facing adaptation actions supported by the NPCC were more severe after the introduction of the NPCC. This situation could be attributed to various factors, including land use changes and management practices. However, research has yet to establish scientific evidence on this aspect.

3.4. Proposed Improvements

According to the experts, there are multiple areas of adaptation actions in forest ecosystem services that need enhancement to improve the effectiveness of the NPCC (Figure 3).

The experts expressed that promoting awareness (33.3%) was the most critical improvement needed to improve the effectiveness of the NPCC. Creating awareness is crucial in promoting adaptation actions because local knowledge is vital to help local communities cope with climate change and variability. Furthermore, awareness creation catalyzes sustainable forest ecosystem management [40].

Additionally, experts further indicated a need for strengthening forestry and climate change research (13.9%). Experts further pointed out that enhancing adaptation measures (11.1%) and availing sufficient funds (11.1%) are other areas that need improvements to increase the effectiveness of the NPCC. The experts also listed promoting the carbon market (2.8%) and renewable energy (2.8%) among the proposed improvements, but with the lowest significance level.



Figure 3. Proposed improvements in the implementation of the NPCC, according to the experts. Proposed improvements for the NPCC are presented as %.

4. Discussion

Forest ecosystems are crucial for adaptation to climate change. Despite forest ecosystems' vast ecological and livelihood importance, they are highly threatened by global changes [41–43]. Therefore, countries have taken different approaches to integrate climate change adaptation into their environmental laws and policies [44,45]. There is a need to incorporate climate change conditions in decision-making and policy formulation to maintain ecosystem capacity across different sectors and social statuses, including rural and urban areas [46]. However, we noted that most forest ecosystem-based policies could be broad in most countries. For example, in India, forest policies have been broadly aimed at conservation, reducing pressure on forests, and providing biomass to the large forest-dependent population for their fuel and fodder needs, apart from generating revenue through the production and sale of timber [47]. Therefore, since climate change significantly impacts forest ecosystems [9,47,48], there is a dire need to revisit forest ecosystem-based policies in the context of climate change adaptation actions, their effectiveness, challenges, and opportunities, and the national level in various countries across the globe.

Furthermore, since climate change is a global phenomenon, it is encouraged that linking local efforts with international initiatives is likely to produce more significant results [49]. One international approach to responding to climate change's effects on forests is forest genetic modification. In this view, since genetic diversity is a crucial component of resilience and adaptability [50], countries are encouraged to include genetic-level responses to climate change in their action plans [51]. However, research gaps remain in this aspect of forest ecosystems and climate change adaptation.

Namibia is among the few countries that emphasize implementing climate change policies at the national level. Although most countries such as Zambia, Mali, and Tanzania implement forest ecosystems in community-based coping strategies [52], national climate change policies exist and mainly emphasize cross-sectoral adaptation actions, including ecosystems' integrity. Although national climate change policy actions in most counties consider the critical role of ecosystems in reducing forest degradation and loss of forest ecosystems [53,54], there seems to be little emphasis on their effectiveness in this regard from the research perspective.

In the case of Namibia, implementing the climate change policy at the national level is crucial, considering that Namibia is the driest country in Sub-Saharan Africa and, hence, one of the most vulnerable countries to the effects of climate change [21]. This situation exposes the country's forest ecosystem services to the severe impacts of climate change. As a result, implementing adaptation actions for climate change is critical [55], especially in forest ecosystem services. However, to ensure effectiveness in adaptation actions, it is essential to implement robust policy instruments.

In this paper, our assessments focused on implementing the NPCC to support adaptation to climate change in forest ecosystem services. Although it is difficult to compare the effectiveness of local policies due to differences in forest ecosystem conditions, the existing literature shows that climate change adaptations at the policy level are insufficiently mainstreamed within broader development approaches in the forest ecosystems context [56].

The goal of the NPCC is to manage climate change responses on the national level [57]. Based on our results, it is evident that the implementation of the NPCC has played a significant role in supporting adaptation actions in forest ecosystem services in Namibia. The effectiveness of the policy was significantly manifested in biodiversity (p < 0.001) (Table 1). Although no previous studies provide evidence of the status of biodiversity after the policy was introduced, our results indicate that biodiversity's role as a remedy to climate change has improved through the NPCC. Another function of forest ecosystems is to provide habitats for biodiversity [58]. Forest biodiversity also plays a critical role in carbon sequestration. Our results indicated that carbon sequestration also proved effective after the NPCC. Carbon is stored in five distinct pools in forest ecosystems, namely, above-ground and below-ground live biomass, in deadwood, including snags, litter, and soil [58]. In that way, forest ecosystems' biodiversity plays a critical role in promoting adaptation and resilience to the impacts of climate change. Furthermore, we also identified soil conservation, socio-economic benefits, and recreational and cultural values among the primary forest ecosystem services in which the effectiveness of the policy was significant.

Management policies will more strongly determine the future provision of forest ecosystem services [59]. However, our results noted that the effectiveness of the adaptation actions was not significantly different before and after the policy (NPCC) was introduced in 2011. This situation could be attributed to factors such as the absence of changes in management approaches for forest ecosystem services. In addition to the attitude and behavior of local communities, forest management practices also influence adaptation actions significantly [60]. Furthermore, we noted that another factor that could have influenced the effectiveness of the policy is potentially the fact that it is still in its infancy stage (10 years) of implementation.

Our results are unique in that we focused specifically on the performance of the NPCC in forest ecosystem services at the national level. However, our results suggest that substantial research gaps exist in the context of climate change and forest ecosystem services in Namibia and many other countries around the globe. Most existing studies in different parts of the world focused on the policy guidelines [61] instead of their practical implementation. In South Africa, for example, current research focused on the policy-making process [62] and not necessarily its implementation, particularly in forest ecosystem services.

All adaptation actions supported by the NPCC align with the mission statements of MEFT, which hosts the NCCC [28]. The NCCC oversees the implementation of the NPCC.

Although there was no statistically significant difference among the indicators of adaptation actions before and after the NPCC, our results revealed that all the adaptation actions in our assessments showed higher mean effectiveness scores after the NPCC. Law enforcement and altering local communities' reliance on forest resources (Table 2) were the most effective adaptation action indicators after the introduction of the NPCC. Despite several obstacles that need to be addressed (Figure 2), our overall results proved that the policy effectively supports the existing adaptation actions in various forest ecosystem services.

Even though the policy proved effective in promoting adaptation actions, our results revealed several challenges facing the effectiveness of the policy (Figure 2). The most significant challenges affecting the effectiveness of the policy were the lack of awareness and limited research on forest ecosystem services and climate change. In addition, the high demand for agricultural land and the lack of funding options also affects the policy's implementation. Therefore, our results agree that the design and implementation of climate policies for forest ecosystem-based services should respect the country-specific environmental, economic, and political contexts [63,64].

Additionally, our results noted that implementing climate change policy alone is not enough. Sustainable funds should support it. However, it is worth highlighting that ecosystem-based adaptation actions are costly [65]. The lack of funds for adaptation is an issue in many developing countries, particularly in Africa [66]. For example, South Africa established that improving resources, including funding, was listed among the areas that need strengthening to enhance adaptive capacity [67]. In the same view, regarding adaptation, ecosystems, including forest ecosystems, were listed among the substantially underfunded areas in Africa [68].

The existing global funds seem ineffective in their intended approaches to finance adaptation to climate change. One of the worldwide climate change adaptation funds is the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change's (UNFCCC) Green Climate Fund (GCF), which is a financial mechanism designed to fund adaptation actions [69]. The fund has pledged to promote local adaptation funding in underdeveloped nations. However, it has not successfully operationalized this pledge [69]. Hence, it has been established that countries, especially developing ones, including Namibia, require support for implementing and diffusing prioritized technologies, mainly in the energy, agriculture, forestry, and other land use and water sectors [3].

Our results revealed a lack of awareness about climate change and its impacts on forest ecosystem services (Figure 3). It is worth noting that understanding how the climate affects forests, industries, and local communities and how these effects can evolve and incorporating this knowledge into management decisions are all necessary for adaptation actions and climate change policies [70]. Generally, the lack of awareness is an issue among the local rural communities who live in proximity to forest resources in Namibia [39]. This situation challenges the sustainable management of forest resources and consequently contributes to the impacts of climate change on the national level. Therefore, it is crucial to prioritize and avail information and tools to make decisions in solving climate change's effect on forest ecosystems [31]. This goal can be achieved through research about climate change and forestry, which is one of the areas that needs urgent attention in the context of climate change and forestry in Namibia.

Another area that needs improvements is capacity building in rural communities (Figure 3). According to the mission statement of DoF, local communities are mandated to have access to forest resources and utilize them sustainably through the community forest project [24]. However, this approach requires stable funding mechanisms to monitor and ensure local communities' sustainable use of forest resources. The weakness displayed in Community-Based Natural Resources Management (CBNRM) is common in African countries [71]. Therefore, it is vital to avail funds for forest management practices through CBNRM to maximize monitoring during the establishment of participatory forest management associations and maximize its contribution to climate change adaptation.

The results entail that efforts to enhance the effectiveness of adaptation actions of the NPCC to climate change in forest ecosystem services must include steps taken to strengthen climate awareness and understanding amongst forest managers, climate change scientists, local communities, and policymakers. Therefore, approaches such as robust research and continuously engaging all stakeholders in climate discourse, capacity building, and tailor-made climate and forest ecosystems will need to be incorporated. To achieve this, the government and stakeholders should transform the policy into a mainstreaming forest ecosystem-based adaptation policy that applies in everyday practice [72]. Additionally, since climate change is a cross-sectoral phenomenon [73], the government needs to formulate a longer-term cross-sectoral planning mainstreaming approach for more effective climate change adaptation policy implementation. In addition to the knowledge level gap, the study has unearthed the lack of funding options, which might present challenges to the effectiveness of adoption actions in forest ecosystem services. Climate change adaptation actions require sustainable funding mechanisms [74].

Finally, we noted some limitations in our study. For example, we employed an online survey approach in which we purposively chose forestry and climate change experts to assess the effectiveness, adaptation actions, and challenges of the NPCC in forest ecosystem services. As such, the results are limited to implementing the NPCC in the unique forest ecosystem services. These limitations restrict the applicability of these results and replicating them to other policies.

5. Conclusions

This paper assessed the adaptation actions supported by the NPCC in forest ecosystem services of Namibia. The paper focused on the effectiveness and challenges of adaptation actions to climate change. The results suggest that there have been improvements in the adaptation actions after introducing the policy in 2011. After the NPCC, higher effectiveness scores were noted in forest ecosystems, such as biodiversity, carbon sequestration, soil conservation, and socio-economic benefits. Biodiversity and carbon sequestration were significantly effective after the introduction of the policy.

Our results further revealed that the most significant challenges were the lack of awareness, which showed prominence before and after the policy's introduction. Afforestation, reforestation, awareness, and forestry research need strengthening to improve the effectiveness of the policy. In response to the challenges, the experts expressed that promoting awareness was the most critical improvement needed to improve the effectiveness of the NPCC. Although our results showed that adaptation actions supported by the NPCC were generally effective after the policy was introduced, some areas concerning policy implementation still need strengthening through research to help in sound decision-making.

The need for research on forest ecosystem services-based adaptation cannot be understated. Research involves testing, refining, and up-scaling adaptation actions to climate change approaches, policies, and legislation based on the local context. Therefore, we propose that future research should analyze the strengths, weaknesses, threats, and opportunities (SWOT) of the NPCC and consequently design/propose a framework for forest ecosystem services-based adaptation actions in the policy to improve adaptation actions.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, A.N. (Andreas Nikodemus), M.H. and A.N. (Albertina Ndeinoma); methodology, A.N. (Andreas Nikodemus); software, A.N. (Andreas Nikodemus) and R.C.P.; validation, M.H.; formal analysis, A.N. (Andreas Nikodemus) and R.C.P.; investigation, A.N. (Andreas Nikodemus), M.H. and A.N. (Albertina Ndeinoma); resources, A.N. (Andreas Nikodemus) and M.H.; data curation, A.N. (Andreas Nikodemus), and A.N. (Albertina Ndeinoma); writing—original draft preparation, A.N. (Andreas Nikodemus); writing—review and editing, A.N. (Andreas Nikodemus); visualization, A.N. (Andreas Nikodemus); supervision, M.H.; project administration, M.H.; funding acquisition, M.H. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the Operational Program Research, Development, and Education, the Ministry of Education, Youth, and Sports of the Czech Republic grant no. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16_019/0000803.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical conduct of the National Commission on Research Science and Technology (NCRST), approved on 19 October 2022, and the ethical clearance by the Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism (MEFT) of Namibia, and approved by the Directorate of Forestry (DoF), dated 18 August 2022.

Informed Consent Statement: Written informed consent has been obtained from the Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism of Namibia to publish this paper.

Data Availability Statement: All data relevant to the study are included in the article.

Acknowledgments: We want to thank individual experts in climate change, policy instruments, and environmental sciences representing public, private, and academic institutions who participated in this study. Finally, we are grateful to the anonymous reviewers for their constructive reviews.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Appendix A

Survey Questionnaire

National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia: Are there adequate actions for adaption in forest ecosystem services?

SECTION A: DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

INSTRUCTION: Please put a cross (x) against the appropriate box to specify your choice.

1. Institution represented

Public	
Private	
Developmental partners/projects	
Academic/research	

2. Experience in the field of forest ecosystem services/environmental science

Less than 1 year	
1-5 years	
6-10 years	
10+ years	

3. What is your position in the institution?

Top management	
Middle management	
Lower management	
Junior/general employee	
Intern	
Others (specify)	

SECTION B: IMPLEMENTATION OF NPCC IN ADAPTATION IN FORESTRY

1. How would you rate the following ecosystem services in terms of effective implementation of the instruments that were implemented between 2001 and 2010 before NPCC?

STRATEGIC	RAIING						
ACTIONS	Extremely	Very	Ineffective	Not	Effective	Very	Extremely
	ineffective	ineffective		sure		effective	effective
Biodiversity							
Carbon							
sequestration							
Soil							
conservation							
Socio-							
economic							
benefits for							
communities							
Recreational							
and cultural							
values							
Watershed							
services							
High							
conservation							
values							

2. Which instruments played the most significant role in governing actions for climate change adaptation in the context of forest ecosystem services before the NPCC implementation (2001-2010)?

RATE			YEARS		
	2001-2002	2003-2004	2005-2006	2007-2008	2009-2010
National Forestry Policy					
Forest Act					
National Environmental					
Education and Education for					
Sustainable					
Development Policy					
Communal Land Reform					
Act					
The Nature Conservation					
Ordinance No. 4 of 1975					
Other (specify)					

3. What were the main challenges for policy instruments for climate change adaptation before the implementation of NPCC?

Lack of awareness about climate change	
High demands for land by local communities	
Limited research in forestry and climate change	
Adverse weather conditions	
High rates of illegal logging	
Poverty in rural areas	
Lack of funding options	
Other (specify)	

RATE			YEARS		
	2001-2002	2003-2004	2005-2006	2007-2008	2009-2010
Plantations and					
orchards establishment					
Improved awareness creation					
Improved law					
enforcement					
Reduced reliance of					
local communities on					
forest resources					
Improved funding					
options for adaptation					
Improved forestry					
research and					
innovation					
Improved					
conservation of					
ecosystems critically					
threatened by climate					
change					
Other (please specify)					

4. Which of the following indicators for climate change adaptation were evident before the implementation of NPCC in the context of forest ecosystem services from 2001-2010?

5. How do you rate the following strategic actions for climate change adaptation in the context of forest ecosystem services from 2001-2010?

STRATEGIC ACTIONS	RATING						
	Extremely	Very	Ineffective	Not	Effective	Very	Extremely
	ineffective	ineffective		sure		effective	effective
Afforestation and reforestation							
Law enforcement							
Altering local communities'							
reliance on forest resources							
Funding adaptation activities							
Forestry research							
Conservation of ecosystem							
services critically threatened by							
climate change							
Other (specify)							

6. How would you rate your knowledge of the NPCC and its implementation strategies in

forestry? Very good

Very good	
Good	
Familiar	
Neutral	
Poor	
Very poor	

7. How would you rate the following ecosystem services in terms of effective implementation of the NPCC over the past nine years (2012-2021) of its implementation?

STRATEGIC	RATING						
ACTIONS	Extremely	Very	Ineffective	Not	Effective	Very	Extremely
	ineffective	ineffective		sure		effective	effective
Biodiversity							
Carbon							
sequestration							
Soil conservation							
Socio-economic							
benefits for							
communities							
Recreational and							
cultural values							
Watershed services							
High conservation							
values							

8. Which of the following adaptation strategic actions of NPCC does your institution support/focus on the most? (You can choose as many according to the activities of your institution).

Promoting afforestation and reforestation	
Supporting law enforcement	
Altering local communities' reliance on forest resources	
Providing funding for adaptation activities	
Supporting existing forestry research	
Conservation of forest ecosystems services critically threatened by climate change	e 🗌
Other (specify)	

9. Which indicators for climate change adaptation have been evident during the implementation of NPCC in the context of forest ecosystem services?

RATE	YEARS							
	2012-2013	2014-2015	2016-2017	2018-2019	2020-2021			
Plantations and								
orchards establishment								
Improved awareness								
creation								
Improved law								
enforcement								
Reduced reliance of								
local communities on								
forest resources								
Improved funding								
options for adaptation								
Improved forestry								
research and								
innovation								
Improved								
conservation of								
ecosystems critically								
threatened by climate								
change								
Other (please specify)								

<u> </u>		•					
STRATEGIC	RATING						
ACTIONS	Extremely	Very	Ineffective	Not	Effective	Very	Extremely
	ineffective	ineffective		sure		effective	effective
Afforestation and							
reforestation							
Law enforcement							
Altering local							
communities'							
reliance on forest							
resources							
Funding adaptation							
activities							
Forestry research							
Conservation of							
ecosystem services							
critically threatened							
by climate change							
Other							
(specify)							

10. How do you rate the following strategic actions for NPCC for climate change adaptation in the context of forest ecosystem services?

11. What is the main challenge facing the implementation of NPCC in climate change adaptation in the context of forest ecosystem services? (You can choose as many according to the activities of your institution).

Lack of awareness about climate change	
High demands for land by local communities	
Limited research in forestry and climate change	
Adverse weather conditions	
High rates of illegal logging	
Poverty in rural areas	
Lack of funding options	
Other (specify)	

12. Which of the following would you describe as the most significant in terms of the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats of NPCC in promoting adaptation in forest ecosystem services?

Strengths	 Opportunities	
Understanding climate change	Improve public awareness	
Good forestry management	Various fundings options	
Good collaboration among stakeholders	Support from NGOs	
Adequate adaptation science and technologies	Urban agriculture	
Sound land use planning	Agroforestry practices	
Sufficient funds	Other (specify)	
Sufficient skills in tree planting		
Established protected areas		
Other (specify)		
Weaknesses	Threats	
Poor understanding of climate change	Deforestation and land degradation	
Poor forestry management	Soil depletion	
Poor collaboration among stakeholders	High rates of illegal logging	
Inadequate adaptation science and technologies	Adverse weather conditions	
Poor land use planning	Increased demands for land use	
Insufficient funds	Poverty in rural areas	
Poor experience in tree planting	Other (specify)	
Lack of established protected areas		

13. What recommendations would you make to improve the implementation of NPCC for climate change adaptation measures in the context of forest ecosystem services?

Appendix B

Results

Table A1. Effectiveness scores of the implemented adaptation actions by forest ecosystem services before and after NPCC.

Forest Ecosystem Services	Before NPCC (N = 36)	After NPCC (N = 36)	<i>p</i> -Value
Biodiversity	3.11 ± 0.92	4.36 ± 1.52	< 0.001
Carbon sequestration	2.75 ± 1.34	3.06 ± 1.35	0.338
Soil conservation	3.08 ± 1.32	3.39 ± 1.29	0.324
Socio-economic benefits	3.25 ± 1.20	3.44 ± 1.34	0.519
Recreational and cultural values	3.72 ± 1.09	3.39 ± 1.34	0.249
Watershed services	3.31 ± 0.89	3.17 ± 1.23	0.585
High conservation values	3.56 ± 1.40	3.14 ± 1.25	0.187

Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (sd); independent *t*-test was applied to compare mean scores before and after NPCC implementation. Significantly different at *p* < 0.05.

Table A2. Indicators of actions scores of the implemented policy before and after NPCC.

Adaptation Action Indicators	Before NPCC (N = 36)	After NPCC (N = 36)	<i>p</i> -Value
Afforestation and reforestation	3.17 ± 1.56	3.33 ± 1.69	0.665
Law enforcement	3.33 ± 1.51	3.61 ± 1.63	0.455
Altering local communities' reliance on forest resources	3.42 ± 1.44	3.56 ± 1.59	0.699
Funding adaptation activities	3.11 ± 1.58	3.53 ± 1.42	0.244
Forestry research	3.17 ± 1.63	3.28 ± 1.60	0.771
Conservation of ecosystem services critically threatened by climate change	30.6 ± 1.41	3.53 ± 1.42	0.162
Stakeholders' collaboration	2.94 ± 1.64	3.53 ± 1.40	0.109

Data are presented as mean \pm sd; independent *t*-test was applied to compare mean scores before and after NPCC implementation. Significantly different at *p* < 0.05.







Figure A2. Proposed improvements in the implementation of the NPCC, according to the experts. Proposed improvements for the NPCC are presented as %.

References

- 1. Dimitrov, R.S. The Paris Agreement on Climate Change: Behind Closed Doors. *Glob. Environ. Polit.* **2016**, *16*, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- 2. Singh, C.; Iyer, S.; New, M.G.; Few, R.; Kuchimanchi, B.; Segnon, A.C.; Morchain, D. Interrogating 'Effectiveness' in Climate Change Adaptation: 11 Guiding Principles for Adaptation Research and Practice. *Clim. Dev.* **2022**, *14*, 650–664. [CrossRef]
- United Nations Climate Change Secretariat. Climate Action and Support Trends: Based on National Reports Submitted to the UNFCCC Secretariat under the Current Reporting Framework; United Nations Climate Change Secretariat: Bonn, Germany, 2019. Available online: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/Climate_Action_Support_Trends_2019.pdf (accessed on 12 October 2022).
- Mason, E.G.; Manley, B.R. Forestry and Climate Change. In *Forestry in a Global Context*; Sands, R., Ed.; CABI: Christchurch, UK, 2013; pp. 149–157. [CrossRef]
- 5. Liu, J.; Feng, H.; Wang, K. The Low-Carbon City Pilot Policy and Urban Land Use Efficiency: A Policy Assessment from China. *Land* **2022**, *11*, 604. [CrossRef]
- 6. Mir, A.H.; Dad, J.M.; Singh, B.; Kamili, A.N. Passive Restoration Considerably Improved the Community Structure, Soil Health and Carbon Stock in the Pine Forests of Kashmir Himalaya, India. *Ecol. Eng.* **2022**, *176*, 106535. [CrossRef]
- 7. Jenkins, M.; Schaap, B. Background Analytical Study 1: Forest Ecosystem Services. For. Ecosyst. Serv. 2018, 5, 2–41.
- 8. Liagre, L.; Tüfekcioglu, A.; Donga, M. Forest Ecosystems at the Service of Development and Adaptation to Climate Change. Forest Ecosystem-Based Adaptation. Case of the Seyhan Watershed in Turkey; GIZ: Bonn, Germany, 2013. [CrossRef]
- 9. Meybeck, A.; Gitz, V.; Wolf, J.; Wong, T. Addressing Forestry and Agroforestry in National Adaptation Plans; FAO and FTA: Rome, Italy, 2020. [CrossRef]
- Nunes, L.J.R.; Meireles, C.I.R.; Gomes, C.J.P.; Ribeiro, N.M.C.A. The Impact of Climate Change on Forest Development: A Sustainable Approach to Management Models Applied to Mediterranean-Type Climate Regions. *Plants* 2021, *11*, 69. [CrossRef]
- 11. Del Río, S.; Canas, R.; Cano, E.; Cano-Ortiz, A.; Musarella, C.; Pinto-Gomes, C.; Penas, A. Modelling the Impacts of Climate Change on Habitat Suitability and Vulnerability in Deciduous Forests in Spain. *Ecol. Indic.* **2021**, *131*, 108202. [CrossRef]
- 12. Munang, R.; Thiaw, I.; Alverson, K.; Liu, J.; Han, Z. The Role of Ecosystem Services in Climate Change Adaptation and Disaster Risk Reduction. *Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain.* **2013**, *5*, 47–52. [CrossRef]
- 13. Potschin, M.; Haines-Young, R.; Fish, R.; Turner, R.K. *Routledge Handbook of Ecosystem Services*; Potschin, M., Haines-Young, R.H., Fish, R., Turner, R.K., Eds.; Routledge: London, UK; Taylor & Francis Group: New York, NY, USA, 2016.
- 14. Ding, H.; Nunes, P.A.L.D. Modeling the Links between Biodiversity, Ecosystem Services and Human Wellbeing in the Context of Climate Change: Results from an Econometric Analysis of the European Forest Ecosystems. *Ecol. Econ.* **2014**, *97*, 60–73. [CrossRef]
- 15. Makkonen, M.; Huttunen, S.; Primmer, E.; Repo, A.; Hildén, M. Policy Coherence in Climate Change Mitigation: An Ecosystem Service Approach to Forests as Carbon Sinks and Bioenergy Sources. *For. Policy Econ.* **2015**, *50*, 153–162. [CrossRef]
- 16. Crawford, A.; Terton, A. *Review of Current and Planned Adaptation Action in Namibia*; Collaborative Adaptation Research Initiative in Africa and Asia (CARIAA): London, UK, 2016; pp. 1–4.
- 17. Awala, S.K.; Hove, K.; Wanga, M.A.; Valombola, J.S.; Mwandemele, O.D. Rainfall Trend and Variability in Semi-Arid Northern Namibia: Implications for Smallholder Agricultural Production. *Welwitschia Int. J. Agric. Sci.* **2019**, *1*, 21.
- 18. Keja-Kaereho, C.; Tjizu, B.R. Climate Change and Global Warming in Namibia: Environmental Disasters vs. Human Life and the Economy. *Manag. Econ. Res. J.* 2019, *5*, 1. [CrossRef]
- 19. Liu, X.; Zhou, J. Assessment of the Continuous Extreme Drought Events in Namibia during the Last Decade. *Water* **2021**, *13*, 2942. [CrossRef]
- 20. Meyer, M.; Hulke, C.; Kamwi, J.; Kolem, H.; Börner, J. Spatially Heterogeneous Effects of Collective Action on Environmental Dependence in Namibia's Zambezi Region. *World Dev.* **2022**, *159*, 106042. [CrossRef]
- 21. Shikangalah, R.N. The 2019 Drought in Namibia: An Overview. J. Namib. Stud. 2020, 27, 37–58.
- 22. Kapuka, A.; Hlásny, T.; Helmschrot, J. Climate Change Research in Southern Africa in Recent Two Decades: Progress, Needs, and Policy Implications. *Reg. Environ. Change* **2022**, *22*, 18. [CrossRef]
- Kimaro, E.G.; Mor, S.M.; Toribio, J.-A.L.M.L. Climate Change Perception and Impacts on Cattle Production in Pastoral Communities of Northern Tanzania. *Pastoralism* 2018, *8*, 19. [CrossRef]
- Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M. Namibia's National Forest Policy on Rural Development—A Case Study of Uukolonkadhi Community Forest. Agric. Trop. Subtrop. 2015, 48, 11–17. [CrossRef]
- 25. Ryan, C.M.; Pritchard, R.; McNicol, I.; Owen, M.; Fisher, J.A.; Lehmann, C. Ecosystem Services from Southern African Woodlands and Their Future under Global Change. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **2016**, *371*, 20150312. [CrossRef]
- Vrabcová, P.; Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M. Utilization of Forest Resources and Socio-Economic Development in Uukolonkadhi Community Forest of Namibia. *Acta Univ. Agric. Silvic. Mendel. Brun.* 2019, 67, 197–206. [CrossRef]
- 27. World Bank Group. Climate Risk Country Profile: Namibia; World Bank Group: Washington, DC, USA, 2021; pp. 2-4.
- 28. Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism. *Republic of Namibia: First Adaptation Communication: Namibia's Climate Change Adaptation Communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC);* Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism: Windhoek, Namibia, 2021.
- 29. Ministry of Environment and Tourism. *Namibia Second National Communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change*; Ministry of Environment and Tourism: Windhoek, Namibia, 2011.
- Malhi, Y.; Franklin, J.; Seddon, N.; Solan, M.; Turner, M.G.; Field, C.B.; Knowlton, N. Climate Change and Ecosystems: Threats, Opportunities and Solutions. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 2020, 375, 20190104. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gebeyehu, M.N. Review on Effect of Climate Change on Forest Ecosystem. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Nat. Resour. 2019, 17, 126–129. [CrossRef]
- 32. Mendelsohn, J.M.; El Obeid, S. Forests and Woodlands of Namibia; RAISON: Windhoek, Namibia, 2005.
- 33. FAO. *Impacts of Climate Change on the Forestry Sector in Africa;* FAO Regional Office for Africa: Rome, Italy, 2021; Available online: https://www.fao.org/africa (accessed on 12 October 2022).
- Kapuka, A.; Hlásny, T. Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards in Namibia: A District-Based Analysis. Sustainability 2020, 12, 4910. [CrossRef]

- Mupambwa, H.A.; Hausiku, M.K.; Nciizah, A.D.; Dube, E. The Unique Namib Desert-Coastal Region and Its Opportunities for Climate Smart Agriculture: A Review. Cogent Food Agric. 2019, 5, 1645258. [CrossRef]
- 36. Munyayi, R. Forests, Rangelands and Climate Change in Namibia; Hanns Seidel Foundation Namibia: Windhoek, Namibia, 2015.
- 37. Bhardwaj, Y. Savannah. In *Encyclopedia of Animal Cognition and Behavior*; Vonk, J., Shackelford, T., Eds.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, Switzerland, 2019; pp. 1–9. [CrossRef]
- 38. Giess, W. A Preliminary Vegetation Map of Namibia, 3rd ed.; Namibia Scientific Society: Windhoek, Namibia, 1986.
- Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M. Implementing Local Climate Change Adaptation Actions: The Role of Various Policy Instruments in Mopane (Colophospermum Mopane) Woodlands, Northern Namibia. Forests 2022, 13, 1682. [CrossRef]
- 40. Chisale, H.L.W.; Chirwa, P.W.; Babalola, F.D. Awareness, Knowledge and Perception of Forest Dependent Communities on Climate Change in Malawi: A Case of Mchinji and Phirilongwe Forest Reserves in Malawi. J. Sustain. For. 2022, 1–18. [CrossRef]
- 41. Siyum, Z.G. Tropical Dry Forest Dynamics in the Context of Climate Change: Syntheses of Drivers, Gaps, and Management Perspectives. *Ecol. Process.* **2020**, *9*, 25. [CrossRef]
- 42. Fobissie, K.; Etongo, D.; Kanninen, M. An Integrated Approach to Capacity Development in Forestry and Climate Change in West Africa. J. Sustain. Dev. 2017, 10, 35. [CrossRef]
- 43. Roshani; Sajjad, H.; Kumar, P.; Masroor, M.; Rahaman, M.H.; Rehman, S.; Ahmed, R.; Sahana, M. Forest Vulnerability to Climate Change: A Review for Future Research Framework. *Forests* **2022**, *13*, 917. [CrossRef]
- Yazykova, S.; Bruch, C. Incorporating Climate Change Adaptation Into Framework Environmental Laws. *Environ. Law Inst.* 2018, 48, 10334.
- FAO (Ed.) Climate Change for Forest Policy-Makers: An Approach for Integrating Climate Change into National Forest Policy in Support of Sustainable Forest Management: Version 2.0; FAO Forestry Paper; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 2018.
- Clerici, N.; Cote-Navarro, F.; Escobedo, F.J.; Rubiano, K.; Villegas, J.C. Spatio-Temporal and Cumulative Effects of Land Use-Land Cover and Climate Change on Two Ecosystem Services in the Colombian Andes. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2019, 685, 1181–1192. [CrossRef]
- Murthy, I.K.; Kumar, P. Forests Policies and Programmes in India: Implications for Climate Change Adaptation. Open J. For. 2019, 9, 226–240. [CrossRef]
- Rustad, L.; Campbell, J.; Dukes, J.S.; Huntington, T.; Fallon Lambert, K.; Mohan, J.; Rodenhouse, N. Changing Climate, Changing Forests: The Impacts of Climate Change on Forests of the Northeastern United States and Eastern Canada; NRS-GTR-99; U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station: Newtown Square, PA, USA, 2012. [CrossRef]
- 49. Tewari, V.P.; Verma, R.K.; von Gadow, K. Climate Change Effects in the Western Himalayan Ecosystems of India: Evidence and Strategies. *For. Ecosyst.* **2017**, *4*, 13. [CrossRef]
- Fady, B.; Cottrell, J.; Ackzell, L.; Alía, R.; Muys, B.; Prada, A.; González-Martínez, S.C. Forests and Global Change: What Can Genetics Contribute to the Major Forest Management and Policy Challenges of the Twenty-First Century? *Reg. Environ. Change* 2016, 16, 927–939. [CrossRef]
- Alfaro, R.I.; Fady, B.; Vendramin, G.G.; Dawson, I.K.; Fleming, R.A.; Sáenz-Romero, C.; Lindig-Cisneros, R.A.; Murdock, T.; Vinceti, B.; Navarro, C.M.; et al. The Role of Forest Genetic Resources in Responding to Biotic and Abiotic Factors in the Context of Anthropogenic Climate Change. *For. Ecol. Manag.* 2014, 333, 76–87. [CrossRef]
- 52. Robledo, C.; Clot, N.; Hammill, A.; Riché, B. The Role of Forest Ecosystems in Community-Based Coping Strategies to Climate Hazards: Three Examples from Rural Areas in Africa. *For. Policy Econ.* **2012**, *24*, 20–28. [CrossRef]
- Kabechani, A. National Policy on Climate Change. 2016. Available online: https://www.pmrczambia.com/wp-content/uploads/ 2017/11/National-Policy-on-Climate-Change.pdf (accessed on 15 October 2022).
- 54. Averchenkova, A.; Gannon, K.E.; Patrick, C. Governance of Climate Change Policy: A Case Study of South Africa. 2019. Available online: www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute (accessed on 15 October 2022).
- 55. Bertana, A.; Clark, B.; Benney, T.M.; Quackenbush, C. Beyond Maladaptation: Structural Barriers to Successful Adaptation. *Environ. Sociol.* **2022**, *8*, 448–458. [CrossRef]
- 56. Stringer, L.C.; Dyer, J.C.; Reed, M.S.; Dougill, A.J.; Twyman, C.; Mkwambisi, D. Adaptations to Climate Change, Drought and Desertification: Local Insights to Enhance Policy in Southern Africa. *Environ. Sci. Policy* **2009**, *12*, 748–765. [CrossRef]
- 57. Shalumbu-Shivute, B. Namibia's Actions in Mitigating Climate Change. *The Namibian*. 2022. Available online: https://www. google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwipucfm_L77AhVy_rsIHZu6BX4QFnoECBEQAQ& url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.namibian.com.na%2Fpublic%2Fuploads%2Fdocuments%2F624a92990b459%2FClimate-Change. pdf&usg=AOvVaw2iTt8QnYLfpyDROgtzUuE4 (accessed on 31 October 2022).
- Brockerhoff, E.G.; Barbaro, L.; Castagneyrol, B.; Forrester, D.I.; Gardiner, B.; González-Olabarria, J.R.; Lyver, P.O.; Meurisse, N.; Oxbrough, A.; Taki, H.; et al. Forest Biodiversity, Ecosystem Functioning and the Provision of Ecosystem Services. *Biodivers. Conserv.* 2017, 26, 3005–3035. [CrossRef]
- Morán-Ordóñez, A.; Ameztegui, A.; De Cáceres, M.; de-Miguel, S.; Lefèvre, F.; Brotons, L.; Coll, L. Future Trade-Offs and Synergies among Ecosystem Services in Mediterranean Forests under Global Change Scenarios. *Ecosyst. Serv.* 2020, 45, 101174. [CrossRef]
- 60. Spittlehouse, D.L.; Stewart, R.B. Adaptation to Climate Change in Forest Management. *BC J. Ecosyst. Manag.* 2003, *4*, 2–4. Available online: http://www.forrex.org/jem/2003/vol4/no1/art1.pdf (accessed on 11 October 2022). [CrossRef]

- 61. Vignola, R.; Locatelli, B.; Martinez, C.; Imbach, P. Ecosystem-Based Adaptation to Climate Change: What Role for Policy-Makers, Society and Scientists? *Mitig. Adapt. Strateg. Glob. Change* **2009**, *14*, 691–696. [CrossRef]
- 62. Lukey, P. The South African National Climate Change Response Policy—An Evidence-Based Policy-Making Case Study. 2020. Available online: https://www.dffe.gov.za/sites/default/files/reports/nccrp_nationalclimatechange_responsepolicy_casestudy. pdf (accessed on 12 October 2022).
- 63. Ding, H.; Chiabai, A.; Silvestri, S.; Nunes, P.A.L.D. Valuing Climate Change Impacts on European Forest Ecosystems. *Ecosyst. Serv.* **2016**, *18*, 141–153. [CrossRef]
- Bright, R.M.; Antón-Fernández, C.; Astrup, R.; Cherubini, F.; Kvalevåg, M.; Strømman, A.H. Climate Change Implications of Shifting Forest Management Strategy in a Boreal Forest Ecosystem of Norway. *Glob. Change Biol.* 2014, 20, 607–621. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 65. Baig, S.P.; Rizvi, A.; Josella, M.; Palanca-Tan, R. Cost and Benefits of Ecosystem Based Adaptation: The Case of the Philippines; IUCN: Gland, Switzerland, 2016; ISBN 978-2-8317-1778-4.
- Richmond, M.; Tonkonogy, B.; Padmanabhi, R.; Pastor, A.O.; Chin, N.; Hebbale, C. *Financial Innovation for Climate Adaptation in Africa*; Global Center on Adaptation: Rotterdam, The Netherlands, 2022; Available online: https://www.gca.org (accessed on 15 October 2022).
- Baudoin, M.-A.; Ziervogel, G. What Role for Local Organisations in Climate Change Adaptation? Insights from South Africa. *Reg. Environ. Change* 2017, 17, 691–702. [CrossRef]
- Savvidou, G.; Atteridge, A.; Omari-Motsumi, K.; Trisos, C.H. Quantifying International Public Finance for Climate Change Adaptation in Africa. *Clim. Policy* 2021, 21, 1020–1036. [CrossRef]
- 69. Omukuti, J.; Barrett, S.; White, P.C.L.; Marchant, R.; Averchenkova, A. The Green Climate Fund and Its Shortcomings in Local Delivery of Adaptation Finance. *Clim. Policy* **2022**, *22*, 1225–1240. [CrossRef]
- Keenan, R.J. Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation in Forest Management: A Review. Ann. For. Sci. 2015, 72, 145–167. [CrossRef]
- 71. Takahashi, R.; Todo, Y. Impact of Community-Based Forest Management on Forest Protection: Evidence from an Aid-Funded Project in Ethiopia. *Environ. Manag.* 2012, *50*, 396–404. [CrossRef]
- Ziervogel, G.; New, M.; Archer van Garderen, E.; Midgley, G.; Taylor, A.; Hamann, R.; Stuart-Hill, S.; Myers, J.; Warburton, M. Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation in South Africa: Climate Change Impacts in South Africa. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Clim. Change* 2014, *5*, 605–620. [CrossRef]
- England, M.I.; Dougill, A.J.; Stringer, L.C.; Vincent, K.E.; Pardoe, J.; Kalaba, F.K.; Mkwambisi, D.D.; Namaganda, E.; Afionis, S. Climate Change Adaptation and Cross-Sectoral Policy Coherence in Southern Africa. *Reg. Environ. Change* 2018, 18, 2059–2071. [CrossRef]
- 74. Timilsina, G.R. Financing Climate Change Adaptation: International Initiatives. Sustainability 2021, 13, 6515. [CrossRef]

Manuscript 3

Authors: Nikodemus, A., Abdollahnejad, A., Kapuka, A., Panagiotidis, D., Hájek, M.

Tittle: Socio-economic benefits of *Colophospermum mopane* in a changing climate in northern Namibia

Journal: Forests, (2023), 14, 290. https://doi.org/10.3390/f14020290

Personal Contributions: Conceptualization (100%), study design (95%), dataset compilation (95%), data processing and analysis (90%), manuscript writing and artwork (98%), corresponding author.



Publication certificate for article 3





Article Socio-Economic Benefits of *Colophospermum mopane* in a Changing Climate in Northern Namibia

Andreas Nikodemus *^D, Azadeh Abdollahnejad ^D, Alpo Kapuka ^D, Dimitrios Panagiotidis and Miroslav Hájek

Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamýcká 129, Praha 6-Suchdol, 16500 Prague, Czech Republic

* Correspondence: nikodemus@fld.czu.cz

Abstract: Millions of local communities in southern Africa depend on forest ecosystems and the goods and services they provide for their livelihoods. This paper aims to assess the socio-economic benefits of forest goods and services in a changing climate by focusing on the forest products of *Colophospermum mopane* (*C. mopane*) in the Kunene and Omusati regions in northern Namibia. We used *C. mopane* product data from 2011 to 2021. Our analyses showed that local communities harvested five main products from *C. mopane*, namely firewood, poles, droppers, rafters, and roots. Firewood and poles were the primary *C. mopane* products harvested by local communities, mainly for subsistence use. Our results suggest that *C. mopane* potentially continues to the provision of goods and services for the livelihood of local communities, despite the changing climate in northern Namibia. We propose future studies in predictive analysis focus on extreme weather events, such as forest fires, droughts, floods, and other climate-related hazards that affect goods and services provided by forest ecosystems in the northern regions and the entire country.

Keywords: climate change; *Colophospermum mopane*; commercial use; forest products; Kunene region; Omusati region; rural communities; subsistence use; northern Namibia



Citation: Nikodemus, A.; Abdollahnejad, A.; Kapuka, A.; Panagiotidis, D.; Hájek, M. Socio-Economic Benefits of *Colophospermum mopane* in a Changing Climate in Northern Namibia. *Forests* **2023**, *14*, 290. https://doi.org/10.3390/f14020290

Received: 26 December 2022 Revised: 27 January 2023 Accepted: 31 January 2023 Published: 2 February 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

1. Introduction

Millions of local communities in southern Africa depend on forest ecosystems and the goods and services they provide for their livelihoods [1,2], including ecosystem services provided by *C. mopane* (Kirk ex Benth) species. In addition to services such as carbon sequestration and the protection of watersheds and biodiversity [3], forest ecosystems provide goods and services to local communities in various forms in the region, ranging from timber and non-timber forest products (NTFPs) [4]. Local communities utilize forest products, such as fuel wood, construction materials, medicine, and food, for marketing and household consumption [5]. However, various previous studies have acknowledged that forest ecosystems in southern Africa are highly vulnerable to climate change [1,2,6]. Some of the identified climate risks to forest ecosystems in the region include, for example, altering the growth rates of woodland flora and impacting species composition and productivity [3,7].

The southern part of Africa is one of the most vulnerable regions to climate change [8]. This situation is due to the region's high exposure to climate change, poor socio-economic conditions, increased reliance on natural resources, and inability to implement adaptive measures effectively [8–10]. For example, in the Sub-Saharan African region, unpredictable rainfall and recurrent droughts significantly impact agricultural production [11], aggravating consequences, including high risks to food security [12].

Climate change projections for southern Africa further predict increased droughts, the frequency, and intensity of wildfires, land degradation, low agricultural and vegetation productivity, extreme temperatures, and increased food insecurity [13]. Furthermore, climate change is also associated with increasing desertification [14]. Additionally, according

to [15], extreme temperatures, high evapotranspiration, and high human activity intensity are some of the main drivers of desertification in some parts of Africa, particularly southern Africa.

Namibia is considered the driest country in southern Africa [16–20]. As a result, Namibia is a southern African country that is significantly impacted by climate change due to its arid conditions [21–23]. Climate change has been a significant challenge, threatening progress toward the country's national and millennium development goals [24]. The recent prolonged drought experienced in the country has severely impacted the functions of both human communities and their livelihoods, as well as ecological ecosystems, particularly in providing essential ecosystem services [21,24].

Namibia's temperature trends have risen by 0.58 °C to 1.2 °C on average over the past 50 years, with more significant increases in the country's northern parts [25]. Rainfall trends are less evident than temperature trends over the past 50 years, and there are substantial variations in the direction and magnitude of the changes observed across the region [25,26]. Precipitation trends are challenging to discern given the country's typically erratic rainfall; extreme rainfall contributes a significant proportion of the annual rainfall in some regions [25,27]. However, there is no adequate research concerning long-term climate variability across the northern Namibia regions to date [15].

There is substantial literature about the impacts of climate change on various forest and woodland species in southern Africa [28,29], including studies addressing multiple aspects of *C. mopane* [30–34]. However, studies focusing on the socio-economic benefits of mopane woodlands in a changing climate in southern Africa, particularly in northern Namibia, are still limited [35–38]. Therefore, this paper aims to assess the socio-economic benefits of *C. mopane* in a changing climate by focusing on the products harvested for use at the local community level.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Area

The geographical location of Namibia is in the south-west of Africa. South Africa borders it to the east and south-east, Zambia to the north-east, Angola to the north, and Botswana to the east [22]. It is a semi-dry country with deficient rainfall compared to other countries in the southern part of Africa [21]. Due to its unique climate conditions, Namibia is considered one of the most vulnerable countries to climate change impacts [13]. Namibia has a population of 2.5 million and covers a total surface area of 824,292 km² [24].

We focused on two of the fourteen political regions of Namibia (the Omusati and Kunene regions) [39] (Figure 1). The two target regions fall in the northern geographical zones of Namibia [40]. Together, they cover 17% of the total area and constitute 13% of the population of Namibia. The target regions also form part of the *Baikiaea-mopane* woodlands of southern Africa [41] and represent areas with the highest distribution of *C. mopane* species in Namibia, with the Omusati region having the highest distribution of the species between the two regions [42].

The northern part of Namibia is predominantly rural and is one of the hotspots for climate-change-related impacts [24,43]. Rural communities in the target regions heavily rely on subsistence agricultural practices and other forest-related ecosystem services, particularly from the *Baikiaea-mopane* woodlands, for their livelihoods [44,45]. Agricultural practices alone contribute between 22% and 32% of the local livelihoods of the Omusati and Kunene regions, respectively [46–48]. Between 2001 and 2018, the two regions experienced a combined tree cover loss of 302 hectares [49].

The area is semi-arid and characterized by high temperatures, ranging from 5 °C to 37 °C, whereas the annual average rainfall is about 350-500 mm between November and April [50]. The yearly rainfall of the Omusati region ranges from 400 mm to 500 mm per annum [48]. Average daily temperatures vary from 6 °C to 35 °C depending on the season. For example, summers are sweltering, with a maximum temperature of between 30 °C and 35 °C during the hottest months [46]. The Kunene region occupies the north-west corner of

Namibia and shares borders with the Omusati region in the eastern part [51]. Therefore, the two regions have similar climatic conditions. However, slight differences in weather and climatic conditions are noticeable. Irregular annual rainfall increases from the west to the east of the region from less than 50 mm to 415 mm [51,52]. Average daily temperatures range from 5 °C to 35 °C depending on the season [47]. Summer day temperatures are often sweltering, reaching up to 35 °C with minimum temperatures of 14 °C on average. During the winter, temperatures can range from 5 °C to 26 °C [47].



Figure 1. The location of the study area and key descriptions of the area. The red area is the location of Namibia on the map of Africa.

2.2. Focal Species

C. mopane belongs to the Fabaceae family [32]. The tree species can grow into big trees, ranging from 4 m to 18 m in height [32,40]. It is often present in alluvial, alkaline, and poorly drained soils, which it tolerates better than other species [32]. The bark has a rough texture that ranges from dark grey to blackish [34]. The heartwood is dark reddish to almost black, durable, rugged, and heavy [40]. The leaves are drooping and made up of two leaflets that look like butterfly wings. During the winter, the leaves are shed, and most trees are bare by the end of the season. *C. mopane* often forms pure stands of two distinct types [40]. On favorable sites, the stands are made up of tall trees referred to as 'cathedral mopane' but when the soil conditions are less favorable, the vegetation is referred to as 'mopane shrub' [53].

C. mopane vegetation is found in about eight countries in southern Africa, where many different ethnic groups live [33]. The distribution of *C. mopane* is best associated with low to moderate rainfall, high temperatures, low altitudes, and various soil types [43]. Hence, the *C. mopane* savanna covers a large area, extending south-western Angola and into Namibia, as far south as Brandberg mountain, the highest peak in Namibia [54] (Figure 2).



Figure 2. The distribution of *C. mopane*.

C. mopane prefers fine-grained sand and clay-loam sites formed from basalt, alluvial material, and lime [41]. The species is more competitive than any other species, mainly when the sites are periodically waterlogged and on solonetzic sites. *C. mopane* is predominantly found in low to moderate rainfall, high temperatures, low altitudes, and various soil types [32]. As a result, the northern part of Namibia has the highest concentration of *C. mopane*.

C. mopane is considered a natural resource and a source of income in the daily lives of local people [32,33]. It is the primary source of poles in dry regions because of its durability and availability, and is a source of fuelwood, droppers, rafters, and bark rope for subsistence use by local farmers in the most northern parts of Namibia [40]. The tree species is used for similar purposes in other parts of southern Africa [55]. Due to its dominance in the area [42,56], high economic values, and consequently high demands for multiple uses at the local community level, *C. mopane* was chosen as the focal species for this study.

2.3. C. mopane Products Data

One of the main challenges in forest ecosystems and forest resource utilization by local communities' research is a lack of data. As a result, we could only obtain data for *C. mopane*

products from 2011 to 2021. We focused on the five main products that local communities harvest from *C. mopane* in the area [42]. These products included firewood, poles, rafters, droppers, and roots. Local communities use such products for subsistence use (own use) and commercial purposes [42,45].

We gathered data for *C. mopane* products from harvesting permit record books through the Directorate of Forestry (DoF) of the Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism (MEFT). We used harvest permit books from all five DoF offices (Okahao, Onesi, Outapi Opuwo, and Tsandi) in the Omusati and Kunene regions. Data collected included the types of products (firewood, poles, droppers, rafters, and roots), uses, quantities, permit costs, and harvesting years. The five DoF offices formed the hotspots of our study. We collected data for 239 villages across the study area from these hotspots. Data included all harvesting permits of *C. mopane* from private and community forests from 2011–2021.

According to the pricing structure of the DoF, local communities pay between NAD 10–60 (Namibian dollars, equivalent to USD 0.67) depending on the type of permit (harvesting, transportation, and marketing) and use (commercial and own use/subsistence). The permit's validity differs with permits ranging from seven days to three months.

Furthermore, it is worth highlighting that due to the limited resources, the Directorate does not encourage the commercialization of forest products at the local level [57]. However, local communities sell forest products for commercial use in the following forms: poles, droppers, and rafters at NAD 10 per piece; and firewood and roots at NAD 12 per bundle [57].

2.4. Data Analyses

Estimations of the local weights of different wood products harvested by the local communities were developed by the authors of [57]. On average, a bundle of firewood/root is 0.013 tons, whereas poles are 0.0094 tons, droppers are 0.001 tons, and rafters are 0.001 tons per piece. To estimate the income received by the collector, we used the following formula:

(Total amount of collected wood products (in m^3) × market price/ m^3). As the permit fee amount was negligible, we did not include it in the formula.

The continuous data were first checked for normality using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov normality test. The non-categorical and not-normally distributed data, such as harvest per product changes and potential benefit received by the respondents over time, were analyzed using the Kruskal–Wallis test, followed by the Bonferroni test for pairwise comparisons using 2011 as the reference year. We analyzed data using IBM SPSS version 26 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). We entered, coded, and classified the data according to the two main uses, forest products and years of production. A *p*-value of less than 0.05 was deemed statistically significant in all analyses in this paper. According to the permit system of the DoF, forest products are recorded in different units. For example, there are pieces for poles, droppers, rafters, and tons for firewood and roots. Therefore, we standardized the units to tons (Table A1, Appendix A).

2.5. Climate Trend Analyses

We further performed climate trend analyses focusing on temperature and precipitation over the study period (2011–2021). The analyses aimed to provide a picture of how climate change affects forest ecosystems in various ways [58,59] and, consequently, harvesting patterns. However, the relationship between climate change and forest production is complex. It requires long-term data for all variables. That is why there is little previous research on this aspect in Namibia. Therefore, our analyses only give an overview of the changes in climate parameters (temperature and precipitation) to provide a baseline for future long-term analyses. We obtained temperature and precipitation data from the Southern African Science Service Centre for Climate Change and Adaptive Land Management (SASSCAL).

3. Results

3.1. Harvests per Use Types

The products were classified according to the two main use types, namely subsistence and commercial (Figure 3a,b).



Figure 3. Product use types for *C. mopane* from 2011 to 2021; (**a**) percentage of two main types of use, and (**b**): trends in the harvests of products by use type from 2011–2021.

Our results further revealed that local communities mainly harvest *C. mopane* products for subsistence use (66%) (Figure 3a). However, there were also harvests for commercial products, which accounted for 34%.

Harvests of *C. mopane* products have fluctuated over the years (Figure 3b). Harvests for subsistence use were highest in the years 2021 (84%) and 2017 (81%). The lowest harvests for subsistence use were recorded with equal scores of 38% in the years 2014 and 2019. On the other hand, harvests for commercial use showed the highest same records of 62% in 2014 and 2019. Finally, we identified the lowest harvest records for commercial use in 2021 (15%).

3.2. Harvests per Products

There have been continuous harvests for multiple *C. mopane* products harvested annually between 2011 and 2021 in the Kunene and Omusati regions (Figure 4).



Figure 4. C. mopane products harvested per year.

The results showed that throughout the years (2011–2021), the highest harvests recorded were for firewood and poles. For example, in 2011, firewood harvests were at 56%, followed by poles (32%), and the lowest was roots (2%). Similar harvests were recorded in subsequent years. However, a slight decline was recorded in 2016 in the harvests of firewood (38%) and poles (26%). Conversely, a slight rise was recorded in the harvests for droppers (15%) and rafters (15%) in 2017. However, there was an increase in the harvests of the main products after 2016. For example, firewood comprised the highest record of 62%, while poles were at 31% in 2017.

Table A1 (Appendix A) shows changes in each product use from 2011 to 2021 and the comparison to the baseline year (2011). There was a significant increase in the production of firewood from 2011 to 2021 (p < 0.001), but the other years were similar to the reference year. Meanwhile, the production of droppers significantly increased in 2012 compared to 2011 (p < 0.001), while the other years were considered not statistically different.

3.3. Total Harvests

The proportion of the main product harvests showed that firewood and poles were the highest (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Total harvests of the primary forest products from C. mopane.

Our results showed that all five products were harvested throughout the study period, but in different quantities. Our total harvests analyses showed that firewood was significantly the highest forest product harvested from *C. mopane* (52%) during the entire study period. Secondly, poles (37%) were also considerably harvested over the study period. The least harvested products during the study period were droppers (5%), rafters (4%), and roots (2%).

3.4. Total Temperature and Precipitation Changes

Although changes in climate are best investigated over a long time, our analyses give an overview of how likely it is that climate change will affect forest production and the livelihood of local communities in *C. mopane* woodlands (Figure 6).

It is generally understood that climate change has various negative impacts on forest ecosystems, including forest fires and tree mortality caused by warming and frequencies of drought and flood occurrence [37,60,61]. We identified a negative correlation between changes in temperatures and precipitation, which can be perceived as a threat to the future of *C. mopane* ecosystems and production outputs.



Figure 6. Changes in the amount of precipitation and temperature over the study period.

There was a maximum decrease in precipitation in the areas with a minimum increase in temperature across the study area. In general, the trends show that the temperature increased during the study area, whereas the precipitation decreased. A decrease in precipitation results in low forest productivity. For example, trees' growth will be stunted and pest and disease outbreak will worsen.

4. Discussion

Forest ecosystems play an essential role in the livelihoods of rural communities in southern Africa and other developing parts of the world, where forests are the vital elements of livelihood [62]. Nearly 2.9 billion people in low and middle-income countries cook and heat their homes by burning solid fuels, such as fuelwood [63].

C. mopane displays adaptive mechanisms to the dry conditions of Namibia. One of the adaptive features of the species is deep root systems [7,32]. As a result, this species can regenerate and grow despite the changing climatic conditions [64]. Hence, our results revealed that *C. mopane* woodlands provide and would potentially continue to provide goods and services for the livelihood of local communities, especially in the northern regions of Namibia (Figure 4). The main forest products identified were firewood for cooking, heating, and lighting and poles for construction.

Our results indicate that firewood is the northern area's most significant *C. mopane* product (Figure 5). Statistically, our results show that there was a significant increase in the production of firewood over the entire study period (p < 0.001). On the contrary, the production of other products has been fluctuating. For example, droppers significantly increased in 2012 compared to 2011 (p < 0.001) (Table A1, Appendix A).

The high firewood consumption is because the area is primarily rural, where most residents depend on firewood for lighting and heating [45,56,65]. For example, most residents in the northern regions of Namibia use firewood primarily for cooking [66]. Our results coincide with the literature which reveals that many African countries have high demands for fuelwood consumption. For example, Ethiopia (93%), Nigeria (80%), and the Democratic Republic of the Congo (74%) are the leading countries in the use of firewood

at the local level [67]. In South Africa, recent research shows that fuelwood is still used to some extent by 96% of rural households [68,69].

Our results further reveal that local communities mostly use *C. mopane* products for subsistence (Figure 3). These indications are in alignment with the mandate of DoF regulations. Due to climatic conditions, coupled with limited forest resources, the management principles of forest ecosystems of Namibia do not encourage the commercialization of forest resources at the community level [45,70]. Through these forestry management principles, forest managers, in collaboration with the relevant stakeholders, exercise a sustainable management approach to curb the possible depletion of resources [45]. Such management principles also consider deforestation and forest degradation alarming, aggravating climate change [71]. At the same time, it is worth highlighting that management approaches that exclude local communities from forest resources invite illegal activities from local communities close to forest ecosystems [72,73]. Therefore, it is essential to promote the sustainable utilization of forest resources.

Additionally, it is crucial to emphasize that the continuous utilization of forest products in a changing climate depend on the effectiveness of collective adaptation and sustainable forest management approaches [30]. Effective law enforcement is one strategy to harmonize adaptation and sustainably manage forest ecosystems to avoid illegal operations, such as unlawful harvesting. Afforestation and reforestation are other approaches that need strengthening to sustain forest ecosystems [70]. Such forest management approaches are essential in *C. mopane* woodlands, given species' the ability to survive the area's harsh climatic conditions. In addition, silvicultural activities against forest disturbances, such as forest fires, pests, and diseases, also need strengthening [30,37]. However, there is limited scientific research in the context of climate change, forest ecosystems, and projected disturbances in Namibia.

Our climate change analyses showed that there was a maximum decrease in precipitation in the areas with a minimum increase in temperature across the study area (Figure 6). The temperature increased over the study area, whereas the precipitation decreased. As generally perceived, a decrease in precipitation has a negative impact on forest productivity which manifests in various ways. For example, trees' growth will be stunted and pest and disease outbreak will worsen. Increasing temperatures will also alter the functions of the ecological systems of the forest [61]. However, more research is urgently needed to investigate this phenomenon from this angle in forest ecosystems in northern Namibia.

Food security is another crucial aspect of discussions on forest ecosystem services in a changing climate [74]. For example, during low rainfall, local communities do not produce good yields from other activities that support their livelihoods. In the case of the northern regions of Namibia, most rural communities depend on livestock and crop farming [43,75,76]. However, due to periodic erratic rainfalls and severe droughts, local communities diversify their livelihoods to off-farm activities [43], including using forest resources for income generation to support their livelihoods [42]. As a result, local communities use of forest resources will worsen during severe droughts.

Finally, we identified that this type of study requires long-term climate data, particularly precipitation and temperature trends concerning growth and mortality rates, to determine the status of the forest ecosystems. Unfortunately, such data are lacking on Namibia's forest ecosystems and climate change. We also noticed that the commercialization of forest products needs intensive investigation and monitoring to evaluate the value of products at the local community level.

5. Conclusions

Our analyses showed that local communities harvested five main products from *C. mopane*, namely firewood, poles, droppers, rafters, and roots. Firewood was the primary forest product, followed by poles and droppers. Total harvests appeared to fluctuate over the years. Therefore, our results suggest that forest ecosystems will continue to potentially benefit the livelihoods of local communities in northern Namibia despite the changing

climate. However, there is a need for predictive analyses to estimate the rate at which forest ecosystems will potentially continue to support local livelihoods in correlation with the changes in climate parameters, such as precipitation and temperature.

An increase in the temperature, and a decrease as identified over the study period, will potentially result in the circumstances, such as severe droughts, local communities are most likely to exert considerable pressure on forest ecosystems for production outputs. This could be one of the many ways climate change contributes to the degradation of forest ecosystems from the perspective of production outputs. Unfortunately, Namibia lacks a robust national system that provides data for forest products at the rural community level. There is also a lack of spatially extensive climate data. Therefore, there is limited access to digitized data at the country level. Therefore, a national system is needed to provide forest ecosystem service information to the public through DoF offices countrywide.

In addition, to help the country produce effective adaption and mitigation measures against climate change, it will be ideal if the MEFT and relevant stakeholders establish a climate database system that records forest products, weather, and climate data. We further propose that future studies focus on predictive analyses of the impacts of climate change on the status of forest ecosystem services in Namibia. More specifically, future research needs to assess extreme weather events, such as forest fires, droughts, floods, and other climate-related hazards, that affect goods and services provided by forest ecosystems in the northern regions and the entire country. Furthermore, this study has the potential to serve as a forest ecosystem management tool for the forestry sector in Namibia. In the same view, in collaboration with local communities, forestry managers can draw insights from this study to formulate sustainable forest ecosystem management strategies to ensure that *C. mopane* ecosystems continue to provide socio-economic benefits for local communities in a changing climate. Finally, the utilization and commercialization of forest products at the local community level should be closely monitored through a robust database system to ensure sustainability and adaptation to a changing climate.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization A.N. and M.H.; methodology, A.N., A.A., A.K. and D.P.; software, A.A. and D.P.; validation, M.H.; formal analysis, A.N., A.A. and D.P.; investigation, A.N., A.A., A.K. and D.P.; resources, A.N. and M.H.; data curation, A.N. and A.K.; writing—original draft preparation, A.N.; writing—review and editing, A.N.; visualization, A.N., A.A. and D.P.; supervision, M.H.; project administration, M.H.; funding acquisition, M.H. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the Operational Program Research, Development, and Education, the Ministry of Education, Youth, and Sports of the Czech Republic grant No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16_019/0000803.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical conduct of the National Commission on Research Science and Technology (NCRST), issued on 13 December 2022, and the ethical clearance by the Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism (MEFT) of Namibia, and approved by the Directorate of Forestry (DoF), dated 18 August 2022.

Informed Consent Statement: Written informed consent has been obtained from the Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism of Namibia and the National Commission on Research Science and Technology (NCRST) to publish this paper.

Data Availability Statement: All data relevant to the study are included in the article.

Acknowledgments: We thank individual forestry officials from the Omusati and Kunene regions who assisted with data collection from various DoF offices that participated in this study. Finally, we are grateful to the anonymous reviewers for their constructive reviews.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Appendix A

						Ohaarraad					
Wood Products	Referral Year					Year					
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Poles (N = 1222)											
Volume, m ³	40,000	80,000 **	80,000 **	55 **	100 **	30 **	120 **	100,000 **	55,000	500,000 *	33,000
	(1;440,000)	(3;200,000)	(10;500,000)	(6;240,000)	(1;1,000,000)	(1;200,000)	(1;600,000)	(30;150,000)	(8;1200,000)	(1000;45,000,000)	(1000;200,000)
Income, ×1000 NAD	20,000	40,000*	40,000 **	27,500 **	50,000 **	15,000 **	30,000 **	50,000 **	27,500	25,000 *	16,500
	(1;220,000)	(2;100,000)	(5;250,000)	(3;120,000)	(5;500,000)	(1;100,000)	(1;300,000)	(15;75000)	(4;575000)	(500;22000,000)	(500;100,000)
Firewood (N = 1723)											
Volume, m ³	1000	100 **	100 **	60 **	60 **	4 **	100 **	100 **	1000 *	1000 *	1000 **
	(1;7000)	(1;2000)	(1;2000)	(4;44563)	(1;2000)	(1;150,000)	(1;10,000)	(6;80,000)	(8;10,000)	(20;145000)	(5;86000)
Income, ×1000 NAD	500	50 **	50 **	30 **	30 **	2 **	50 **	500 **	500 *	500 *	500 **
	(0.4;3500)	(5;1000)	(5;3500)	(2;22,282)	(1;1000)	(1;75000	(5;5000)	(3;40,000)	(4;5000)	(10;72,500)	(3;43,000)
Droppers (N = 190)											
Volume, m ³	40	14,000	120,000 **	50	81	300,000 **	120	100	100,000 *	100,000 **	175,000 **
	(3;240,000)	(60,000;200,000)	(30;340,000)	(10;150)	(1;600,000)	(1;334,000)	(50;100,000)	(30;200)	(80,000;250,000)	(90,000;200,000)	(2000;500,000)
Income, ×1000 NAD	3	9460	8108 **	3	6	20270 **	8	7	6757 *	6757 **	11824 **
	(0.2;16,216)	(4054;13,5135)	(1;22,973)	(1;10)	(0.1;40,541)	(0.1;22,566)	(3;6757)	(2;15.5)	(5405;16,892)	(1351;60,811)	(135;33,784)
Rafters and Roots											
Volume, m ³	100500	80,000	100,000	80,010	80,000	80,000	99,000	75,000	90,000	70,000	40,000
	(1000;200,000)	(24,000;380,000)	(1000;400,000)	(20;160,000)	(25000;110,000)	(6;150,000)	(2;1900,000)	(2000;200,000)	(40,000;840,000)	(1000;200,000)	(1000;250,000)
Income, ×1000 NAD	6965	5405	6757	5410	5405	6689	5068	6081	5070	4230	2703
	(417;13,514)	(1622;25,676)	(417;27,027)	(1689;7432)	(3;10,135)	(1;128,378)	(676;13,514)	(2703;56,757)	(677;13,513)	(417;135,135)	(68;16,892)

¹ Volume and income were presented as median (min, max), Group comparisons were analyzed using the Kruskal–Wallis test, continued by the Bonferroni test for pairwise comparison with the referral year (2021). Income was calculated as volume/piece (in m^3) × market price of wood product (NAD)/piece (in m^3). * = significant level at *p* < 0.05 with the referral year (2021); ** = significant level at *p* < 0.001 with the referral year (2021).

References

- Egoh, B.N.; O'Farrell, P.J.; Charef, A.; Josephine Gurney, L.; Koellner, T.; Nibam Abi, H.; Egoh, M.; Willemen, L. An African Account of Ecosystem Service Provision: Use, Threats and Policy Options for Sustainable Livelihoods. *Ecosyst. Serv.* 2012, 2, 71–81. [CrossRef]
- Naidoo, S.; Davis, C.; Archer van Garderen, E. Forests, Rangelands and Climate Change in Southern Africa; Forests and Climate Change Working Paper No. 12; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 2013; Available online: https://www.uncclearn.org/wp-content/uploads/library/fao190.pdf (accessed on 23 April 2022).
- Ryan, C.M.; Pritchard, R.; McNicol, I.; Owen, M.; Fisher, J.A.; Lehmann, C. Ecosystem Services from Southern African Woodlands and Their Future under Global Change. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 2016, 371, 20150312. [CrossRef]
- 4. De Cauwer, V.; Knox, N.; Kobue-Lekalake, R.; Lepetu, J.P.; Ompelege, M.; Naidoo, S.; Nott, A.; Parduhn, D.; Sichone, P.; Tshwenyane, S.; et al. Woodland Resources and Management in Southern Africa. *Biodivers. Ecol.* **2018**, *6*, 296–308. [CrossRef]
- Langat, D.K.; Maranga, E.K.; Aboud, A.A.; Cheboiwo, J.K. Role of Forest Resources to Local Livelihoods: The Case of East Mau Forest Ecosystem, Kenya. Int. J. For. Res. 2016, 2016, 1–10. [CrossRef]
- Scholes, R.; Engelbrecht, F. Climate Impacts in Southern Africa during the 21st Century; Report for the Centre for Environmental Rights; Global Change Institute at University of the Witwatersrand: Johannesburg, South Africa, 2021; Available online: http://climatecasechart.com/climate-change-litigation/wp-content/uploads/sites/16/non-us-case-documents/2021 /20210901_Case-No.-5690721_na.pdf (accessed on 29 January 2023).
- Rohde, R.F.; Hoffman, M.T.; Durbach, I.; Venter, Z.; Jack, S. Vegetation and Climate Change in the Pro-Namib and Namib Desert Based on Repeat Photography: Insights into Climate Trends. J. Arid Environ. 2019, 165, 119–131. [CrossRef]
- Thompson, H.E.; Berrang-Ford, L.; Ford, J.D. Climate Change and Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Literature Review. Sustainability 2010, 2, 2719–2733. [CrossRef]
- 9. Tucker, J.; Daoud, M.; Oates, N.; Few, R.; Conway, D.; Mtisi, S.; Matheson, S. Social Vulnerability in Three High-Poverty Climate Change Hot Spots: What Does the Climate Change Literature Tell Us? *Reg. Environ. Change* **2015**, *15*, 783–800. [CrossRef]
- 10. Baarsch, F.; Granadillos, J.R.; Hare, W.; Knaus, M.; Krapp, M.; Schaeffer, M.; Lotze-Campen, H. The Impact of Climate Change on Incomes and Convergence in Africa. *World Dev.* **2020**, *126*, 104699. [CrossRef]
- Rippke, U.; Ramirez-Villegas, J.; Jarvis, A.; Vermeulen, S.J.; Parker, L.; Mer, F.; Diekkrüger, B.; Challinor, A.J.; Howden, M. Timescales of Transformational Climate Change Adaptation in Sub-Saharan African Agriculture. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 2016, 6, 605–609. [CrossRef]
- 12. Masipa, T.S. The Impact of Climate Change on Food Security in South Africa: Current Realities and Challenges Ahead. Jàmbá J. Disaster Risk Stud. 2017, 9, 411. [CrossRef]
- 13. Keja-Kaereho, C.; Tjizu, B.R. Climate Change and Global Warming in Namibia: Environmental Disasters vs. Human Life and the Economy. *Manag. Econ. Res. J.* 2019, *5*, 1. [CrossRef]
- Archer, E.R.; Tadross, M.A. Climate Change and Desertification in South Africa—Science and Response. *Afr. J. Range Forage Sci.* 2009, 26, 127–131. [CrossRef]
- 15. IPCC. Climate Changes and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems; Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Anatolia, Turkey, 2019; Available online: https://www.ipcc.ch (accessed on 23 April 2022).
- 16. Mayr, M.J.; Vanselow, K.A.; Samimi, C. Fire Regimes at the Arid Fringe: A 16-Year Remote Sensing Perspective (2000–2016) on the Controls of Fire Activity in Namibia from Spatial Predictive Models. *Ecol. Indic.* **2018**, *91*, 324–337. [CrossRef]
- 17. Awala, S.K.; Hove, K.; Wanga, M.A.; Valombola, J.S.; Mwandemele, O.D. Rainfall Trend and Variability in Semi-Arid Northern Namibia: Implications for Smallholder Agricultural Production. *Welwitschia Int. J. Agric. Sci.* 2019, 1, 21.
- Mupambwa, H.A.; Hausiku, M.K.; Nciizah, A.D.; Dube, E. The Unique Namib Desert-Coastal Region and Its Opportunities for Climate Smart Agriculture: A Review. *Cogent Food Agric.* 2019, 5, 1645258. [CrossRef]
- 19. Shikangalah, R.N. The 2019 Drought in Namibia: An Overview. J. Namib. Stud. 2020, 27, 37–58.
- Liu, X.; Zhou, J. Assessment of the Continuous Extreme Drought Events in Namibia during the Last Decade. Water 2021, 13, 2942. [CrossRef]
- 21. Van Rensburg, P.; Tortajada, C. An Assessment of the 2015–2017 Drought in Windhoek. Front. Clim. 2021, 3, 602962. [CrossRef]
- Crawford, A.; Terton, A. Review of Current and Planned Adaptation Action in Namibia; International Development Research Centre CARIAA Working Paper no. 12; International Development Research Centre: Ottawa, ON, Canada; UK Aid: London, UK, 2016; ISSN 2292-6798.
- 23. Heita, J. *Assessing the Evidence: Migration, Environment and Climate Change in Namibia;* International Organization for Migration (IOM): Geneva, Switzerland, 2018.
- 24. Kapuka, A.; Hlásny, T. Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards in Namibia: A District-Based Analysis. *Sustainability* **2020**, *12*, 4910. [CrossRef]
- Reid, H.; SAHLéN, L.; Stage, J.; Macgregor, J. Climate Change Impacts on Namibia's Natural Resources and Economy. *Clim. Policy* 2008, *8*, 452–466. [CrossRef]
- 26. Guo, M.; Ma, S.; Wang, L.-J.; Lin, C. Impacts of Future Climate Change and Different Management Scenarios on Water-Related Ecosystem Services: A Case Study in the Jianghuai Ecological Economic Zone, China. *Ecol. Indic.* **2021**, 127, 107732. [CrossRef]

- 27. Ministry of Environment and Tourism. *Namibia Second National Communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change*; Ministry of Environment and Tourism: Windhoek, Namibia, 2011.
- Daron, J.D. Regional Climate Messages: Southern Africa; Scientific report from the CARIAA Adaptation at Scale in Semi-Arid Regions (ASSAR) Project; University of Cape Town: Rondebosch, South Africa, 2014; Available online: http://www.uct.ac.za/ (accessed on 25 April 2022).
- 29. Lu, X.; Wang, L.; Pan, M.; Kaseke, K.F.; Li, B. A Multi-Scale Analysis of Namibian Rainfall over the Recent Decade–Comparing TMPA Satellite Estimates and Ground Observations. *J. Hydrol. Reg. Stud.* **2016**, *8*, 59–68. [CrossRef]
- 30. Kapuka, A.; Hlásny, T. Climate Change Impacts on Ecosystems and Adaptation Options in Nine Countries in Southern Africa: What Do We Know? *Ecosphere* 2021, 12, e03860. [CrossRef]
- 31. Kapuka, A.; Hlásny, T.; Helmschrot, J. Climate Change Research in Southern Africa in Recent Two Decades: Progress, Needs, and Policy Implications. *Reg. Environ. Change* **2022**, *22*, 18. [CrossRef]
- 32. Makhado, R.A.; Mapaure, I.; Potgieter, M.J.; Luus-Powell, W.J.; Saidi, A.T. Factors Influencing the Adaptation and Distribution of *Colophospermum mopane* in Southern Africa's Mopane Savannas–A Review. *Bothalia* **2014**, 44, 1–9. [CrossRef]
- Teshirogi, K.; Yamashina, C.; Fujioka, Y. Variations in Mopane Vegetation and Its Use by Local People: Comparison of Four Sites in Northern Namibia. *Afr. Study Monogr.* 2017, 38, 5–25. [CrossRef]
- 34. Potgieter, M. Morphometric Data of *Colophospermum mopane* Leaves in the Limpopo Province of South Africa. *Data Brief* **2020**, *31*, 106002. [CrossRef]
- 35. De Boniface, J.; Szulkin, R.; Johansson, A.L.V. Survival After Breast Conservation vs Mastectomy Adjusted for Comorbidity and Socioeconomic Status: A Swedish National 6-Year Follow-up of 48 986 Women. *JAMA Surg.* 2021, 156, 628. [CrossRef]
- Maponga, T.S.; Ndagurwa HG, T.; Muvengwi, J.; Sebele, L.; Nzuma, T.M. The Influence of African Elephants on Litter and Soil Nitrogen Attributes in Mopane Woodland in Hwange National Park, Northwest Zimbabwe. J. Arid Environ. 2022, 204, 104790. [CrossRef]
- 37. De Cauwer, V.; Geldenhuys, C.J.; Aerts, R.; Kabajani, M.; Muys, B. Patterns of Forest Composition and Their Long Term Environmental Drivers in the Tropical Dry Forest Transition Zone of Southern Africa. *For. Ecosyst.* **2016**, *3*, 23. [CrossRef]
- 38. Jenkins, M.; Schaap, B. Background Analytical Study 1. In Forest Ecosystem Services; UN: New York, NY, USA, 2018; pp. 5–9.
- Simataa, A.; Simataa, E. Namibian Multilingualism and Sustainable Development. JULACE J. Univ. Namib. Lang. Cent. 2017, 2, 26–37.
- 40. Krug, J.H.A. Adaptation of *Colophospermum mopane* to Extra-Seasonal Drought Conditions: Site-Vegetation Relations in Dry-Deciduous Forests of Zambezi Region (Namibia). *For. Ecosyst.* **2017**, *4*, 25. [CrossRef]
- 41. Olson, D.M.; Dinerstein, E.; Wikramanayake, E.D.; Burgess, N.D.; Powell GV, N.; Underwood, E.C.; D'amico, J.A.; Itoua, I.; Strand, H.E.; Morrison, J.C.; et al. Terrestrial Ecoregions of the World: A New Map of Life on Earth. *BioScience* 2001, *51*, 933. [CrossRef]
- 42. Vrabcová, P.; Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M. Utilization of Forest Resources and Socio-Economic Development in Uukolonkadhi Community Forest of Namibia. *Acta Univ. Agric. Silvic. Mendel. Brun.* **2019**, *67*, 197–206. [CrossRef]
- 43. Spear, D.; Chappel, A. Livelihoods on the Edge without a Safety Net: The Case of Smallholder Crop Farming in North-Central Namibia. *Land* **2018**, *7*, 79. [CrossRef]
- 44. Lal, P.; Alavalapati, J.R.R.; Mercer, E.D. Socio-Economic Impacts of Climate Change on Rural United States. *Mitig. Adapt. Strateg. Glob. Chang.* 2011, 16, 819–844. [CrossRef]
- Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M. Namibia's National Forest Policy on Rural Development–A Case Study of Uukolonkadhi Community Forest. Agric. Trop. Subtrop. 2015, 48, 11–17. [CrossRef]
- 46. ORC. Profile of Omusati Region. Outapi: Omusati Regional Council; Omusati Regional Council: Outapi, Namibia, 2010.
- 47. Kunene Regional Council. *Kunene Regional Development Profile* 2015; The Ultimate Frontier; Kunene Regional Council: Opuwo, Namibia, 2015.
- 48. Haukongo, C. An Assessment of Determinants of Adaptive Capacity of Livestock Farmers to Climate Change in Omusati Region, a Case of Onesi Constituency; University of Namibia: Windhoek, Namibia, 2017; p. 8.
- 49. Hansen, M.C.; Potapov, P.V.; Moore, R.; Hancher, M.; Turubanova, S.A.; Tyukavina, A.; Thau, D.; Stehman, S.V.; Goetz, S.J.; Loveland, T.R.; et al. High-Resolution Global Maps of 21st-Century Forest Cover Change. *Science* **2013**, *342*, 850–853. [CrossRef]
- 50. World Bank Group. Climate Risk Country Profile: Namibia; World Bank Group: Washington, DC, USA, 2021.
- 51. Inman, E.N.; Hobbs, R.J.; Tsvuura, Z. No Safety Net in the Face of Climate Change: The Case of Pastoralists in Kunene Region, Namibia. *PLoS ONE* **2020**, *15*, e0238982. [CrossRef]
- 52. Integrated Environmental Consultants Namibia (IECN). Let's Act to Adapt: Dealing with Climate Change-A Community Information Toolkit on Adaptation-A Resource Package Developed for Farmers and Natural Resource Users in the Kunene Region; IECN: Opuwo, Namibia, 2011.
- 53. Palgrave, K.C. Trees of Southern Africa; Struik Publishers: Cape Town, South Africa, 2002.
- Mapaure, I.; Ndeinoma, A. Impacts of Local-Level Utilization Pressure on the Structure of Mopane Woodlands in Omusati Region, Northern Namibia. Afr. J. Plant Sci. 2011, 5, 305–313.
- 55. Madzibane, J.; Potgieter, M.J. Uses of *Colophospermum mopane* (Leguminosae: Caesalpinioideae) by the Vhavenda. *South Afr. J. Bot.* **1999**, *65*, 440–444. [CrossRef]
- 56. Hainduwa, F.N.; Ham, C.; Meincken, M. Impact of Fuelwood Quality and Quantity on the Energy Use of Rural Households in the Omusati Region, North-Central Namibia. *South. For. J. For. Sci.* 2016, *78*, 299–306. [CrossRef]

- 57. Ngheendekwa, S. Contribution of Non-Timber Forest Products to Household Income and Food Security of Inhabitants of Sachona and Zilitene Community Forests, Namibia. Unpublished. Master's Thesis, Sokoine University of Agriculture, Mogoro, Tanzania, 2019.
- 58. Kirilenko, A.P.; Sedjo, R.A. Climate Change Impacts on Forestry. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2007, 104, 19697–19702. [CrossRef]
- 59. Medlyn, B.E.; Duursma, R.A.; Zeppel, M.J.B. Forest Productivity under Climate Change: A Checklist for Evaluating Model Studies. *WIREs Clim. Chang.* 2011, 2, 332–355. [CrossRef]
- 60. Boucher, D.; Gauthier, S.; Thiffault, N.; Marchand, W.; Girardin, M.; Urli, M. How Climate Change Might Affect Tree Regeneration Following Fire at Northern Latitudes: A Review. *New For.* **2020**, *51*, 543–571. [CrossRef]
- 61. Nunes, L.J.R.; Meireles, C.I.R.; Gomes, C.J.P.; Ribeiro, N.M.C.A. The Impact of Climate Change on Forest Development: A Sustainable Approach to Management Models Applied to Mediterranean-Type Climate Regions. *Plants* **2021**, *11*, 69. [CrossRef]
- 62. Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M. Implementing Local Climate Change Adaptation Actions: The Role of Various Policy Instruments in Mopane (*Colophospermum mopane*) Woodlands, Northern Namibia. *Forests* **2022**, *13*, 1682. [CrossRef]
- 63. Lindgren, S. Sustainability Education For Namibian Youth to Advance Efficient Cookstoves And Energy Development. *J. Sustain. Dev.* **2021**, 24, 1–12.
- 64. Petrie, M.D.; Bradford, J.B.; Hubbard, R.M.; Lauenroth, W.K.; Andrews, C.M.; Schlaepfer, D.R. Climate Change May Restrict Dryland Forest Regeneration in the 21st Century. *Ecology* 2017, *98*, 1548–1559. [CrossRef]
- 65. Abanikannda, J.O.; Dantani, A. Fuel Wood Exploitation and Sustainable Forest Management. J. Appl. Sci. Environ. Manag. 2021, 25, 987–993. [CrossRef]
- 66. Munyayi, R. Forests, Rangelands and Climate Change in Namibia; Hanns Seidel Foundation Namibia: Windhoek, Namibia, 2015.
- 67. Moosmann, C. Successful Initiatives in Developing Countries in the Field of Wood Energy Development; Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH in cooperation with Global Bioenergy Partnership (GBEP): Rome, Italy, 2016; Available online: https://www.ieabioenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/P08-Successful-initiatives-in-developing-countries-in-the-field-of-wood-energy-development-Moosman.pdf (accessed on 23 April 2022).
- 68. Shackleton, C.; Sinasson, G.; Adeyemi, O.; Martins, V. Fuelwood in South Africa Revisited: Widespread Use in a Policy Vacuum. *Sustainability* **2022**, *14*, 11018. [CrossRef]
- 69. Shaheen, H.; Azad, B.; Mushtaq, A.; Ahmad Khan, R.W. Fuelwood Consumption Pattern and Its Impact on Forest Structure in Kashmir Himalayas. *Bosque Valdivia* **2016**, *37*, 419–424. [CrossRef]
- 70. Nikodemus, A.; Hájek, M.; Ndeinoma, A.; Purwestri, R.C. Forest Ecosystem Services-Based Adaptation Actions Supported by the National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia: Effectiveness, Indicators, and Challenges. *Forests* **2022**, *13*, 1965. [CrossRef]
- European Commission; Directorate General for Environment, University of the West of England (UWE), Science Communication Unit. Science for Environment Policy: European Forests for Biodiversity, Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation; Publications Office: Bistol, UK, 2021.
- 72. Vásquez-Grandón, A.; Donoso, P.; Gerding, V. Forest Degradation: When Is a Forest Degraded? Forests 2018, 9, 726. [CrossRef]
- 73. Duguma, L.; Atela, J.; Minang, P.; Ayana, A.; Gizachew, B.; Nzyoka, J.; Bernard, F. Deforestation and Forest Degradation as an Environmental Behavior: Unpacking Realities Shaping Community Actions. *Land* **2019**, *8*, 26. [CrossRef]
- 74. IPCC. Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability; Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 12th Session of Working Group II and 55th Session of the IPCC; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2022; (in press).
- 75. Nangolo, B.; Alweendo, N. *Agriculture in Namibia: An Overview;* IPPR: Windhoek, Namibia, 2020; Available online: http://www.ippr.org.na (accessed on 23 April 2022).
- 76. FAO. *Impacts of Climate Change on the Forestry Sector in Africa*; FAO Regional Office for Africa: Accra, Ghana, 2021; Available online: http://www.fao.org/africa (accessed on 28 April 2022).

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.

CHAPTER FOUR

DISCUSSION OF THE FINDINGS

This chapter discusses the study findings divided into two sections, namely forest products and policy instruments. The discussions compare the results with the relevant literature. While the research focused on Namibia, some of the findings may be relevant to other regions with similar conditions.

4.1 Socio-economic Benefits Provided by Forest Ecosystems in Northern Namibia

The main hypothesis of this study assumed that forest ecosystems still provide socioeconomic benefits to sustain local community livelihoods in a changing climate during the study period in northern Namibia. This hypothesis was based on the evidence from research worldwide that confirms that forest ecosystems sustain the livelihoods of local rural communities that depend on forest resources (del Río et al., 2021; Ding and Nunes, 2014; Nikodemus and Hájek, 2015). The results of the current study proved that the assumption (hypothesis) about the continuous utilization of forest products at the rural communities' level in a changing climate is evident in northern Namibia.

Additionally, the current findings coincide with literature highlighting that forest resources continue to play a vital role in rural communities in developing countries by providing services, products, and incomes (Wale et al., 2022b). As a result, the socio-economic benefits of forests have attracted research in recent years due to the changing climate (Dalu et al., 2021; Shackleton and Shackleton, 2004; Wale et al., 2022a). As highlighted earlier, this study investigated the socio-economic benefits of forest ecosystems by focusing on the products of *C. mopane* in a changing climate in rural communities in northern Namibia.

The southern African region has an average forest cover of 32%, with most tropical forests (De Cauwer et al., 2018). Approximately 70% of the sub-Saharan population lives in rural areas, of which more than 90% of households depend on natural forest products to sustain their livelihoods (Dalu et al., 2021). Therefore, it is a fact that forest resources provide numerous benefits to rural communities and society at large in many ways in the region (Shackleton et al., 2022).

The dependence of local rural communities on forests is not a recent discovery. Literature affirms that most local rural people in developing countries have been immensely dependent on forests for centuries (Garekae et al., 2020). The dependency on forests of rural communities is

generally associated with poverty. Profoundly, poverty is about the relationship between resources and needs (Leichenko and Silva, 2014). However, the dependency of local rural communities on forests is worrisome because the southern African region is also highly vulnerable to the effects of climate change (Tucker et al., 2015).

Despite its arid conditions, Namibia is among the southern African countries, with most of the local rural communities dependent on forests for their livelihoods (Nikodemus and Hájek, 2015; Vrabcová et al., 2019). It is generally considered the driest country in Sub-Saharan Africa (Ministry of Environment and Tourism, 2010; Shikangalah, 2020; World Bank Group, 2021). Its forests only comprise 2% of the total forests in the Southern African Development Community (SADC) (Kayambazinthu and Oeba, 2019). As a result, its forest ecosystems are exposed to the impacts of climate change. In recent years, the country has witnessed various manifestations of climate change such as prolonged drought seasons, recurring floods, forest, and forest fires (Iijima et al., 2018).

Although the impacts of climate change are severe in rural communities where the dependence on forest resources is high (Inman et al., 2020), it is interesting that the results of this study proved that forest ecosystems are still vital in sustaining livelihoods for local communities. In addition, literature affirms that about 70% of the Namibian population depends directly on natural resources for their livelihoods (GIZ, 2011). Natural resources support livelihoods through farming, grazing land, medicinal plants, animal products, fuel, and shelter. Forests support local rural communities' livelihoods for various reasons. For example, local rural communities live close to forest ecosystems where forest resources are a primary source of food, energy, medicine, and wood for construction (Korir, 2019; Vrabcová et al., 2019).

Additionally, the results showed that local rural communities depend on forests for subsistence and commercial uses. However, in the case of the local rural communities in northern Namibia, the results showed that they mainly use forest products from *C. mopane* for subsistence use. In other words, rural communities mostly use forest products to sustain their households and families. However, local rural communities also generally generate some income from forest products, but on a small-scale basis (Nikodemus and Hájek, 2015; Vrabcová et al., 2019).

It is worth highlighting that the key factor contributing to the low commercialization of the forest products and wood industry is the poor status of the forest cover in Namibia (Nikodemus and Hájek, 2015). Forest and woodlands have a combined cover of approximately 20%, with

forests alone covering less than 10% of the country's total land area of about 823,680 km² (Mendelsohn and El Obeid, 2005). However, the status of forests and woodlands cover could have slightly declined due to the expansion of various land uses, including agriculture.

Although it is not documented from the research perspective, the wood industry is growing at a snail's pace. Therefore, the forestry sector does not contribute significantly to the national economy. Its contribution to the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) is estimated at approximately 3% (Barnes et al., 2010). However, recent statistics estimate that combined with agriculture, forestry's sector contribution collectively increased from 3.4% in 2016 to 4.6% in 2018 (Laubscher et al., 2019).

The study identified five main products: firewood, poles, droppers, rafters, and roots. The degree of the communities' reliance on forest products varies from product to product (Ali et al., 2020). In this study, firewood was the most significant forest product in northern Namibia's local communities. The high demand for firewood is attributed to the area being primarily rural, where most residents depend on firewood for lighting and heating (Munyayi, 2015; Vrabcová et al., 2019). This is because local rural communities, which make up about half of Namibia's population, lack electricity (Netshipise and Semenya, 2022).

The dominance of firewood in rural communities in northern Namibia is a renowned phenomenon (Hainduwa et al., 2016). The use of firewood is common in rural areas in developing countries. Existing research ascertains that roughly 2.3 billion people in developing countries will remain dependent on firewood for these purposes within the next decades (Scheid et al., 2018). In Sub-Saharan Africa, firewood is identified as a major source of cooking and heating energy for most rural households (Kayambazinthu and Oeba, 2019). The consumption of firewood consumption is associated with poverty in rural areas (Netshipise and Semenya, 2022). As a result, firewood is considered a viable energy option for many households in developing countries (Muazu et al., 2020). Conversely, the use of firewood has some negative ecological consequences. For example, firewood consumption contributes to CO₂ emissions (Paládi et al., 2014; Ram and Bahadur, 2020), the main greenhouse gas.

The results further identified that local rural communities use forest products mainly in the form of NTFPs. The most used products, such as fuelwood, poles, rafters, droppers, and mopane roots, are all NTPFs. It is worth pointing out that this is a common practice in most Sub-Saharan countries. Other research identified forests that are also classified as NTFPs, such as wooden utensils, edible fruits, grass hand-brushes, and twig hand-brushes, used by 85% or more of

households (Shackleton and Shackleton, 2004). NTFPs are often presented as a significant contributor to livelihoods, as sources of food and cash for rural communities in developing countries (Iponga et al., 2018).

It was further assumed that temperature and precipitation changes could affect the socioeconomic benefits of forest ecosystems in northern Namibia. The use of forest products from *C. mopane* is, however, threatened by the changing climate conditions in the area. The study identified increased temperatures and decreased precipitation in the mopane woodlands during 2011-2021. In this specific aspect, the study determined that total changes in annual mean temperature affected the annual mean precipitation over the study period.

Unfortunately, the concept of the impact of climate change on forest ecosystems is complicated and expensive to quantify (Boisvenue and Running, 2006). For example, several critical ecological effects must be considered to assess the potential impacts of climate change on forest ecosystems (Sohngen and Sedjo, 2005). However, the available literature establishes that the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events, such as droughts and floods, have increased in some regions, including most parts of Africa (IPCC, 2019). It is also predicted that the negative impacts of total temperature changes will affect forest ecosystems' productivity in the long run (Boisvenue and Running, 2006; Morin et al., 2018; Weslien et al., 2009).

In the case of Namibia, it is predicted that its climate will become warmer and drier for the rest of this century due to climate change (Munyayi, 2015). Consequently, floods, forest fires, droughts, windstorms, pests, and diseases will occur because of the changing climate. Thus, tree mortality and growth rates will be affected, affecting forest productivity and the livelihoods of local rural communities (Blanco et al., 2021; Gauli et al., 2022).

The results coincide with the existing literature that proves that forests are essential for the livelihoods of the local rural communities in the developing world. Literature affirms that more than half of Africa's population depends directly and indirectly on forests for their livelihoods (Somorin, 2010). Forest products, for example, firewood, roots, droppers, poles, wild berries, and mopane worms, are a significant component of the rural communities' livelihoods, especially for coping with climate variability and extreme weather events that affect agricultural productivity in some ways (Paumgarten and Shackleton, 2011).

Regarding the relationship between climate variability and the dependence of the local rural communities on forest resources, this study showed a significant increase in firewood production over the entire study period. These findings align with the identified climate patterns

(total temperature and precipitation changes). The changes in annual mean temperatures affect precipitation, resulting in erratic rainfall patterns, mainly severe floods and recurring droughts.

As pointed out (Paumgarten and Shackleton, 2011), local rural communities tend to resort to forest products as a survival mechanism due to the effects of climate change. The northern regions of Namibia are prone to severe floods and droughts. For example, in 2019, there was a severe drought (Liu and Zhou, 2021; Shikangalah, 2020). As a result, local rural communities did not cultivate crop fields, and their livestock barely survived. However, despite the pressure resulting from the impacts of climate change, it is critically vital to safeguard the utilization of forest resources because they are essential for both livelihoods and ecological purposes.

Therefore, it is worth highlighting that to sustain the utilization of forest products in a changing climate, a collection of effective adaptation and sustainable forest management approaches combined with effective legislation and policy instruments (Kapuka and Hlásny, 2021). Effective law enforcement is one strategy to harmonize adaptation and sustainably manage forest ecosystems to avoid illegal operations, such as unlawful harvesting.

4.2 Policy Instruments for Climate Change Adaptation in Forestry

Forest resources play a critical role in the livelihoods of local communities in developing countries. However, it should be acknowledged that climate change is the biggest threat faced by humanity and natural environments. Hence, mitigation and adaptation strategies dealing with climate change have been developed locally and nationally (Barry and Hoyne, 2021).

Therefore, the study's second hypothesis focused on implementing legislation and policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in forest ecosystems. It was assumed that the implementation of various local legislation and policy instruments for climate change is effective in promoting socio-economic benefits and adaptation actions in mopane woodlands.

The constitution of Namibia provides a coherent cross-sectoral approach in order to achieve climate change adaptation goals on the national level (England et al., 2018). It is worth noting that there are various environmental and climate change legislation and policy instruments in the constitution of Namibia (Ruppel and Ruppel-Schlichting, 2022).

However, the study focused on eight of the main cross-sectoral legislation and policy instruments that are directly integrated into the protection and conservation of forest ecosystems in Namibia. The policy instruments included in the study are NPCC, Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan, National Environmental Education and Education for Sustainable

Development Policy, Nature Conservation Ordinance No. 4 of 1975, the Communal Land Reform Act, Namibia National Forest Policy, Forestry Strategic Plan, and the Forest Act.

The results showed that most of the legislation and policy instruments proved effective in promoting climate change adaptation actions in forest ecosystems. The most effective legislation and policy instruments were the Communal Land Reform Act, the Forest Act, Namibia National Forest Policy, and Forestry Strategic Plan. The least effective policy instruments included the National Environmental Education and Education for Sustainable Development Policy, Namibia's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan, and the NPCC.

Although different legislation and policy instruments represent their respective sectors, they operate in coherency toward climate change adaptation. Since forests are an essential environmental feature, all policy instruments promote adaptation in forestry in one way or another. For example, the Communal Land Reform Act of the Ministry of Agriculture, Water, and Land Reform (MWARL) is crucial for determining land use in rural areas. Forestry and agricultural activities in rural communities of Namibia must comply with the Communal Land Reform Act. The Communal Land Reform Act determines rural forestry ownership (private, communal, and state). Therefore, it plays a significant role in climate change adaptation in the mopane woodlands. Local communities predominantly practice agriculture for subsistence purposes, which has led to desertification in the area. These and possibly more factors have influenced the effectiveness of forestry legislative activities in the mopane woodlands.

In addition to various collective policy instruments, the study investigated adaptation actions supported by the NPCC in forest ecosystems. The NPCC is the central force for climate change actions at the national level that provides an institutional framework and overarching national strategy for developing, implementing, monitoring, and evaluating climate change mitigation and adaptation activities in Namibia (Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism, 2021). Although it might be perceived as a new policy since it was enacted in 2011 (Ministry of Environment and Tourism, 2010), this current study showed that it improved adaptation actions notably.

The results showed that adaptation actions in forest ecosystem services such as biodiversity, carbon sequestration, soil conservation, and socio-economic benefits have been effective after the introduction of the NPCC. Biodiversity showed the most significant effect of all the ecosystem services after introducing the NPCC. Although the literature indicates that biodiversity is often neglected in policy formulation (Thompson et al., 2011), Namibia's natural

resources and biodiversity offer high potential for the country's socio-economic development (GIZ, 2011).

Prioritizing biodiversity productivity is crucial. Global analysis of biodiversity provides strong evidence that the productivity of forests would decrease at an alarming rate with biodiversity loss (Liang et al., 2016). Besides biodiversity, the results showed that carbon sequestration was also more significant after the NPCC. Based on this evidence, it is safe to conclude that the NPCC has effectively promoted adaptation actions in forest ecosystems. Afforestation, reforestation, awareness, and forestry research need strengthening to improve the effectiveness of the NPCC. Additionally, the study identified several approaches that require strengthening to maximize the potential of the NPCC. These approaches included afforestation, reforestation, awareness, and forestry research.

Implementing legislation and policy instruments for climate change adaptation in forest ecosystems of northern Namibia faces various challenges, ranging from natural conditions to legislation and human activities. One of the critical challenges is the natural conditions of Namibia's forest ecosystems. As pointed out earlier, natural conditions, arid and erratic conditions, particularly in the mopane woodlands (Mupambwa et al., 2019; Teshirogi et al., 2017), influence vegetation cover and, consequently, forest ecosystems in the area.

In this current study, a limited general understanding of climate change, its impacts, Namibia's dry conditions, and the lack of funds for adaptation measures were identified as significant challenges hampering the implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation in mopane woodlands. The most significant challenge was the lack of awareness, which affected various legislation and policy instruments in forest ecosystems. In the case of the NPCC, the same challenges were evident before and after introducing the policy.

Effective implementation of legislation and policy instruments requires collective efforts by cross-sectoral institutions (England et al., 2018). However, the study detected that implementing institutions and stakeholders seem reluctant to implement policy instruments, especially in less forested areas, such as mopane woodlands. Successful implementation of legislation and policy instruments will require involving local communities, which starts with awareness creation (Korir, 2019; Sibiya et al., 2022). However, the study revealed that awareness creation is one of the critical areas that need strengthening in the implementation of legislation and policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in forest ecosystems in northern Namibia.

CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The first part of this chapter concludes the entire research by summarizing and concluding the study findings. Secondly, several questions and issues arose and remain unresolved from the research objectives, knowledge generated, and the limitations of the approaches applied in this thesis. Therefore, the chapter also presents recommendations for the practical application of the findings and future research.

5.1 Conclusions

The contribution of forests to the livelihoods of rural communities in developing countries has a long history (Somorin, 2010). Southern Africa is one of the regions where most of the local rural communities use several different NTFPs to meet their everyday needs (Shackleton and Shackleton, 2004). However, there is no doubt that provisional forest ecosystem services face threats from climate change worldwide (Ochuodho and Lantz, 2014).

The first hypothesis was on the assumption that forest ecosystems continue to provide socioeconomic benefits to sustain local community livelihoods in northern Namibia despite a changing climate. Interestingly, this current study proves that mopane woodlands continue to support livelihoods for the rural communities in mopane woodlands in northern Namibia while contributing to biodiversity conservation with the help of various policy instruments. The results showed that local communities mainly harvested different NTFPs from *C. mopane* during the study period. The five main products from mopane woodlands included firewood and poles were the leading products, mainly for subsistence use. Like in other developing countries, firewood was identified as mopane woodlands' most used forest product.

The second hypothesis provided evidence that temperature and precipitation changes could potentially affect the socio-economic benefits of forest ecosystems in northern Namibia. The study identified annual mean changes in temperature and precipitation over the study period. However, the results indicated that although climate change affects forest ecosystems worldwide (Keenan, 2015), local rural communities can still sustain their livelihoods with forest resources. In the case of mopane woodlands, socio-economic benefits from mopane woodlands are possible for the next couple of decades despite the changing climate conditions.

Thirdly, the study hypothesized that local legislation and policy instruments could promote adaptation actions and socio-economic benefits in forest ecosystems. More specifically, the

study assumed that effective policy instruments could promote socio-economic benefits and adaptation actions in mopane woodlands in a changing climate. The study proved that most of the existing local cross-sectoral legislation and policy instruments were effective.

Forests are essential for biodiversity and socio-economic benefits. However, it is also important to pay attention to the issue of overharvesting. Overharvesting of forest products has been observed at the national level (Mbai et al., 2021). Due to the high demands of forest resources by local rural communities for multiple uses, it is crucial to ensure the effective implementation of policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions.

The study also noted that legislation and policy implementation in forest ecosystem services in a changing climate did not receive enough attention in research in southern Africa to this date. However, it is essential to note that this can be achieved through legislation, policy instruments, and sustainable forest management approaches to maintain socio-economic benefits from forests. Policy instruments are crucial in building resilience and adaptation to the impacts of climate change in these vulnerable communities. However, this subject did not receive sufficient attention from research in various regions, including southern Africa in the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia.

Although there are various policy instruments for adaptation to climate change, policymakers, implementation institutions, and stakeholders do not appear to feel the urgency for prioritizing policy instruments in the less forested mopane woodlands. However, it is essential to point out that this attitude is the critical driver of the lack of awareness of climate change and its adaptation legislation and policy instruments in rural areas. Due to the lack of understanding, adaptation actions for climate change in forest ecosystems might be challenging to maximize. At the same time, awareness of the values of forest ecosystems is of great importance for the quality of human life. This awareness should translate into social behavior using natural resources (Kornatowska and Sienkiewicz, 2018).

Overall, the current study achieved its aim in that the results proved that forest ecosystems remain viable in sustaining the livelihoods of the local rural communities in northern Namibia. In other words, the results imply that socio-economic benefits remain one of the primary provisional forest ecosystem services in a changing climate in northern Namibia. Secondly, various policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions, including the NPCC, play a significant role in protecting and conserving forest ecosystems in rural communities. However,

limited research, lack of funds, and lack of awareness are the main challenges hindering the implementation of policy instruments in forest ecosystems.

Finally, as a source of many goods and services, the forest should be valued from the perspective of its existence as natural capital and in terms of its contribution to socio-economic life (Kornatowska and Sienkiewicz, 2018). Therefore, the findings from this current research contribute to understanding the socio-economic benefits of mopane woodlands in a changing climate and the effectiveness of adaptation options through legislation and policy instruments. Hence, the study can be used to recommend enhancing sustainable management and utilization of forest-related products under the required climate change interventions.

5.2 Recommendations for Practical Applications of the Findings

Various legislation and policy instruments proved effective in climate change adaptation actions in forest ecosystems, specifically mopane woodlands. However, the study identified several areas that need improvements in forest management strategies, research, legislation and policy instruments, and the socio-economic benefits of forest ecosystems in a changing climate. Therefore, the study suggests the following improvements for practical applications.

Due to the increasingly changing climate, which exerts pressure on the dependence of local rural communities on forests, it is critically vital to monitor the utilization of forest resources sustainably due to their importance for both livelihoods and ecological purposes. Forest managers, climate change experts, local rural authorities, and relevant stakeholders must establish a forest products and climate database system to address this issue. Such a system can record data on the utilization of forest products, weather extremes, and climate data.

Furthermore, the current study noted that Namibia faces several complex environmental challenges, including land degradation, water scarcity and pollution, deforestation, biodiversity loss, and climate change (Ruppel and Ruppel-Schlichting, 2022). The continuous use of forest products identified in this study has positive and negative consequences. Hence, in collaboration with local communities, forest managers can draw insights from this study to redesign sustainable forest ecosystem management strategies.

Furthermore, the findings of this study can be helpful to ensure that forest ecosystems continue to provide socio-economic benefits for local communities in a changing climate without compromising biodiversity conservation. One recommended strategy is to develop a monitoring system to guide the utilization and commercialization of forest products at the local community level. Therefore, in collaboration with local communities, forest managers, climate

change experts, and relevant authorities should establish a robust database and reporting system to ensure the sustainable use of forest products in line with adaptation actions for climate change.

Regarding the implementation of legislation and policy instruments, policymakers and relevant stakeholders should emphasize multiple options for altering rural communities' reliance on forest resources for their livelihoods by improving their awareness of the impacts of climate change. Finally, there is also a need for awareness creation for local communities and multiple stakeholders in implementing policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in mopane woodlands. It is also essential to incorporate climate change topics in primary education to equip future generations with the necessary knowledge of climate change adaptation actions.

5.3 Recommendation for Future Research

The increasing importance of provisional services of forest ecosystems for local communities in a changing climate is increasing the attention of the academic world and policymakers (Bottaro et al., 2022). Although many studies have investigated this subject from the perspective of rural livelihoods and forests, there is little knowledge about the socio-economic benefits of mopane woodlands, especially considering the increasingly changing climate. Understanding this subject is crucial because there are often various dynamics in specific regions or communities (Dalu et al., 2021). Secondly, understanding this subject is also vital for formulating necessary responses to the increasingly changing climate.

However, since this is one of the pioneer studies about this subject, this study discovered that socio-economic benefits in forest ecosystems in a changing climate did not receive sufficient attention from research in various regions, including southern Africa, especially in the mopane woodlands in northern Namibia. Therefore, this study recommends the following research ideas:

Forest products are a significant component of rural communities' livelihoods, especially for coping with climate variability and extreme weather events that affect agricultural productivity in some ways (Paumgarten and Shackleton, 2011). Hence, the study proposes future studies to perform predictive analysis for extreme weather events, including forest fires, droughts, floods, and other climate-related hazards that affect goods and services provided by forest ecosystems in the northern regions and the entire country.

Furthermore, the study identified a research gap in implementing various legislation and policy instruments in forest ecosystems. To this date, legislation and policy instruments for climate change adaptation actions in forest ecosystems did not receive sufficient attention from a research point of view in Namibia. Therefore, the study suggests a need for research to evaluate climate change legislation and policy instruments' framework and their implementation strategies in the context of forest ecosystems, especially in rural communities in Namibia.

Finally, the study also identified a specific research gap regarding the implementation of the NPCC, which is the central force for climate change adaptation actions at the national level. To implement the NPCC successfully, it is essential that we fully understand the challenges and opportunities comprehensively. Therefore, this study proposes future research to perform a SWOT analysis of the NPCC and consequently design/propose its implementation framework in forest ecosystem services-based adaptation actions in rural communities.

REFERENCES

- Ahammad, R., Stacey, N., Sunderland, T.C.H., 2019. Use and perceived importance of forest ecosystem services in rural livelihoods of Chittagong Hill Tracts, Bangladesh. Ecosyst. Serv. 35, 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2018.11.009
- Ali, N., Hu, X., Hussain, J., 2020. The dependency of rural livelihood on forest resources in Northern Pakistan's Chaprote Valley. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 22, e01001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2020.e01001
- Anderson, R., 2014. Thematic Content Analysis (TCA): Descriptive Presentation of Qualitative Data. Inst. Transpers. Psychol.
- Awala, S.K., Hove, K., Wanga, M.A., Valombola, J.S., Mwandemele, O.D., 2019. Rainfall trend and variability in semi-arid northern Namibia: Implications for smallholder agricultural production 1, 21.
- Aznar-Sánchez, J., Belmonte-Ureña, L., López-Serrano, M., Velasco-Muñoz, J., 2018. Forest Ecosystem Services: An Analysis of Worldwide Research. Forests 9, 453. https://doi.org/10.3390/f9080453
- Baciu, G.E., Dobrotă, C.E., Apostol, E.N., 2021. Valuing Forest Ecosystem Services. Why Is an Integrative Approach Needed? Forests 12, 677. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12060677
- Bainbridge, H., 2012. Indigenous Use of Mopane (Colophospermum mopane) in Northwestern Namibia. Desert Plants 5.
- Barnes, J.I., MacGregor, J.J., Nhuleipo, O., Muteyauli, P.I., 2010. The value of Namibia's forest resources: Preliminary economic asset and flow accounts. Dev. South. Afr. 27, 159–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/03768351003740373
- Barry, D., Hoyne, S., 2021. Sustainable measurement indicators to assess impacts of climate change: Implications for the New Green Deal Era. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sci. Health 22, 100259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2021.100259
- Bhardwaj, P., 2019. Types of sampling in research. J. Pract. Cardiovasc. Sci. 5, 157. https://doi.org/10.4103/jpcs.jpcs_62_19
- Blanco, J.A., González de Andrés, E., Lo, Y.-H., 2021. Influence of Climate Change on Tree Growth and Forest Ecosystems: More Than Just Temperature. Forests 12, 630. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12050630
- Boisvenue, C., Running, S.W., 2006. Impacts of climate change on natural forest productivity - evidence since the middle of the 20th century: CLIMATE CHANGE IMPACTS ON FOREST VEGETATION. Glob. Change Biol. 12, 862–882. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01134.x
- Bottaro, G., Gatto, P., Pettenella, D., 2022. Assessing the Economic Impacts of Climate Change on Mountain Forests: A Literature Review, in: Tognetti, R., Smith, M., Panzacchi, P. (Eds.), Climate-Smart Forestry in Mountain Regions, Managing Forest Ecosystems. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 453–476. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80767-2_13
- Brauman, K.A., Daily, G.C., 2014. Ecosystem Services☆, in: Reference Module in Earth Systems and Environmental Sciences. Elsevier, p. B9780124095489094000. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.09453-7
- Chao, S., 2012. Forest People: Numbers across the World. Forest Peoples Program, Moretonin-Marsh, UK.
- Crawford, A., Terton, A., 2016. Review of current and planned adaptation action in Namibia. (International Development Research Centre No. CARIAA Working Paper no. 12.). Ottawa, Canada and UK Aid, London, United Kingdom.
- Dalu, M.T.B., Gunter, A.W., Makatu, M., Dowo, G.M., Dondofema, F., Dalu, T., 2021. Contribution of Natural Forest Products to Rural Livelihoods at Mavunde and

Sambandou Villages, Vhembe Biosphere Reserve, South Africa. Sustainability 13, 4252. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13084252

- Daron, J.D., 2014. Regional Climate Messages: Southern Africa (Scientific report from the CARIAA Adaptation at Scale in Semi-Arid Regions (ASSAR) Project). University of Cape Town, Rondebosch, South Africa.
- Dawadi, S., Shrestha, S., Giri, R.A., 2021. Mixed-Methods Research: A Discussion on its Types, Challenges, and Criticisms. J. Pract. Stud. Educ. 2, 25–36. https://doi.org/10.46809/jpse.v2i2.20
- De Cauwer, V., Geldenhuys, C.J., Aerts, R., Kabajani, M., Muys, B., 2016. Patterns of forest composition and their long term environmental drivers in the tropical dry forest transition zone of southern Africa. For. Ecosyst. 3, 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-016-0080-9
- De Cauwer, V., Knox, N., Kobue-Lekalake, R., Lepetu, J.P., Ompelege, M., Naidoo, S., Nott, A., Parduhn, D., Sichone, P., Tshwenyane, S., Elizabeth, Y., Revermann, R., 2018. Woodland resources and management in southern Africa. Biodivers. Ecol. 6, 296–308. https://doi.org/10.7809/b-e.00337
- de Oliveira, P., Antonio, J., 2009. The implementation of climate change related policies at the subnational level: An analysis of three countries. Habitat Int. 33, 253–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2008.10.006
- del Río, S., Canas, R., Cano, E., Cano-Ortiz, A., Musarella, C., Pinto-Gomes, C., Penas, A., 2021. Modelling the impacts of climate change on habitat suitability and vulnerability in deciduous forests in Spain. Ecol. Indic. 131, 108202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2021.108202
- Destatis, 2022. Namibia: Statistical Country Profile. Federal Statistical Office of Germany (Destatis).
- Dewaele, J.-M., 2018. Online Questionnaires, in: Phakiti, A., De Costa, P., Plonsky, L., Starfield, S. (Eds.), The Palgrave Handbook of Applied Linguistics Research Methodology. Palgrave Macmillan UK, London, pp. 269–286. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-59900-1_13
- Ding, H., Nunes, P.A.L.D., 2014. Modeling the links between biodiversity, ecosystem services and human wellbeing in the context of climate change: Results from an econometric analysis of the European forest ecosystems. Ecol. Econ. 97, 60–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2013.11.004
- Egoh, B.N., O'Farrell, P.J., Charef, A., Josephine Gurney, L., Koellner, T., Nibam Abi, H., Egoh, M., Willemen, L., 2012. An African account of ecosystem service provision: Use, threats and policy options for sustainable livelihoods. Ecosyst. Serv. 2, 71–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2012.09.004
- England, M.I., Dougill, A.J., Stringer, L.C., Vincent, K.E., Pardoe, J., Kalaba, F.K., Mkwambisi, D.D., Namaganda, E., Afionis, S., 2018. Climate change adaptation and cross-sectoral policy coherence in southern Africa. Reg. Environ. Change 18, 2059– 2071. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-018-1283-0
- Evans, J.R., Mathur, A., 2005. The value of online surveys. Internet Res. 15, 195–219. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662240510590360
- FAO, 2021. Impacts of Climate Change on the Forestry Sector in Africa. FAO Regional Office for Africa.
- Garekae, H., Lepetu, J., Thakadu, O.T., 2020. Forest resource utilisation and rural livelihoods: insights from Chobe enclave, Botswana. South Afr. Geogr. J. 102, 22–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/03736245.2019.1606730

- Gauli, A., Neupane, P.R., Mundhenk, P., Köhl, M., 2022. Effect of Climate Change on the Growth of Tree Species: Dendroclimatological Analysis. Forests 13, 496. https://doi.org/10.3390/f13040496
- Gebeyehu, M.N., 2019. Review on Effect of Climate Change on Forest Ecosystem. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Nat. Resour. 17. https://doi.org/10.19080/IJESNR.2019.17.555968
- Giess, W., 1986. A preliminary Vegetation Map of Namibia, 3rd Revised Edition. ed. Windhoek.
- GIZ, 2011. Biodiversity Management and Climate Change. Dtsch. Ges. Für Int. Zusammenarbeit GIZ GmbH.
- Gugushe, N., Grundy, I., Theron, F., Chirwa, P., 2008. Perceptions of forest resource use and management in two village communities in the Eastern Cape province, South Africa. South. For. J. For. Sci. 70, 247–254. https://doi.org/10.2989/SF.2008.70.3.8.669
- Hainduwa, F.N., Ham, C., Meincken, M., 2016. Impact of fuelwood quality and quantity on the energy use of rural households in the Omusati Region, north-central Namibia. South. For. J. For. Sci. 78, 299–306. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2016.1207134
- Hansen, M.C., Potapov, P.V., Moore, R., Hancher, M., Turubanova, S.A., Tyukavina, A., Thau, D., Stehman, S.V., Goetz, S.J., Loveland, T.R., Kommareddy, A., Egorov, A., Chini, L., Justice, C.O., Townshend, J.R.G., 2013. High-Resolution Global Maps of 21st-Century Forest Cover Change. Science 342, 850–853. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1244693
- Harris, L.R., Brown, G.T.L., 2010. Mixing interview and questionnaire methods: Practical problems in aligning data. Pract. Assess. Res. Eval. 15. https://doi.org/10.7275/959J-KY83
- Haukongo, C., 2017. An assessment of determinants of adaptive capacity of livestock farmers to climate change in Omusati region, a case of Onesi Constituency. Univ. Namib.
- Heita, J., 2018. Assessing the evidence: Migration, environment and climate change in Namibia. International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva 19, Switzerland.
- Iijima, M., Awala, S.K., Nanhapo, P.I., Wanga, A., Mwandemele, O.D., 2018. Development of Flood- and Drought-Adaptive Cropping Systems in Namibia, in: Kokubun, M., Asanuma, S. (Eds.), Crop Production under Stressful Conditions. Springer Singapore, Singapore, pp. 49–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7308-3_4
- Inman, E.N., Hobbs, R.J., Tsvuura, Z., 2020. No safety net in the face of climate change: The case of pastoralists in Kunene Region, Namibia. PLOS ONE 15, e0238982. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238982
- IPCC, 2019. Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Anatolia, Turkey.
- Iponga, D.M., Mikolo-Yobo, C., Lescuyer, G., Assoumou, F.M., Levang, P., Tieguhong, J.C., Ngoye, A., 2018. The contribution of NTFP-gathering to rural people's livelihoods around two timber concessions in Gabon. Agrofor. Syst. 92, 157–168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-016-0022-0
- Jenkins, M., Schaap, B., 2018. Background Analytical Study 1: Forest Ecosystem Services. For. Ecosyst. Serv.
- Kapuka, A., Hlásny, T., 2021. Climate change impacts on ecosystems and adaptation options in nine countries in southern Africa: What do we know? Ecosphere 12. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3860
- Kapuka, A., Hlásny, T., 2020. Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards in Namibia: A District-Based Analysis. Sustainability 12, 4910. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12124910

Kayambazinthu, D., Oeba, V.O., 2019. An overview of the development of the woodfuel industry in southern Africa: opportunities and challenge. Int. For. Rev. 21, 51–65.

- Keenan, R.J., 2015. Climate change impacts and adaptation in forest management: a review. Ann. For. Sci. 72, 145–167. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1007/s13595-014-0446-5
- Keja-Kaereho, C., Faculty of Economics and Management Sciences, University of Namibia, Windhoek, Namibia, Tjizu, B.R., Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences, University of Namibia, Windhoek, Namibia, 2019. Climate Change and Global Warming in Namibia: Environmental Disasters vs. Human Life and the Economy. Manag. Econ. Res. J. 5, 1. https://doi.org/10.18639/MERJ.2019.836535
- Kiger, M.E., Varpio, L., 2020. Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. Med. Teach. 42, 846–854. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2020.1755030
- Kirilenko, A.P., Sedjo, R.A., 2007. Climate change impacts on forestry. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104, 19697–19702. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0701424104
- Korir, J.C., 2019. Level of Awareness about Climate Change among the Pastoral Community. Environ. Ecol. Res. 7, 197–207. https://doi.org/10.13189/eer.2019.070401
- Kornatowska, B., Sienkiewicz, J., 2018. Forest ecosystem services assessment methods. Folia For. Pol. 60, 248–260. https://doi.org/10.2478/ffp-2018-0026
- Krug, J.H.A., 2017. Adaptation of Colophospermum mopane to extra-seasonal drought conditions: site-vegetation relations in dry-deciduous forests of Zambezi region (Namibia). For. Ecosyst. 4, 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-017-0112-0
- Kumar, H., Pandey, B.W., Anand, S., 2019. Analyzing the Impacts of forest Ecosystem Services on Livelihood Security and Sustainability: A Case Study of Jim Corbett National Park in Uttarakhand. Int. J. Geoheritage Parks 7, 45–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgeop.2019.05.003
- Kunene Regional Council, 2015. Kunene Regional Development Profile 2015. The Ultimate Frontier.
- Langat, D.K., Maranga, E.K., Aboud, A.A., Cheboiwo, J.K., 2016. Role of Forest Resources to Local Livelihoods: The Case of East Mau Forest Ecosystem, Kenya. Int. J. For. Res. 2016, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4537354
- Laubscher, K., Oosthuizen, H., Mbai, S., Idsardi, E., Uchezuba, D.E., Newborn, R., 2019. Competitive Analysis of the Namibian Meat Sector. Meat Board of Namibia, Windhoek.
- Leichenko, R., Silva, J.A., 2014. Climate change and poverty: vulnerability, impacts, and alleviation strategies. WIREs Clim. Change 5, 539–556. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.287
- Liagre, L., Tüfekcioglu, A., Donga, M., 2013. Forest ecosystems at the service of development and adaptation to climate change. Forest Ecosystem-based Adaptation. Case of the Seyhan watershed in Turkey. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.1298.8487
- Liang, J., Crowther, T.W., Picard, N., Wiser, S., Zhou, M., Alberti, G., Schulze, E.-D., McGuire, A.D., Bozzato, F., Pretzsch, H., de-Miguel, S., Paquette, A., Hérault, B., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Barrett, C.B., Glick, H.B., Hengeveld, G.M., Nabuurs, G.-J., Pfautsch, S., Viana, H., Vibrans, A.C., Ammer, C., Schall, P., Verbyla, D., Tchebakova, N., Fischer, M., Watson, J.V., Chen, H.Y.H., Lei, X., Schelhaas, M.-J., Lu, H., Gianelle, D., Parfenova, E.I., Salas, C., Lee, E., Lee, B., Kim, H.S., Bruelheide, H., Coomes, D.A., Piotto, D., Sunderland, T., Schmid, B., Gourlet-Fleury, S., Sonké, B., Tavani, R., Zhu, J., Brandl, S., Vayreda, J., Kitahara, F., Searle, E.B., Neldner, V.J., Ngugi, M.R., Baraloto, C., Frizzera, L., Bałazy, R., Oleksyn, J., Zawiła-Niedźwiecki, T., Bouriaud, O., Bussotti, F., Finér, L., Jaroszewicz, B., Jucker, T., Valladares, F., Jagodzinski, A.M., Peri, P.L., Gonmadje, C., Marthy, W., O'Brien, T., Martin, E.H., Marshall, A.R., Rovero, F., Bitariho, R., Niklaus, P.A., Alvarez-Loayza, P., Chamuya, N., Valencia, R.,

Mortier, F., Wortel, V., Engone-Obiang, N.L., Ferreira, L.V., Odeke, D.E., Vasquez, R.M., Lewis, S.L., Reich, P.B., 2016. Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354, aaf8957. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf8957

- Lindgren, S., 2021. Sustainability Education For Namibian Youth to Advance Efficient Cookstoves And Energy Development. J. Sustain. Dev.
- Liu, X., Zhou, J., 2021. Assessment of the Continuous Extreme Drought Events in Namibia during the Last Decade. Water 13, 2942. https://doi.org/10.3390/w13202942
- Lu, X., Wang, L., Pan, M., Kaseke, K.F., Li, B., 2016. A multi-scale analysis of Namibian rainfall over the recent decade – comparing TMPA satellite estimates and ground observations. J. Hydrol. Reg. Stud. 8, 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrh.2016.07.003
- Makhado, R.A., Mapaure, I., Potgieter, M.J., Luus-Powell, W.J., Saidi, A.T., 2014. Factors influencing the adaptation and distribution of *Colophospermum mopane* in southern Africa's mopane savannas A review. Bothalia 44. https://doi.org/10.4102/abc.v44i1.152
- Martínez Pastur, G., Perera, A.H., Peterson, U., Iverson, L.R., 2018. Ecosystem Services from Forest Landscapes: An Overview, in: Perera, A.H., Peterson, U., Pastur, G.M., Iverson, L.R. (Eds.), Ecosystem Services from Forest Landscapes. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74515-2_1
- Mbai, S., Noses, E.N., Bahta, Y.T., 2021. Export competitiveness of Namibia's timber sector: implication for forestry sector. For. IDEAS 27.
- Mendelsohn, J.M., El Obeid, S., 2005. Forests and woodlands of Namibia. RAISON, Windhoek.
- Mengist, W., Soromessa, T., 2019. Assessment of forest ecosystem service research trends and methodological approaches at global level: a meta-analysis. Environ. Syst. Res. 8, 22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40068-019-0150-4
- Ministry of Environment and Tourism, 2011. Namibia Second National Communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Ministry of Environment and Tourism, Windhoek.
- Ministry of Environment and Tourism, 2010. National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia.
- Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism, 2021. Republic of Namibia: First adaptation communication: Namibia's Climate Change Adaptation Communication to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism, Windhoek.
- Molina-Azorin, J.F., Tari, J.-J., Lopez-Gamero, M.D., Pereira-Moliner, J., Pertusa-Ortega, E.M., 2018. The Implementation and Advantages of Mixed Methods in Competitive Strategy and Management Systems. Int. J. Mult. Res. APPROACHES 10, 412–421. https://doi.org/10.29034/ijmra.v10n1a28
- Morin, X., Fahse, L., Jactel, H., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., García-Valdés, R., Bugmann, H., 2018. Long-term response of forest productivity to climate change is mostly driven by change in tree species composition. Sci. Rep. 8, 5627. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23763-y
- Muazu, N.B., Ogujiuba, K., Tukur, H.R., 2020. Biomass Energy Dependence in South Africa: Are the Western Cape Province households descending the energy ladder after improvement in electricity access? Energy Rep. 6, 207–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2020.11.267
- Munyayi, R., 2015. Forests, Rangelands and Climate Change in Namibia. Hanns Seidel Foundation Namibia, Windhoek Namibia.

- Mupambwa, H.A., Hausiku, M.K., Nciizah, A.D., Dube, E., 2019. The unique Namib desertcoastal region and its opportunities for climate smart agriculture: A review. Cogent Food Agric. 5, 1645258. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2019.1645258
- Naidoo, S., Davis, C., Archer van Garderen, E., 2013. Forests, Rangelands and Climate Change in Southern Africa (No. Forests and Climate Change Working Paper No. 12). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Nassaji, H., 2015. Qualitative and descriptive research: Data type versus data analysis. Lang. Teach. Res. 19, 129–132. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168815572747
- Nemoto, T., Beglar, D., 2014. Developing Likert-scale questionnaires., in: In N. Sonda & A. Krause (Eds.). JALT, Tokyo: JALT.
- Netshipise, L.F., Semenya, K., 2022. Evaluating factors influencing firewood consumption in households at the Thulamela Local Municipality, South Africa. J. Energy South. Afr. 33, 48–62. https://doi.org/10.17159/2413-3051/2022/v33i2a9741
- Ngheendekwa, S., 2019. Contribution of non-timber forest products to household income and food security of inhabitants of Sachona and Zilitene Community Forests, Namibia (Unpublished Master's thesis). Sokoine University of Agriculture, Mogoro, Tanzania.
- Nghogekeh, T.R., Loh, C.E., Chupezi, T.J., Mayiadieh, N.F., Mandiefe, P.S., Tieguhong, M.R., 2020. Non-timber forest products and climate change adaptation among forest-dependent communities in Bamboko forest reserve, southwest region of Cameroon (preprint). In Review. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-61744/v4
- Nikodemus, A., Abdollahnejad, A., Kapuka, A., Panagiotidis, D., Hájek, M., 2023. Socio-Economic Benefits of Colophospermum mopane in a Changing Climate in Northern Namibia. Forests 14, 290. https://doi.org/10.3390/f14020290
- Nikodemus, A., Hájek, M., 2022. Implementing Local Climate Change Adaptation Actions: The Role of Various Policy Instruments in Mopane (Colophospermum mopane) Woodlands, Northern Namibia. Forests 13, 1682. https://doi.org/10.3390/f13101682
- Nikodemus, A., Hájek, M., 2015. Namibia's National Forest Policy on Rural Development A Case Study of Uukolonkadhi Community Forest. Agric. Trop. Subtrop. 48, 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1515/ats-2015-0002
- Nikodemus, A., Hájek, M., Ndeinoma, A., Purwestri, R.C., 2022. Forest Ecosystem Services-Based Adaptation Actions Supported by the National Policy on Climate Change for Namibia: Effectiveness, Indicators, and Challenges. Forests 13, 1965. https://doi.org/10.3390/f13111965
- Nunes, L.J.R., Meireles, C.I.R., Gomes, C.J.P., Ribeiro, N.M.C.A., 2021. The Impact of Climate Change on Forest Development: A Sustainable Approach to Management Models Applied to Mediterranean-Type Climate Regions. Plants 11, 69. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants11010069
- Ochuodho, T.O., Lantz, V.A., 2014. Economic impacts of climate change in the forest sector: a comparison of single-region and multiregional CGE modeling frameworks. Can. J. For. Res. 44, 449–464. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2013-0317
- Olson, D.M., Dinerstein, E., Wikramanayake, E.D., Burgess, N.D., Powell, G.V.N., Underwood, E.C., D'amico, J.A., Itoua, I., Strand, H.E., Morrison, J.C., Loucks, C.J., Allnutt, T.F., Ricketts, T.H., Kura, Y., Lamoreux, J.F., Wettengel, W.W., Hedao, P., Kassem, K.R., 2001. Terrestrial Ecoregions of the World: A New Map of Life on Earth. BioScience 51, 933. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0933:TEOTWA]2.0.CO;2
- Onwuegbuzie, A., Collins, K., 2015. A Typology of Mixed Methods Sampling Designs in Social Science Research. Qual. Rep. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2007.1638
- ORC, 2010. Profile of Omusati Region. Outapi: Omusati Regional Council. Omusati Regional Council, Outapi.
- Paládi, M., Szabó, S., Megyeri-Runyó, A., Kerényi, A., 2014. Firewood consumption and CO2 emission of detached houses in rural environment, NE-Hungary. Carpathian J. Earth Environ. Sci. 9, 199–208.
- Palgrave, M.C., 2002. Keith Coates Palgrave Trees of Southern Africa. Struik Publ.
- Paumgarten, F., Shackleton, C.M., 2011. The role of non-timber forest products in household coping strategies in South Africa: the influence of household wealth and gender. Popul. Environ. 33, 108–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-011-0137-1
- Ram, P.T., Bahadur, R.H., 2020. Hourly Firewood Consumption Patterns and CO2 Emission Patterns in Rural Households of Nepal. Designs 4, 46. https://doi.org/10.3390/designs4040046
- Ramsfield, T.D., Bentz, B.J., Faccoli, M., Jactel, H., Brockerhoff, E.G., 2016. Forest health in a changing world: effects of globalization and climate change on forest insect and pathogen impacts. Forestry 89, 245–252. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpw018
- Reid, H., Sahlén, L., Stage, J., MacGregor, J., 2007. The economic impact of climate change in Namibia 54.
- Rillo, R.M., Alieto, E.O., 2018. Indirectness Markers in Korean and Persian English Essays: Implications for Teaching Writing to EFL Learners. J. Engl. Int. Lang.
- Rohde, R.F., Hoffman, M.T., Durbach, I., Venter, Z., Jack, S., 2019. Vegetation and climate change in the Pro-Namib and Namib Desert based on repeat photography: Insights into climate trends. J. Arid Environ. 165, 119–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2019.01.007
- Roopa, S., Rani, M., 2012. Questionnaire Designing for a Survey. J. Indian Orthod. Soc. 46, 273–277. https://doi.org/10.5005/jp-journals-10021-1104
- Ruppel, O.C., Ruppel-Schlichting, K. (Eds.), 2022. Environmental Law and Policy in Namibia: Towards Making Africa the Tree of Life. Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG. https://doi.org/10.5771/9783748933564
- Rustad, L., Campbell, J., Dukes, J.S., Huntington, T., Fallon Lambert, K., Mohan, J., Rodenhouse, Nicholas., 2012. Changing climate, changing forests: The impacts of climate change on forests of the northeastern United States and eastern Canada (No. NRS-GTR-99). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station, Newtown Square, PA. https://doi.org/10.2737/NRS-GTR-99
- Ryan, C.M., Pritchard, R., McNicol, I., Owen, M., Fisher, J.A., Lehmann, C., 2016. Ecosystem services from southern African woodlands and their future under global change. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 371, 20150312. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0312
- Scheid, A., Hafner, J., Hoffmann, H., Kächele, H., Sieber, S., Rybak, C., 2018. Fuelwood scarcity and its adaptation measures: an assessment of coping strategies applied by small-scale farmers in Dodoma region, Tanzania. Environ. Res. Lett. 13, 095004. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aadb27
- Scholes, R., Engelbrecht, F., 2021. Climate impacts in southern Africa during the 21st Century (Report for the Centre for Environmental Rights). Global Change Institute, University of the Witwatersrand.
- Shackleton, C., Shackleton, S., 2004. The importance of non-timber forest products in rural livelihood security and as safety nets: a review of evidence from South Africa. South Afr. J. Sci. 100.
- Shackleton, C., Sinasson, G., Adeyemi, O., Martins, V., 2022. Fuelwood in South Africa Revisited: Widespread Use in a Policy Vacuum. Sustainability 14, 11018. https://doi.org/10.3390/su141711018
- Shalumbu-Shivute, B., 2022. Namibia's Actions in Mitigating Climate Change. The Namibian.
- Shikangalah, R.N., 2020. The 2019 drought in Namibia: An overview. J. Namib. Stud. 27, 37–58.

- Sibiya, N., Sithole, M., Mudau, L., Simatele, M.D., 2022. Empowering the Voiceless: Securing the Participation of Marginalised Groups in Climate Change Governance in South Africa. Sustainability 14, 7111. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14127111
- Singh, C., Iyer, S., New, M.G., Few, R., Kuchimanchi, B., Segnon, A.C., Morchain, D., 2021. Interrogating 'effectiveness' in climate change adaptation: 11 guiding principles for adaptation research and practice. Clim. Dev. 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2021.1964937
- Sohngen, B., Sedjo, R., 2005. Impacts of climate change on forest product markets: Implications for North American producers. For. Chron. 81, 669–674. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc81669-5
- Somorin, O.A., 2010. Climate impacts, forest-dependent rural livelihoods and adaptation strategies in Africa: A review. Afr. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 4, 903–912. http://www.academicjournals.org/AJEST
- Soratto, J., Pires, D.E.P. de, Friese, S., 2020. Thematic content analysis using ATLAS.ti software: Potentialities for researchs in health. Rev. Bras. Enferm. 73, e20190250. https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-7167-2019-0250
- Spear, D., Chappel, A., 2018. Livelihoods on the Edge without a Safety Net: The Case of Smallholder Crop Farming in North-Central Namibia. Land 7, 79. https://doi.org/10.3390/land7030079
- Teshirogi, K., Yamshina, C., Fujioka, Y., 2017. Variations in Mopane Vegetation and its Use by Local People: Comparison of Four Sites in Northern Namibia. https://doi.org/10.14989/218898
- Thompson, H.E., Berrang-Ford, L., Ford, J.D., 2010. Climate Change and Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Literature Review. Sustainability 2, 2719–2733. https://doi.org/10.3390/su2082719
- Thompson, I.D., Okabe, K., Tylianakis, J.M., Kumar, P., Brockerhoff, E.G., Schellhorn, N.A., Parrotta, J.A., Nasi, R., 2011. Forest Biodiversity and the Delivery of Ecosystem Goods and Services: Translating Science into Policy. BioScience 61, 972–981. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2011.61.12.7
- Toochi, E.C., 2017. Forest and environment: developments in global change ecology. For. Res. Eng. Int. J. 1. https://doi.org/10.15406/freij.2017.01.00016
- Tucker, J., Daoud, M., Oates, N., Few, R., Conway, D., Mtisi, S., Matheson, S., 2015. Social vulnerability in three high-poverty climate change hot spots: What does the climate change literature tell us? Reg. Environ. Change 15, 783–800. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-014-0741-6
- Ulibarri, N., Ajibade, I., Galappaththi, E.K., Joe, E.T., Lesnikowski, A., Mach, K.J., Musah-Surugu, J.I., Nagle Alverio, G., Segnon, A.C., Siders, A.R., Sotnik, G., Campbell, D., Chalastani, V.I., Jagannathan, K., Khavhagali, V., Reckien, D., Shang, Y., Singh, C., Zommers, Z., The Global Adaptation Mapping Initiative Team, 2022. A global assessment of policy tools to support climate adaptation. Clim. Policy 22, 77–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2021.2002251

United Nations, 2015. Paris Agreement.

- Vrabcová, P., Nikodemus, A., Hájek, M., 2019. Utilization of Forest Resources and Socio-Economic Development in Uukolonkadhi Community Forest of Namibia. Acta Univ. Agric. Silvic. Mendel. Brun. 67, 197–206. https://doi.org/10.11118/actaun201967010197
- Wale, E., Nkoana, M.A., Mkuna, E., 2022a. Climate change-induced livelihood adaptive strategies and perceptions of forest-dependent communities: The case of Inanda, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Trees For. People 8, 100250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tfp.2022.100250

- Wale, E., Nkoana, M.A., Mkuna, E., 2022b. Determinants of rural household livelihood dependence on non-timber forest products: A case study from Inanda Community, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Front. For. Glob. Change 5, 788815. https://doi.org/10.3389/ffgc.2022.788815
- Weslien, J., Finér, L., Jónsson, J.Á., Koivusalo, H., Laurén, A., Ranius, T., Sigurdsson, B.D., 2009. Effects of increased forest productivity and warmer climates on carbon sequestration, run-off water quality and accumulation of dead wood in a boreal landscape: A modelling study. Scand. J. For. Res. 24, 333–347. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580903085171
- World Bank Group, 2021. Climate Risk Country Profile: Namibia. World Bank Group, Washington, DC 20433.
- Xiao-Ying, W., Chun-Yu, Z., Qing-Yu, J., 2013. Impacts of Climate Change on Forest Ecosystems in Northeast China. Adv. Clim. Change Res. 4, 230–241. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1248.2013.230
- Yazykova, S., Bruch, C., 2018. Incorporating Climate Change Adaptation Into Framework Environmental Laws. Environ. Law Inst. 48, 1–21.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Harvesting Permit Sample

			ST	R.		PERMI	TNUMBER	5183
			THE LOCAL	Long-				
MINI DIRECTO	STRY OF A RATE OF F	GRI	CULTU STRY, I FOREST	RE, WAT PRIVATI PERMIT	ER AN BAG	ND FO 13184,	RESTRY WINDH	OEK
TYPE OF	Harvesting		Transport		Ma	rketing	Export	
PERMIT:	Commercial Own		Commercial Own use		sc		Commercial Own	
Permission is b	ereby gronted	in ton	ms of the l	Forest Act	2001 74	of 12 of	2001) as as	use
Act no 13 of 20	005 to	an ten	ins or the l	orest Act,	2001 (A	12 01	2001) as al	neticed
Permit Holde	r Name:			Abio	han	L.Ko	SECON	
Namibian Id/	Passport:			.600	21.510	16.01	9	
Address:	e 1.50			.DQ19	1.12.10	B.hth.	TO MARK	Pitthe
Contact Telep	phone No:			Q&.11	2.14.1	the	Lung	
Name, Size, 1	No. of Farm:			filing.	and a	.0.7)	00d0	1.5.5
District:				-12Kell32				
Region.					in training			
CMA	pone		kaf ltis		·· ·· ··	3.00	Raft	t.x5
Loading Poin	t Address			Coar	nata	1000 -	Gircon	hug
Destination A	ddress			CRYGMILLINY - CASAN, Prog				
Transport Ag	ent/Vehicle Re	gistra	tion No	N 077237.0 W 0.755571 M				
)FFICIAL STA	AMP M	A R Ninistris Vator B Octor P 1 8 - (MOUNT I ECEIPT I ame of Iss gnature of lace and D lace and D	PAID: NUMBER: uing officer Jssuing off ate:	10 - 259 Lini Ger III	00 -4371 -1304 -1304 	t 9 Nghult turnings - 09 - 11	rnauds E
ii orricial stam	P Sub Rep	Statio	8, Outapl n Okahao f Namibia	1	Au	A		
		Sig	gnature of I	Permit Hold	er:,X			

Appendix B: Research Permit (NCRST)



Appendix C: Research Authorization Letter (DoF)



MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT, FORESTRY AND TOURISM

From: Johnson Ndokosho johnson.ndokosho@meft.gov.na P/Bag 13306, Whk 18 August 2022

APPROVAL FOR ETHICAL CLEARANCE FOR RESEARCH FOR ANDREAS NIKODEMUS

The Directorate of Forestry (DoF) of the Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism (MEFT) avails its compliments to your esteemed organization and would like to avail the following to your kind attention:

Andreas Nikodemus, employed by the MEFT and a 3rd year PhD student at the Czech University of Life Sciences Prague has chosen to undertake research that focuses on the topic:

"An analysis of the impact of climate change on forest ecosystem services: A special focus on the socio-economic benefits of *Colophospermum mopane* in north-central Namibia."

His study focuses on the following areas:

- 1. The impacts of climate change on forest ecosystem services;
- Economic instruments for climate change adaptation in the context of forest ecosystem services;
- Policy instruments for climate change adaptation in the context of forest ecosystem services;
- The impacts of climate change on the water crisis in the context of forest ecosystem services and
- The impacts of climate change on climate change and forest fires in the context of forest ecosystem services.

On behalf of DoF, I humbly request your offices to assist the bearer of this letter in enhancing his academic endeavours. I wish to assure you that the information/data provided from your offices will only be for academic purposes and for the improvements in the management of forest resources and in strict confidence as he will use statistical averages.

Thank you in advance for your cooperation.

Yours Faithfully,

Watstes

Johnson Ndokosho The Director of the Directorate of Forestry Ministry of Environment, Forestry, and Tourism Windhoek



Conference name	Presentation topic	Place/Host	Date
The 22 nd Annual Conference	Analysing the impacts of climate change on forest ecosystem	University of	19-20 November
Environmental Economics,	services: Effects on socio-economic benefits in the North-Western	Economics, Prague	2020
Policy, and International	Part of Namibia (Literary research and methodology)		
Environmental Relations	Authors: Andreas Nikodemus and Miroslav Hájek		
The 23 rd Annual Conference	Analysing the impacts of climate change on forest ecosystem	University of	25-26 November
Environmental Economics,	services: Effects on socio-economic benefits in the North-Central Part	Economics, Prague	2021
Policy and International	of Namibia (Revised Literary research and methodology)		
Environmental Relations	Authors: Andreas Nikodemus and Miroslav Hájek		
Meeting of economics	Funding mechanisms for climate change adaptation actions in the	Economic Departments	21-22 September
departments 2022	context of forest ecosystem services in Southern Africa (Article in	and Institutes of	2022.
	draft)	Forestry and Timber	
	Authors: Andreas Nikodemus, Diana Carolina Huertas Bernal, and	Faculties, Kostelec,	
	Miroslav Hájek	Czech Republic	
ELLS Scientific Student	Oral presentation/discussion – presented about my doctoral studies	Czech University of Life	23-24 September
Conference 2022	experience, Campfire session.	Sciences, Prague	2022
	Presenter/speaker: Andreas Nikodemus		
The XVIII Yearbook of the	Analysing the sustainability of production processes and design of	Brno, Czech Republic,	6 and 7 October
International Conference:	sustainable development indicators for activities supported within the	BV Administrative	2022
Accounting and Reporting for	framework of the forest bioeconomy of the European Union and	Building	
Sustainable Development	Southern Africa (Article in draft)		
	Authors: Andreas Nikodemus, Diana Carolina Huertas Bernal, and		
	Miroslav Hájek		
24 th International Conference	Implementing local climate change adaptation actions: The role of	Prague University of	24-25 November
on Environmental Economics,	various policy instruments in mopane (Colophospermum mopane)	Economics and Business	2022
Policy, and International	woodlands, northern Namibia (Published article)	and Charles University	
Environmental Relations	Authors: Andreas Nikodemus and Miroslav Hájek		

Appendix D: Scientific Conferences and Workshops

Appendix E: Foreign Internship Confirmation Letters



Department of Agriculture and Natural Resources Sciences

13 Jackson Kaujeua Street Private Bag 13388 Windhoek NAMIBIA

T: +264 61 207 2141 F: +264 61 207 9141 E: nra@nust.na W: www.nust.na

21-10-2021

SUBJECT: LETTER OF CONFIRMATION OF COMPLETION OF INTERNSHIP FOR MR ANDREAS NIKODEMUS

This letter serves to testify that the bearer of this document, Mr Nikodemus Andreas has been placed as an intern at the Department of Natural Resources Management of the Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources Management at the Namibia University of Science and Technology for four weeks (13 September – 08 October 2021).

During his term of placement at the Institution, Mr Nikodemus' line of responsibilities included assisting with lectures, fieldwork preparation, field data collection, compiling of fieldwork reports, and supervision of Bachelor of Honors students in the course Forest Management.

Mr Nikodemus is organized, reliable and hardworking. He can work independently and can follow through to ensure that the job gets done. He is flexible and willing to work on any project that is assigned to him. He was quick to volunteer to assist in other areas of the institution's operations.

If you have any enquiries concerning Mr Nikodemus' placement at our Institution, do not hesitate to contact me.

Faithfully yours,

Jonathan M. Kamwi, PhD Head of Department +26481 207 2568 E-mail: jkamwi@nust.na



Appendix F: Future Research Plan

Title	Target journal	Status
1. Unveiling the Impact of Climate Variability on Forest Fire Occurrence in Namibia: A	Fire Ecology - Springer	Under review
Modeling Study		
2. Funding mechanisms for climate change adaptation actions in forest ecosystem	Ecosystem Services	In progress
services of southern Africa		
3. Assessing water level and quality for forest restoration in response to climate change	Environmental Research	In progress
in mopane (Colophospermum mopane) woodlands in northern Namibia		
4. Adaptation actions of the National Climate Change Policy in forestry in Namibia:	Climate Policy	In draft
Challenges and opportunities		
5. Climate change, weather extremes and their impact on socio-economic benefits in the	Regional Environmental	Data collection (survey)
context of forestry in northern Namibia	change	
6. The influence of climate change on forest fire occurrences in northern Namibia: Impact	Frontiers in Forests	Data collection (survey)
on socio-economic impacts		
7. Local rural communities' participatory approach in climate change adaptation actions	Ecosystem Services	Data collection (survey)
in the context of forest ecosystems in northern Namibia		
8. Analysing the market values of <i>C. mopane</i> products at the local rural community level	Frontiers in Forests	Data collection (survey)
in changing climate in northern Namibia		
9. Assessing the attitude of local communities toward climate change adaptation actions	Environmental Research	2024/2025
in rural communities of Namibia		